



## https://helda.helsinki.fi

# Holographic BCFT spectra from brane mergers

# Biswas, Shovon

2022-11-29

Biswas, S, Kastikainen, JT, Shashi, S & Sully, J 2022, 'Holographic BCFT spectra from brane mergers ', Journal of High Energy Physics, vol. 2022, no. 11, 158. https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP11(2022)15

http://hdl.handle.net/10138/354973 https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP11(2022)158

cc\_by publishedVersion

Downloaded from Helda, University of Helsinki institutional repository. This is an electronic reprint of the original article. This reprint may differ from the original in pagination and typographic detail. Please cite the original version.

Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: October 3, 2022 REVISED: October 28, 2022 ACCEPTED: November 11, 2022 PUBLISHED: November 29, 2022

# Holographic BCFT spectra from brane mergers

Shovon Biswas,<sup>a</sup> Jani Kastikainen,<sup>b,c</sup> Sanjit Shashi<sup>d</sup> and James Sully<sup>a</sup>

ABSTRACT: We use holography to study the spectra of boundary conformal field theories (BCFTs). To do so, we consider a 2-dimensional Euclidean BCFT with two circular boundaries that correspond to dynamical end-of-the-world branes in 3-dimensional gravity. Interactions between these branes inform the operator content and the energy spectrum of the dual BCFT. As a proof of concept, we first consider two highly separated branes whose only interaction is taken to be mediated by a scalar field. The holographic computation of the scalar-mediated exchange reproduces a light scalar primary and its global descendants in the closed-string channel of the dual BCFT. We then consider a gravity model with point particles. Here, the interaction of two separated branes corresponds to a heavy operator which lies below the black hole threshold. However, we may also consider branes at finite separation that "merge" non-smoothly. Such brane mergers can be used to describe unitary sub-threshold boundary-condition-changing operators in the open-string spectrum of the BCFT. We also find a new class of sub-threshold Euclidean bra-ket wormhole saddles with a factorization puzzle for closed-string amplitudes.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Brane Dynamics in Gauge Theories, Scale and Conformal Symmetries

ARXIV EPRINT: 2209.11227



https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP11(2022)158



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of British Columbia, 6224 Agricultural Road, Vancouver, British Columbia V6T 1Z1, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Department of Physics, University of Helsinki,

P.O. Box 64, Helsinki FIN-00014, Finland

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Université Paris Cité, CNRS, Astroparticule et Cosmologie, F-75013 Paris, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Theory Group, Weinberg Institute, Department of Physics, University of Texas, 2515 Speedway, Austin, Texas 78712, U.S.A.

*E-mail:* shovon4320gmail.com, jani.kastikainen@helsinki.fi, sshashi@utexas.edu, jamie.sully@gmail.com

# Contents

1	Introduction	2
<b>2</b>	Review of 2-dimensional BCFT	4
	2.1 The open-string and closed-string sectors	4
	2.2 Boundary entropy	9
	2.3 Boundary-condition-changing operators	10
3	Extending bottom-up AdS/BCFT	10
	3.1 AdS gravity with intersecting branes	11
	3.2 Brane embeddings in conical $AdS_3$	13
	3.3 Brane configurations dual to a finite cylinder	15
4	Scalar exchanges in the closed-string limit	22
	4.1 Equations of motion and convenient limits	22
	4.2 Computing scalar actions with branes	24
	4.3 Scalar exchange between two branes	26
	4.4 Reproducing the scalar character	27
5	Conical defect exchanges at finite modulus	31
	5.1 Euclidean on-shell action and the ADM mass	32
	5.2 On-shell actions of disk-brane configurations	35
	5.3 On-shell actions of annulus-brane configurations	39
6	Conclusions and discussion	42
$\mathbf{A}$	Derivation of the corner Einstein equation	47
в	Foliating $AdS_{d+1}$ into $AdS_d$	49
	B.1 Half-spaces and disks in pure AdS	49
	B.2 Strips in pure AdS	53
	B.3 Annuli in Euclidean AdS-Schwarzschild	54
	B.4 Equivalence of strip and annular foliations in $d = 2$	57
$\mathbf{C}$	Well-definedness of cutting and gluing disk branes	58
D	Euclidean on-shell action as a boundary integral	59
$\mathbf{E}$	On-shell action of non-intersecting disk branes	60



Figure 1. Possible brane configurations for the holographic dual to a BCFT state on a cylinder. A and B represent possible conformal boundary conditions at each connected component of the boundary. Figure 1c in particular represents a non-smooth merging of two different branes.

## 1 Introduction

Traditionally, boundary conformal field theory (BCFT) [1–3] refers to a quantum field theory on a manifold with a boundary that has "boundary" conformal symmetry. On a flat manifold, boundary conformal symmetries are contained in the subgroup of the global conformal group that preserves the location of the boundary. Hence a BCFT comes equipped with "conformal" boundary conditions [1] that respect this subgroup. BCFT has seen various applications, from being a natural descriptor of critical phenomena in finite systems [4, 5] to its role in the worldsheet description of D-branes in string theory [6–9]. However, just like CFT, BCFT is difficult to study at strong coupling. This motivates the use of holography to better understand physics of boundaries.

The relevant extension of holography is known as the AdS/BCFT correspondence [10–12] in which a BCFT is dual to AdS gravity with a bulk codimension-1 end-of-theworld (EOW) brane. This correspondence provides a geometrization of strongly coupled BCFT [13] and has been applied to a number of studies on entanglement entropy dynamics in toy models of black holes [14–24]. The construction we employ is bottom-up in that we are starting with Einstein gravity, but there are also top-down constructions in the literature [25–38].

As is usual in holography, EOW branes are dynamical objects subject to backreaction and interactions with other fields of the bulk theory. For example, two separated branes can interact by exchanging light bulk fields which may drive them to merge with one another and give rise to novel brane-merging saddles in the gravitational path integral (figure 1). In this work, we are interested in how such brane dynamics are encoded in the dual field theory and what they tell us about data of a 2-dimensional BCFT.

In a minimal model consisting of just Einstein gravity and branes of fixed tension [11], it has been shown that the merging of two branes of equal tensions is dual to a transition between the closed-string and open-string channels of a BCFT with two circular boundaries. However, the main shortcoming of this model is that it does not include excited states in either channel. The spectrum is thus extremely simple. This is most exemplified by the available boundary-condition-changing (BCC) operators, i.e. the open-string ground states arising when the boundary conditions on the circular boundaries are different [39]. In the minimal model, [40] only finds BCC operators with scaling dimension at the black hole threshold  $(\Delta_{bcc} = \frac{c}{12})$ .

We thus extend the holographic setup by introducing scalar fields, point particles, and non-smooth brane intersections to the model. The scalar fields and point particles lead to long-distance interactions between two highly separated EOW branes on the gravity side, and they can be used to describe excited closed-string states in the BCFT. For scalar-field interactions, we extend the single-brane model used in [41] to describe a probe scalar field coupled to two separate branes. The probe scalar field calculation produces the SL(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ )-character of a light  $O(c^0)$  closed-string operator whose dimension is related to the scalar mass. On the other hand, point particle interactions are dual to exchanges of heavy O(c) closed-string and open-string operators whose scaling dimensions lie below the black hole threshold, i.e.  $\Delta \in (0, \frac{c}{12})$ .

As the two branes get close, their interactions become strongly coupled, and the branes eventually merge. When the conformal boundary conditions and the brane tensions are different, these merging configurations cannot be smooth as in [40]. In 3-dimensional gravity, one is thus forced to consider non-smooth brane intersections, and these allow for "sub-threshold" BCC operators ( $\Delta_{bcc} < \frac{c}{12}$ ) in the BCFT (see also [20]). To support nonsmooth configurations, the bulk theory requires matter content at the brane intersections. We show that it is exactly this matter content that determines the scaling dimension of the BCC operator. We find that the dimension falls into the range  $\Delta_{bcc} \in (0, \frac{c}{12})$  without an extra gap of the type argued in [20]. In the limit  $\Delta_{bcc} \to 0$ , the intersection becomes smooth, thereby reproducing the configuration of [40].

In allowing for non-smooth brane intersections, we look for other types of intersecting configurations. As a result, we find a new Euclidean wormhole saddle (of the bra-ket type [42]) whose throat is bounded by two non-smoothly intersecting EOW branes. We also find brane mergers that appear to belong to the closed-string sector of the BCFT as black hole states above the threshold. However, these states turn out to be physically problematic — their scaling dimensions depend on the modular parameter, even though such data should be input of a conformal theory — and so their interpretation is subtle.

**Overview.** To keep this article self-contained, we first review some facts about BCFT in section 2, discussing specifics about BCFT on a cylinder and duality between the openstring and closed-string channels. This machinery makes manifest the idea that conformal boundary conditions may be treated algebraically as "boundary states" [43–45]. Our BCFT conventions are defined here.

We then review the AdS/BCFT correspondence in section 3, laying out our bulk conventions in the process. Specifically, we consider Einstein gravity in Euclidean spaces with boundaries and corners, which involves the corner Einstein equation proven in appendix A. We also describe our bulk brane constructions therein.

To illustrate long-distance interactions between branes, we first consider the infinitewidth-cylinder limit in section 4. In this limit, one expects exchanges to be mediated by the lightest mode, which for simplicity we assume to be a scalar. We demonstrate that the scalar exchange in the bulk directly reflects the exchange of an  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  representation between the boundary states.

In section 5, we take the finite-width cylinder. In pure gravity [11, 12, 40], one only considers the sort of saddles shown in figures 1a and 1b — a very strong constraint. However with gravity furnished by a corner term [46], we find the existence of two novel brane-merging saddles of the gravitational path integral that both schematically look like figure 1c. Although the corresponding exchanges in the dual BCFT are strongly coupled, holography gives us access to such physics.

In section 6, we reiterate our general findings. We also discuss some of the more mysterious configurations, expanding briefly on the relationship between our bra-ket-type wormholes and ensemble averaging, the analytic continuation of particular closed-string black hole states to the open-string channel, and the existence of multi-intersecting configurations.

**Note.** At the final stages of this work, another paper [47] appeared which also studied intersecting branes in AdS/BCFT. Their results have some overlap with ours on the intersecting annulus branes. In particular, they are also able to achieve BCC operators of any sub-threshold dimension.

## 2 Review of 2-dimensional BCFT

We first review the key basic facts about 2-dimensional Euclidean BCFT in a relatively self-contained manner.<sup>1</sup> Because our goal is to study multi-brane interactions and overlaps of different boundary states, we start by discussing BCFT with two boundaries, each with their own boundary conditions. Specifically, we focus on BCFTs living on a finite cylinder with two circular boundaries.

## 2.1 The open-string and closed-string sectors

When considering two boundaries, the BCFT partition function can be equivalently expanded in two different channels: an open-string channel and a closed-string channel. As indicated by the names, the former describes the worldsheet theory of an open-string running between the two boundaries (figure 2a) while the latter describes the worldsheet theory of a closed string homotopic to the boundaries (figure 2b).<sup>2</sup> The statement that these two ways of computing the partition function give the same result is known as the open-closed-string duality.

In the open-string channel, boundary conditions constrain the values of fundamental fields at the boundaries and appear as restrictions on the open-string spectrum. Meanwhile, in the closed-string channel the boundary conditions are encoded by associated boundary states [43–45] representing "initial" and "final" states of some transition amplitude. The duality between these two channels imposes constraints on the energy spectrum and on the possible boundary conditions that can appear in the BCFT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See [3] for a canonical review.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Regardless of naming conventions, note that the BCFTs considered in this work are not worldsheet theories of any string theory.



**Figure 2.** The slicings of the cylinder corresponding to the (a) open-string and (b) closed-string channels. In (a), the cylinder is sliced into intervals along the periodic coordinate, and so the partition function is thermal. In (b), the boundary conditions represent initial and final states belonging to a CFT quantized on the circle.

**Open-closed-string duality.** Start with a Euclidean cylinder with circumference  $\beta$  and width W. For now, we keep these parameters general. There is a single dimensionless "shape modulus"  $\frac{W}{\beta}$  which characterizes this cylinder up to its conformal class. Note that conformal symmetry allows us to rescale  $\beta$  and W so long as  $\frac{W}{\beta}$  is unchanged.

Consider now the Euclidean path integral  $Z_{AB}$  of a CFT over the cylinder with boundary conditions A and B at the boundaries. There are two ways to slice the path integral and interpret it from the point of view of the operator formalism. One is as a thermal partition function

$$Z_{AB}^{\rm op} = \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta H^{\rm op}}\right) \tag{2.1}$$

of a theory quantized on the interval with boundary conditions A and B at the two ends — the open-string channel (figure 2a). The other is as a transition amplitude

$$Z_{AB}^{\rm cl} = \langle A | e^{-WH^{\rm cl}} | B \rangle \tag{2.2}$$

in a theory quantized on the circle — the closed-string channel (figure 2b). These two quantizations lead to different Hilbert spaces of states  $\mathcal{H}_{AB}^{\mathrm{op}}$  and  $\mathcal{H}^{\mathrm{cl}}$  on which the trace (2.1) and the matrix element (2.2) are respectively evaluated. These two Hilbert spaces are called, respectively, the open-string and closed-string sectors of the CFT. The open-closed-string duality then states that

$$Z_{AB} = Z_{AB}^{\rm op} = Z_{AB}^{\rm cl}, \qquad (2.3)$$

which imposes constraints on allowed boundary conditions of the BCFT. In string theory, this duality relates closed-string (graviton) amplitudes to open-string excitations (gauge fields). Its classical version corresponds to the double-copy relations [48]. Because of conformal invariance and W and  $\beta$  being the only scales in the setup, the partition function depends only on  $\frac{W}{\beta}$ .<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The open-string Hamiltonian depends on W and the closed-string Hamiltonian on  $\beta$  such that only the combination  $\frac{W}{\beta}$  appears, as we will see below.

**Ishibashi states.** For the boundary conditions to preserve restricted conformal symmetry, the corresponding boundary states  $|B\rangle$  have to satisfy

$$\mathcal{L}_n|B\rangle = \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{-n}|B\rangle, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(2.4)

where  $\{\mathcal{L}_n\}$  and  $\{\mathcal{L}_n\}$  each generate the holomorphic and antiholomorphic copies of the Virasoro algebra. Recall the defining commutation relation of the Virasoro algebra:

$$[\mathcal{L}_n, \mathcal{L}_m] = (n-m)\mathcal{L}_{n+m} + \frac{c}{12}n(n^2 - 1)\delta_{n,-m}, \quad \mathcal{L}_n^{\dagger} = \mathcal{L}_{-n}.$$
 (2.5)

A general state in  $\mathcal{H}^{cl}$  which solves (2.4) is a linear combination of *Ishibashi states* [43, 44],<sup>4</sup>

$$|I_h\rangle = \sum_{\mathfrak{m}} |h, \mathfrak{m}\rangle \otimes \overline{|h, \mathfrak{m}\rangle}, \qquad (2.6)$$

where  $\mathfrak{m}$  is any multiset of positive integers. We define the holomorphic states as

$$|h, \{m_1, \dots, m_n\}\rangle = \prod_{k=1}^n \mathcal{L}_{-m_k} |h\rangle, \quad \mathcal{L}_0 |h\rangle = h|h\rangle, \quad \mathcal{L}_{n>0} |h\rangle = 0, \quad (2.7)$$

with a similar definition for  $\overline{|h, \mathfrak{m}\rangle}$  in terms of  $\overline{\mathcal{L}}_n$ . Essentially, each Ishibashi state is obtained by taking a spinless<sup>5</sup> primary (h, h) in the closed-string sector and summing over "symmetric" descendants for which the holomorphic and antiholomorphic factors are described by the same  $\mathfrak{m}$  (i.e. constructed from isomorphic Virasoro generators).

The inner products of Ishibashi states are infinite series that do not converge, so they are nonnormalizable states. However, for any  $0 < \tilde{p} < 1$ , they satisfy the equality

$$\langle I_h | \tilde{p}^{\frac{1}{2} \left( \mathcal{L}_0 + \bar{\mathcal{L}}_0 - \frac{c}{12} \right)} | I_{h'} \rangle = \delta_{hh'} \chi_h(\tilde{p}).$$

$$(2.8)$$

 $\chi_h(\tilde{p})$  is the Virasoro character of the weight *h* irreducible representation  $\mathcal{H}_h$ . For c > 1 (meaning that there are no null states descended from the h > 0 primaries), this is

$$\chi_h(\tilde{p}) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_h}\left(\tilde{p}^{\mathcal{L}_0 - \frac{c}{24}}\right) = \begin{cases} \frac{\tilde{p}^{h - \frac{c}{24}}}{\prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - \tilde{p}^k)}, & \text{if } h > 0, \\ \frac{\tilde{p}^{h - \frac{c}{24}}}{\prod_{k=2}^{\infty} (1 - \tilde{p}^k)}, & \text{if } h = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

Eq. (2.8) can be seen by reorganizing the sum in (2.6) to be over descendant level  $N_d$  and noting that, for fixed level, each  $\mathfrak{m}$  is a partition of  $N_d$  (or the empty multiset for  $N_d = 0$ ).

Furthermore, we note the linear transformation rule for Virasoro characters under modular S-transformations [3, 50],

$$\chi_h(\tilde{p}) = \sum_{h'} S_{hh'} \chi_{h'}(p),$$
 (2.10)

where  $p = e^{4\pi^2/\log \tilde{p}}$  is the modular S-transform of  $\tilde{p}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See also [49] for a proof of this statement based on the Schur lemma.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>That an Ishibashi state can only be constructed from a spinless primary comes from the n = 0 case of (2.4), which is the level-matching condition.



(b) Closed-string Hamiltonian.

Figure 3. The conformal transformations by which we see that the open-string Hamiltonian and closed-string Hamiltonian respectively correspond to (a) dilatation on the upper half-plane generated by  $\mathcal{L}_0$  and (b) dilatation on the full plane generated by  $\mathcal{L}_0 + \bar{\mathcal{L}}_0$ . The additional -c term in (2.12) and (2.15) comes from the Schwarzian derivatives of these conformal transformations.

**Decomposition into Virasoro characters.** We can use the open-closed-string duality (2.3) to expand the Euclidean path integral on the cylinder as a sum over states in the open-string and closed-string sectors respectively. We show this now.

The open-string sector consists of irreducible representations of the Virasoro algebra,

$$\mathcal{H}_{AB}^{\mathrm{op}} = \bigoplus_{h} \mathcal{N}_{AB}^{h} \mathcal{H}_{h}.$$
 (2.11)

The coefficients  $\mathcal{N}_{AB}^h \geq 0$  are degeneracy factors of the open-string spectrum. The openstring Hamiltonian  $H^{\text{op}}$  generates translation around the cylinder, which is equivalent to translation along a strip of width W. By using a conformal transformation from this strip to the upper half-plane and employing the conformal boundary condition [3], we can relate  $H^{\text{op}}$  to the generator of dilatations on the upper half-plane  $\mathcal{L}_0$  (figure 3a),

$$H^{\rm op} = \frac{\pi}{W} \left( \mathcal{L}_0 - \frac{c}{24} \right). \tag{2.12}$$

Defining  $q = e^{-\pi\beta/W}$ , it follows that

$$Z_{AB}^{\rm op} = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{AB}^{\rm op}} \left( q^{\mathcal{L}_0 - \frac{c}{24}} \right) = \sum_h \mathcal{N}_{AB}^h \chi_h(q), \qquad (2.13)$$

When the path integral is sliced by circles, both copies of the Virasoro algebra are preserved. Thus the closed-string sector instead decomposes according to two copies of the Virasoro algebra (2.5) generated by  $\mathcal{L}_n$  and  $\bar{\mathcal{L}}_n$ ,

$$\mathcal{H}^{\rm cl} = \bigoplus_{h,\bar{h}} d_{h\bar{h}} \mathcal{H}_h \otimes \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{\bar{h}}, \qquad (2.14)$$

with a second set of degeneracy factors  $d_{h\bar{h}} \geq 0$  depending on the circle CFT in question. The closed-string Hamiltonian  $H^{cl}$  generates longitudinal translation along the cylinder and so, after a conformal transformation, corresponds to the generator of dilatation on the plane  $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{L}_0 + \bar{\mathcal{L}}_0$  [3] (figure 3b),

$$H^{\rm cl} = \frac{2\pi}{\beta} \left( \mathcal{L}_0 + \bar{\mathcal{L}}_0 - \frac{c}{12} \right). \tag{2.15}$$

It follows that

$$Z_{AB}^{\rm cl} = \langle A | \, \tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{L}_0 + \bar{\mathcal{L}}_0 - \frac{c}{12})} \, | B \rangle \,, \tag{2.16}$$

where  $\tilde{q} = e^{-4\pi W/\beta}$  is related to  $q = e^{4\pi^2/\log \tilde{q}}$  by a modular S-transformation:

$$q = e^{2\pi i\omega}, \quad \tilde{q} = e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{\omega}}, \quad \omega = \frac{i\beta}{2W}.$$
 (2.17)

To decompose this into characters, we use the fact that a general boundary state is a linear combination of Ishibashi states,

$$|B\rangle = \sum_{h} \langle I_{h}|B\rangle |I_{h}\rangle, \qquad (2.18)$$

and the orthogonality relation [49]

$$\langle I_h | \, \tilde{q}^{\frac{1}{2} \left( \mathcal{L}_0 + \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_0 - \frac{c}{12} \right)} \, | I_{h'} \rangle = \delta_{hh'} \chi_h(\tilde{q}), \quad 0 < \tilde{q} < 1, \tag{2.19}$$

to write the transition amplitude (2.16) as

$$Z_{AB}^{\rm cl} = \sum_{h} \langle A | I_h \rangle \langle I_h | B \rangle \chi_h(\tilde{q}).$$
(2.20)

**Open- and closed-string limits.** The duality (2.3) between the open-string and closedstring channels leads to constraints on the allowed boundary states — the so-called Cardy conditions. Specifically, recall the definition of the Virasoro character (2.9) and its linear transformation rule under S (2.10). In conjunction with open-closed-string duality (2.3) and the linear independence of the Virasoro characters, we obtain the following two equivalent constraints:

$$\mathcal{N}_{AB}^{h} = \sum_{h'} S_{hh'} \left\langle A | I_{h'} \right\rangle \left\langle I_{h'} | B \right\rangle, \qquad (2.21)$$

$$\sum_{h} S_{hh'} \mathcal{N}_{AB}^{h} = \langle A | I_{h'} \rangle \langle I_{h'} | B \rangle.$$
(2.22)

These are the Cardy conditions. Boundary states which satisfy these are called *Cardy* states. The coefficients of Cardy states in the Ishibashi-state basis are specified by BCFT data — particularly S and the irreducible representations.

In a BCFT whose data and boundary conditions that obey the Cardy conditions (2.22), the Euclidean path integral has the two equivalent series representations

$$Z_{AB} = \sum_{h} \mathcal{N}_{AB}^{h} \chi_{h}(q) = \sum_{h} \langle A | I_{h} \rangle \langle I_{h} | B \rangle \chi_{h}(\tilde{q}).$$
(2.23)

Now in the limit  $\frac{W}{\beta} \to 0$  in which  $q \to 0$  and  $\tilde{q} \to 1$ , the Virasoro characters behave as

$$\chi_h(q) = q^{h - \frac{c}{24}} + \dots, \quad \chi_h(\tilde{q}) = \sum_{h'} S_{hh'} q^{h' - \frac{c}{24}} + \dots, \quad \frac{W}{\beta} \to 0,$$
 (2.24)

where we have used the modular transformation law (2.10). We may either use the first of these expansions directly or the second of these expansions in conjunction with the Cardy conditions to write  $Z_{AB}$  as

$$Z_{AB} = \sum_{h} \mathcal{N}_{AB}^{h} e^{-\frac{\pi\beta}{W} \left(h - \frac{c}{24}\right)} + \dots, \quad \frac{W}{\beta} \to 0,$$
(2.25)

where contributions from open-string sector representations with weight  $h \in [0, \frac{c}{24})$  are divergent while those with weight  $h \in (\frac{c}{24}, \infty)$  are exponentially suppressed. We refer to the  $\frac{W}{\beta} \to 0$  limit as the open-string limit.

In the opposite limit  $\frac{W}{\beta} \to \infty$  in which  $q \to 1$  and  $\tilde{q} \to 0$ , we may similarly and unambiguously expand the partition function as

$$Z_{AB} = \sum_{h} \langle A | I_h \rangle \langle I_h | B \rangle \ e^{-\frac{4\pi W}{\beta} \left(h - \frac{c}{24}\right)} + \dots, \quad \frac{W}{\beta} \to \infty,$$
(2.26)

where contributions from closed-string representations with weight  $h \in [0, \frac{c}{24})$  diverge while those with weight  $h \in (\frac{c}{24}, \infty)$  are suppressed. The limit  $\frac{W}{\beta} \to \infty$  is called the closed-string limit.

We are mainly interested in holographic BCFTs with large central charge  $c \to \infty$ . In this limit, there are light and heavy states depending on whether their dimension is of the order  $\mathcal{O}(c^0)$  or  $\mathcal{O}(c)$ , respectively. All light states in the open-string (or closed-string) sector give divergent contributions to the open-string (or closed-string) limit, but the same is not true for heavy states: only heavy states  $h = \frac{c}{24}(1-\alpha^2)$  with  $\alpha \in [0,1]$  give divergent contributions, while the rest of the heavy states are suppressed. The transition from divergent to suppressed contributions happens at  $h = \frac{c}{24}$ , which is known as the black hole threshold.

## 2.2 Boundary entropy

The boundary entropy is a quantity which represents a particularly basic piece of information about boundary states. Specifically, it is the temperature independent contribution to the thermal entropy of the open-string theory in the thermodynamic limit  $W \to \infty$  [51]. The thermal entropy  $S_{\rm th}$  is obtained from the thermal free energy  $F_{\rm th} = -\beta^{-1} \log Z_{AB}^{\rm op}$  (of the open-string theory) as

$$S_{\rm th} = \beta^2 \frac{\partial F_{\rm th}}{\partial \beta}.$$
 (2.27)

We can expand (2.27) in the thermodynamic limit by noting that it is equivalent to the closed-string limit  $\frac{W}{\beta} \to \infty$  with  $\beta$  fixed. Using the duality (2.3) and the expansion (2.26), we get that

$$Z_{AB}^{\rm op} = g_A g_B \, e^{\frac{\pi W}{\beta} \frac{c}{6}} + \dots, \quad W \to \infty, \tag{2.28}$$

where we have defined  $g_A = \langle A|0 \rangle$  and  $g_B = \langle 0|B \rangle$ . Hence the thermal entropy (2.27) has the expansion

$$S_{\rm th} = \left(\frac{\pi c}{3}\right) \frac{W}{\beta} + s_A + s_B + \dots, \quad W \to \infty, \tag{2.29}$$

where  $s_A = \log g_A$  and  $s_B = \log g_B$  are the boundary entropies associated to the boundary conditions A and B respectively. Because  $s_{A,B}$  are independent of the temperature, they give zero-temperature microcanonical entropy, so  $g_{A,B}$  are also called "ground state degeneracies" which can be non-integer in the thermodynamic limit [51].<sup>6</sup> Note that the phase of the closed-string vacuum  $|0\rangle$  can be chosen such that its overlaps with all boundary states are real and positive, i.e.  $\langle A|0\rangle = \langle 0|A\rangle > 0$ ,  $\langle 0|B\rangle = \langle B|0\rangle > 0$ , and  $s_{A,B} \in \mathbb{R}$ .

#### 2.3 Boundary-condition-changing operators

An aspect of BCFT which requires at least two boundaries to describe is the notion of a *boundary-condition-changing (BCC) operator*. Imprints of such operators are seen in correlation functions in a BCFT with different boundary conditions  $A \neq B$  [3].

Formally, a BCC operator is defined as the primary of smallest dimension<sup>7</sup> in the open-string spectrum given a pair of different boundary conditions A, B. Specifically, we generally require that  $\mathcal{N}_{AB}^0 = \delta_{AB}$ . In other words, if the two boundary conditions are the same, then the lowest-dimension operator that may be inserted is the identity (which is unique in a unitary theory) acting on  $\mathcal{H}_{AA}^{\text{op}}$ . If the two boundary conditions are different, however, then the lowest-dimension operator cannot be the identity and by unitarity must have strictly positive dimension. The dimension  $\Delta_{\text{bcc}}$  of the BCC operator can be extracted from the open-string limit  $\frac{W}{\beta} \to 0$  (2.25) of the Euclidean path integral

$$Z_{AB} = \mathcal{N}_{AB}^{\mathrm{bcc}} e^{-\frac{\pi\beta}{2W} \left(\Delta_{\mathrm{bcc}} - \frac{c}{12}\right)} + \cdots, \quad \frac{W}{\beta} \to 0.$$
 (2.30)

where  $\mathcal{N}_{AB}^{\text{bcc}}$  counts the degeneracy of this operator which can be any positive integer. This is the zero-temperature limit of the open-string theory so that  $\Delta_{\text{bcc}}$  measures the increase in ground state energy due to different boundary conditions at the end-points [39].

## 3 Extending bottom-up AdS/BCFT

We now review the AdS/BCFT correspondence. We set the speed of light and  $\hbar$  to 1 and  $\kappa = 8\pi G_N$ , and we work in Euclidean signature. Additionally, while we present the actions in this section in general d, we will perform more concrete calculations specifically in d = 2. There we may recast gravitational couplings in terms of the boundary central charge through the Brown-Henneaux formula [53],

$$c = \frac{12\pi\ell}{\kappa},\tag{3.1}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The quantity  $g_A$  is also called the *g*-function and is similar to the usual *c*-function in that it is monotonic under RG flow [51, 52], making it a good count of the degrees of freedom associated to a single boundary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Note that the open-string spectrum does not accommodate states with spin because there is only one Virasoro algebra. So, any primary of weight h will have conformal dimension  $\Delta = 2h$ .

where  $\ell$  is the AdS radius. Since we are concerned with studying the Euclidean BCFT partition function, we will work in Euclidean signature in this paper, using the same conventions for the overall signs of Euclidean actions as [11, 12, 40]. However, much of the AdS/BCFT machinery presented here works in Lorentzian signature, as well.

Lastly, for convenience we only write the integration measures (or, more specifically, the differentials) when the coordinates are specified in the integrand.

## 3.1 AdS gravity with intersecting branes

A holographic d-dimensional BCFT is dual to AdS gravity on a (d + 1)-dimensional manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  containing a d-dimensional EOW brane  $\mathcal{Q}$ .<sup>8</sup> The brane is a boundary of the bulk geometry and thus necessitates the presence of a Gibbons-Hawking-York boundary term [54, 55]. We then take then this brane to satisfy a dynamical Neumann-type<sup>9</sup> boundary condition [11, 12] which determines the embedding of  $\mathcal{Q}$  in  $\mathcal{M}$ . A simple toy model for AdS/BCFT is Einstein gravity with a negative cosmological constant on  $\mathcal{M}$  and a constant brane tension T,

$$I_{\rm G} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{g} \left( R + \frac{d(d-1)}{\ell^2} \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left( K - T \right), \tag{3.2}$$

where  $\ell$  is the AdS radius,  $h_{ab} = g_{ab} - n_a n_b$  is the projector onto  $\mathcal{Q}$ ,  $n^a$  is the outwarddirected unit normal of  $\mathcal{Q}$ ,  $K_{ab} = h_a^c h_b^d \nabla_c n_d$  is the extrinsic curvature of  $\mathcal{Q}$ , and  $K = g^{ab} K_{ab}$ . The tension term T is sometimes called a Randall-Sundrum (RS) term [56]. We take the tension to be "subcritical" ( $|T|\ell < d-1$ ), in which case  $\mathcal{Q}$  is a Karch-Randall (KR) brane [10, 57]. As T is in a one-to-one relationship with possible holographic boundary entropies [11], we denote the corresponding boundary state in the dual BCFT as  $|T\rangle$ .<sup>10</sup>

We are interested in studying more comprehensive setups which accommodate twobrane interactions and intersections at corners (represented as C). The action is

$$I = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{g} \left( R + \frac{d(d-1)}{\ell^2} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}} \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left( K - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \sqrt{\sigma} \left( \Theta - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}} \right), \quad (3.3)$$

where  $\sigma_{ab} = g_{ab} - n_a n_b - t_a t_b$  is the projector onto the corner  $\mathcal{C}$ ,  $t^a$  is the tangent vector of  $\mathcal{Q}$  (so that  $n_a t^a = 0$ ), and  $\Theta$  is the local intersection angle between the two branes comprising  $\mathcal{C}$ . The last term involving  $\Theta$  is the Hayward corner term [46]. In addition, we have included arbitrary (for now) bulk  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}}$ , brane  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}$  and corner  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}}$  matter Lagrangians to the action.

The variational problem for the action (3.3) is to keep embeddings of the branes  $\mathcal{Q}$  (and hence those of the corners  $\mathcal{C}$ ) fixed while varying the component functions  $g^{ab}$  of the inverse metric in the region  $\mathcal{M}$  bounded by the branes. Under  $\delta g^{ab}$ , the variation of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>This discussion, and in particular the notation Q, is schematic. Q may represent multiple branes which are either disconnected or have a non-smooth intersection in the bulk.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>We do this as opposed to taking a Dirichlet boundary condition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>We emphasize that  $|T\rangle$  is actually defined from bulk parameters. In principle, it may be any boundary state whose boundary entropy is computed by T, or it may even be an ensemble average of such boundary states.

action (3.3) is<sup>11</sup> (see appendix A for details)

$$\delta I = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{g} \left( G_{ab} - \frac{d(d-1)}{2\ell^2} g_{ab} + \frac{1}{2} T_{ab}^{\mathcal{M}} \right) \delta g^{ab} - \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left( K_{ab} - K h_{ab} + T_{ab}^{\mathcal{Q}} \right) \delta h^{ab} + \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \sqrt{\sigma} \left( \Theta \sigma_{ab} - T_{ab}^{\mathcal{C}} \right) \delta \sigma^{ab},$$
(3.4)

where  $T_{ab}^{\mathcal{M}}$ ,  $T_{ab}^{\mathcal{Q}}$ , and  $T_{ab}^{\mathcal{C}}$  are respectively the bulk, boundary, and corner stress tensors:

$$T_{ab}^{\mathcal{M}} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\partial(\sqrt{g} \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}})}{\partial g^{ab}}, \quad T_{ab}^{\mathcal{Q}} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{h}} \frac{\partial(\sqrt{h} \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}})}{\partial h^{ab}}, \quad T_{ab}^{\mathcal{C}} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{\sigma}} \frac{\partial(\sqrt{\sigma} \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}})}{\partial \sigma^{ab}}.$$
 (3.5)

The variational principle  $\delta I = 0$  then produces the usual bulk Einstein equation coupled to matter,

$$G_{ab} - \frac{d(d-1)}{2\ell^2}g_{ab} + \frac{1}{2}T_{ab}^{\mathcal{M}} = 0, \qquad (3.6)$$

and the "boundary" Einstein equation,

$$K_{ab} - Kh_{ab} + T^{Q}_{ab} = 0, (3.7)$$

since we will not impose Dirichlet boundary conditions for the induced metrics of the branes. As a result, the induced metric of the corner C is not fixed either, so we get the "corner" Einstein equation

$$\Theta \,\sigma_{ab} - T^{\mathcal{C}}_{ab} = 0. \tag{3.8}$$

An on-shell bulk metric  $g_{ab}$  satisfies these three Einstein equations from which the on-shell induced metrics  $h_{ab}$ ,  $\sigma_{ab}$  and the extrinsic data  $K_{ab}$ ,  $\Theta$  are determined.

In our first calculation of section 4, we will consider a scalar-field sector which couples to  $\mathcal{Q}$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}} = \frac{\kappa}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \left( \nabla^a \Phi \nabla_a \Phi + m_{\Phi}^2 \Phi^2 \right), \quad \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}} = T - \frac{\kappa}{\kappa_{\Phi}} V(\Phi), \quad (3.9)$$

where T is the subcritical brane tension,  $V(\Phi)$  is brane localized potential, and  $\kappa/\kappa_{\Phi}$  is a dimensionless normalization factor. This action will provide the model for long range interactions between highly separated branes that do not intersect so that  $\mathcal{C} = \emptyset$ . Specifically, we will take a probe limit (see section 4.1 for details) in which the equations of motion become (with  $\ell = 1$ ):

$$R_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}Rg_{ab} - \frac{d(d-1)}{2}g_{ab} = 0, \qquad K_{ab} - (K-T)h_{ab} = 0, \qquad (3.10)$$
$$(\nabla_a \nabla^a - m_{\Phi}^2)\Phi = 0, \qquad [n^a \partial_a \Phi - V'(\Phi)] |_{\mathcal{Q}} = 0.$$

In our analysis of brane-merging saddles in section 5, we will only work in three bulk dimensions (d + 1 = 3) and take the matter Lagrangians to be

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}} = m\delta_{\mathcal{D}}, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}} = T, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}} = M,$$
(3.11)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Note the opposite overall sign multiplying the corner integral.

where m is the mass of a point particle with worldline  $\mathcal{D}$  ( $\delta_{\mathcal{D}}$  being a localized Dirac delta function on  $\mathcal{D}$ ), T is again a subcritical brane tension, and M is a tension parameter for the corner  $\mathcal{C}$  at the intersection of two branes (and thus called the "intersection mass"). The resulting stress tensors are given by

$$T_{ab}^{\mathcal{M}} = mg_{ab}\,\delta_{\mathcal{D}}, \quad T_{ab}^{\mathcal{Q}} = Th_{ab}, \quad T_{ab}^{\mathcal{C}} = M\sigma_{ab}. \tag{3.12}$$

The corresponding Einstein equations for  $g_{ab}$  become (again with  $\ell = 1$ )

$$R_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}Rg_{ab} - g_{ab} + \frac{1}{2}m g_{ab} \delta_{\mathcal{D}} = 0, \quad K_{ab} - (K - T)h_{ab} = 0, \quad \Theta - M = 0$$
(3.13)

We will solve these equations in the next two sections.

#### 3.2 Brane embeddings in conical AdS<sub>3</sub>

We start by solving for geometries sourced by a single point particle and containing a single EOW brane. Intersecting brane configurations that also involve the corner Einstein equation are studied in the next section. First, consider the locally  $AdS_3$  metric (with radius  $\ell = 1$ ) given by

$$ds^{2} = f_{\alpha}(r) d\tau^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{f_{\alpha}(r)} + r^{2} d\phi^{2}, \qquad (3.14)$$

where  $f_{\alpha}(r) = r^2 + \alpha^2$  with  $\alpha > 0$  being a free parameter. The coordinates have ranges  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}, r \geq 0$ , and  $\phi \in \mathbb{R}$  with  $\phi \sim \phi + 2\pi$ . Topologically, the space is an infinite solid cylinder, and the conformal boundary is an infinite cylinder equipped with the flat metric  $ds^2 = d\tau^2 + d\phi^2$ .

The metric is locally  $AdS_3$ , so it solves the bulk Einstein equation in the region r > 0. For  $\alpha \neq 1$ , the metric has a conical line defect at r = 0 with a deficit angle  $2\pi (1 - \alpha)$ . The conical line defect has to be supported by a point particle whose mass m is related to  $\alpha$ . Using the results of [58], we have for the  $\tau\tau$ -component that

$$R_{\tau\tau} - \frac{1}{2} R g_{\tau\tau} - g_{\tau\tau} = -2\pi \left(1 - \alpha\right) g_{\tau\tau} \,\delta_{\mathcal{D}},\tag{3.15}$$

so the bulk Einstein equation (3.13) implies

$$m = 4\pi \, (1 - \alpha). \tag{3.16}$$

To keep the mass positive, we only consider  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ . If  $\alpha > 1$ , then the dual operator breaks the CFT unitarity bound [59] (see also section 5).

There are two types of brane embeddings that solve the boundary Einstein equation locally in the point mass background (3.14) (figure 4).<sup>12</sup> We write both in the coordinates of (3.14). The first type consists of "disk" branes (figure 4a) given by

$$\tau = F(r; T, \tau_0) \equiv \tau_0 + \frac{1}{\alpha} \operatorname{Tanh}^{-1} \left( \frac{T\alpha}{\sqrt{f_\alpha(r) - T^2 r^2}} \right), \quad r \ge 0.$$
(3.17)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>See appendix B to see how these embeddings are constructed as foliations of smooth AdS space. These can be translated into the coordinates (3.14).



(a) Disk brane in conical AdS. (b) Strip brane in conical AdS.

Figure 4. (a) A disk brane and (b) a strip brane in conical AdS. The conical defect at r = 0 is represented by the green line. The disk brane is a  $\phi$ -symmetric slice of the bulk, while the strip brane is a  $\tau$ -symmetric slice of the bulk.

T denotes the tension,<sup>13</sup> and  $\tau_0 \equiv F(\infty; T, \tau_0)$  is a free constant denoting the value of  $\tau$  at which the brane asymptotes to the conformal boundary. The disk branes are invariant under  $\phi$ -translation.

The second type consists of "strip" branes. These may be written in a branched way as

$$\phi = P(r; T, \phi_0), \quad \phi = \frac{\pi}{\alpha} + 2\phi_0 - P(r; T, \phi_0),$$
(3.18)

where we have defined

$$P(r;T,\phi_0) \equiv \phi_0 - \frac{1}{\alpha} \operatorname{Tan}^{-1} \left( \frac{T\alpha}{\sqrt{r^2 - T^2 f_\alpha(r)}} \right), \quad r \ge \frac{|T|\alpha}{\sqrt{1 - T^2}}.$$
 (3.19)

Here,  $\phi_0$  is a free parameter, and the brane intersects the conformal boundary at  $\phi = \phi_0$ and  $\phi = \phi_0 + \frac{\pi}{\alpha}$ . Note that it is more convenient to parameterize the strip branes as

$$r = p(\phi; T, \phi_0),$$
 (3.20)

where  $p(P(r; T, \phi_0); T, \phi_0) = r$ . Then we may write each strip brane in terms of a single expression,

$$p(\phi; T, \phi_0) = -\frac{T\alpha}{\sqrt{1-T^2}} \csc\left[\alpha \left(\phi - \phi_0\right)\right], \quad \phi \in \left(\phi_0, \phi_0 + \frac{\pi}{\alpha}\right), \quad (3.21)$$

where we use the standard convention of polar coordinates where  $(r, \phi)$  for r < 0 corresponds to  $(|r|, \phi + \pi)$ . Strip branes project onto lines in the  $(r \cos (\alpha \phi), r \sin (\alpha \phi))$ -plane such that the zero-tension (T = 0) brane runs through the origin:

$$r\sin(\alpha\phi) = r\cos(\alpha\phi)\tan(\alpha\phi_0) - \frac{T\alpha}{\sqrt{1-T^2}}\sec(\alpha\phi_0).$$
(3.22)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>In treating this as an EOW brane with tension T, we are assuming that the part of the geometry  $\tau > F(r; T, \tau_0)$  is being excised. If we excise the complementary region instead, then the tension would be -T.



Figure 5. Cross sections of |T| = 1/2 strip branes for decreasing values of  $\alpha$ . For  $\alpha = 1$ , the brane's endpoints are antipodal. For  $\alpha < 1/2$ , the brane self-intersects in the bulk.

It is enlightening to plot these lines on the Poincaré disk, which has the radial coordinate

$$\rho = \frac{-1 + \sqrt{1 + r^2}}{r} \in [0, 1). \tag{3.23}$$

We have done so in figure 5. When  $\alpha < \frac{1}{2}$ , the brane wraps around the defect and intersects with itself in the bulk [20].

We note that disk and strip brane embeddings are related to each other by analytic continuation and changes of variables. By first analytically continuing  $\alpha \to i\alpha$  and then subsequently doing the coordinate transformation  $r \to \sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r)}$ , the disk brane embedding function transforms to a strip brane embedding function:

$$F(r; T, \tau_0) \to P(r; T, \tau_0).$$
 (3.24)

We will utilize this analytic continuation later to describe a mapping of "bad" holographic closed-string states to "good" open-string states.

Disk and strip branes can be used to construct bulk geometries that asymptote to a finite cylinder with modulus  $\frac{W}{\beta}$ . Depending on the brane tensions, there may be both disconnected and connected brane configurations. The connected configurations can also include non-smooth intersections between branes.

#### **3.3** Brane configurations dual to a finite cylinder

We now categorize Euclidean brane configurations which asymptote to a finite cylinder of fixed modulus. In particular, this lays the groundwork for our action calculations in section 5. A representative sample of the relevant configurations is shown in figure 6.

**Non-intersecting disk branes.** Consider two non-intersecting disk branes with different parameters,

$$\tau = -F_1(r) \equiv -F(r; T_1, \tau_1), \quad \tau = F_2(r) \equiv F(r; T_2, \tau_2), \tag{3.25}$$

with  $\tau_i > 0$  so that the branes asymptote to  $\tau = -\tau_1$  and  $\tau = \tau_2$  respectively. To keep two disk branes disconnected, the geodesic distance between these branes  $\alpha [F_1(r) + F_2(r)]$ must be positive. This is equivalent to the following constraint on the brane tensions:

$$\left(\frac{1+T_1}{1-T_1}\right)\left(\frac{1+T_2}{1-T_2}\right) > e^{-2\alpha(\tau_1+\tau_2)}.$$
(3.26)



**Figure 6.** Four types of disk-brane configurations studied in this paper: (a) disconnected positive-tension branes, (b) intersecting positive-tension branes obtained by cutting and gluing along the dashed black lines, (c) disconnected negative-tension branes, and (d) intersecting negative-tension branes.

For now, we only focus on branes and values of  $\alpha$  that satisfy (3.26). In this case, the bulk region bounded by two disk branes,

$$-F_1(r) < \tau < F_2(r), \quad r > 0, \tag{3.27}$$

asymptotes to a finite cylinder  $(\tau, \phi) \in [\tau_1, \tau_2] \times S^1$  of width  $\tau_1 + \tau_2$  and modulus

$$\frac{\tau_1 + \tau_2}{2\pi} = \frac{W}{\beta}.\tag{3.28}$$

By setting  $\tau_1 + \tau_2 = \frac{2\pi W}{\beta}$ , we obtain a cylinder of the required modulus on the conformal boundary. Doing so defines a one-parameter family of non-intersecting disk-brane configurations labeled by  $\alpha$ , with  $\alpha = 1$  being the disconnected configuration of [11]. Imposing (3.28) also allows us to rewrite (3.26) in terms of the boundary modulus,

$$\left(\frac{1+T_1}{1-T_1}\right)\left(\frac{1+T_2}{1-T_2}\right) > e^{-\frac{4\pi W}{\beta}\alpha} = \tilde{q}^{\alpha}.$$
(3.29)

Furthermore, requiring that the branes are non-intersecting for all moduli (and in particular as  $\frac{W}{\beta} \rightarrow 0$ ) gives the inequality

$$T_1 + T_2 > 0. (3.30)$$

In particular, this inequality implies that any two negative tension branes  $T_i < 0$  will intersect for some finite value of the modulus.

**Intersecting disk branes.** We now assume that the two disk branes intersect and that their intersection is supported by a corner stress tensor. There are two ways to realize such solutions. A priori, at a fixed modulus, the disk branes either intersect automatically if they violate the bound (3.29) or may be made to intersect by a cutting-and-gluing procedure otherwise. In the latter class of construction, the conical line defect is exposed to the conformal boundary, whereas it is hidden in the former.

More specifically, keeping  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$ , and  $\tilde{q}$  (or, equivalently, the boundary modulus  $\frac{W}{\beta}$ ) fixed, we may consider three possible scenarios based on (3.29) and the stronger constraint (3.30):



Figure 7. The configuration obtained by cutting and gluing two disk branes together at a disk of radius  $r = r_*$  (shown in blue). This may be interpreted as the embedding of two disk branes in a torus such that they intersect without "hiding" the defect.

- (i) When the brane tensions satisfy the inequality (3.30), they can *only* be made to intersect by cutting and gluing. This also leaves the conical line defect exposed. In this case, we get a two-parameter family of disk-brane configurations labeled by the defect parameter  $\alpha$  and the intersection depth of the identified branes  $r_*$ .
- (ii) When the brane tensions violate (3.30), we may still have that (3.29) holds. In this case, in principle we can make the branes intersect by a cutting-and-gluing procedure, leading to the same sort of two-parameter family of configurations as in case (i). However, we can actually prove that this case leads to a contradiction, which implies that cutting and gluing is only mathematically consistent in case (i) if (3.30) holds see appendix C.
- (iii) We may consider branes which violate not just (3.30) but also (3.29), i.e. branes corresponding to finite boundary modulus but with negative geodesic distance. This time, the conical line defect is behind the branes and thus "hidden" from the boundary. The configurations in this case comprise a one-parameter family of solutions labeled by  $\alpha$ .

Let us first consider the cutting-and-gluing constructions of cases (i) and (ii) in detail. We assume that we cut the solid cylinder at  $\tau = -\tau_{1*}$  and  $\tau = \tau_{2*}$  such that both of the branes will be cut along a circle of radius  $r = r_*$ . The branes can be glued together at these circles by periodically identifying in the  $\tau$ -direction.

Another way to think about this construction is as the embedding of two disk branes in a solid torus in a way that makes the branes intersect — see figure 7. From this perspective, the freedom associated with the  $r_*$  parameter is captured by the circumference of the torus. Additionally, for the cutting-and-gluing to be a well-defined procedure, we must have that

$$\tau_{1*} + \tau_{2*} > \tau_1 + \tau_2. \tag{3.31}$$

This is just the condition that the width of the boundary cylinder must be shorter than the circumference of the torus obtained from the  $\tau$ -identification. We can use this to show that case (i) is consistent with a well-defined cutting-and-gluing procedure, whereas case (ii) is not and so need not be considered. See appendix C for details.

Because cutting and gluing requires that (3.30) be satisfied, we need at least one positive tension brane. Upon following through with the procedure, we have the following bulk regions:

$$-F_1(r) < \tau < F_2(r), \qquad r > r_*, -F_1(r_*) < \tau < F_2(r_*), \quad r_* \ge r > 0,$$
(3.32)

Additionally, the periodic identification of  $\tau$  turns the r = 0 central line of the cylinder into a circle.

This construction gives us a two-parameter family of intersecting disk-brane configurations parametrized by  $(\alpha, r_*)$ . The intersection depth  $r_*$  can be traded for the intersection angle  $\Theta$ , which is given by<sup>14</sup>

$$\cos\Theta = \frac{1}{f_{\alpha}(r_{*})} \left( T_{1}T_{2}r_{*}^{2} - \sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r_{*}) - T_{1}^{2}r_{*}^{2}}\sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r_{*}) - T_{2}^{2}r_{*}^{2}} \right).$$
(3.33)

Observe that for  $0 \leq r_* < \infty$ ,  $\Theta$  is bounded to the interval

$$-1 \le \cos \Theta < T_1 T_2 - \sqrt{1 - T_1^2} \sqrt{1 - T_2^2} < 1.$$
(3.34)

The lower bound corresponds to  $\Theta = \pi$  where the tips of the two branes barely intersect and the normal vectors of the branes point in opposite directions.

A single solution from the family  $(\alpha, \Theta)$  is chosen by the bulk matter content via the Einstein equations: the value of the point particle mass m fixes the deficit angle via (3.16) while the intersection mass  $M = \Theta$  fixes the intersection angle.

Now, let us then consider the case (iii) which corresponds to the only intersecting construction consistent with  $T_1 + T_2 \leq 0$ . In this case, the disk branes will always intersect for  $\tilde{q} \leq \tilde{q}_c$  where

$$\tilde{q}_{c}^{\alpha} = \left(\frac{1+T_{1}}{1-T_{1}}\right) \left(\frac{1+T_{2}}{1-T_{2}}\right).$$
(3.35)

The intersection angle is given by (3.33). However, the intersection depth  $r_* = r_*(\tilde{q})$  is no longer a free parameter. This leads us to being able to write  $\alpha$  as a function of the boundary modulus. While this dependence is mathematically sensible, we find it to be physically inconsistent because it implies that the dual operator dimension may be treated as a function of the modulus, despite such a quantity being data of the BCFT. Nonetheless, seeing this inconsistency requires performing the bulk analysis, as we do in section 5.2.

**Intersecting annulus branes.** An alternative construction of the cylinder is realized when quotienting the region bounded by a single infinite strip brane (3.18). Specifically, we periodically identify  $\tau \sim \tau + \tau_0$ , where  $\tau_0$  corresponds a circumference on the boundary. After cutting and gluing in this manner, an infinite strip brane inherits the topology of an annulus, and so we will call it an annulus brane.<sup>15</sup>

On the conformal boundary, a single annulus brane with tension T has domain  $\phi \in (\phi_0, \phi_0 + \frac{\pi}{\alpha})$ . To prevent this brane from self-intersecting, we must take  $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$  as in [20]. The size of this interval and the sign of T determine the angular width  $\Delta \phi$  of the region included in the bulk. Specifically, a negative-tension brane bounds the interval  $(\phi_0, \phi_0 + \frac{\pi}{\alpha})$ ,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>This is found by computing the inner product of the outward-pointing unit normal vectors (given in (E.2)) of the two branes at the intersection depth  $r = r_*$ .

 $<sup>^{15}</sup>$ These are precisely the same annulus branes as those constructed natively in BTZ coordinates. See appendix B.4 for details.



**Figure 8.** Intersecting annulus brane configurations obtained from taking two different strip branes at  $\alpha = \frac{2}{3} < 1$  and rotating them with respect to each other. By taking particular legs of the individual branes that meet at a single intersection point, we get (b) from (a) and (d) from (c). The Lorentzian version of this picture was also considered by [20].

while a positive-tension brane bounds the complementary interval:<sup>16</sup>

$$T > 0 \implies \Delta \phi = 2\pi - \frac{\pi}{\alpha},$$
  

$$T < 0 \implies \Delta \phi = \frac{\pi}{\alpha}.$$
(3.36)

Meanwhile, the circumference of the cylinder is  $\tau_0$  after quotienting, so taking

$$\tau_0 = \frac{\beta}{W} \Delta \phi \tag{3.37}$$

gives a cylinder of the required modulus  $\frac{W}{\beta}$ . The result is a bulk configuration with a single connected brane of fixed tension T interpolating between the two ends of the cylinder. For  $\alpha = 1$ , this is the connected configuration of [11].

However, a single annulus brane is not enough if the two brane tensions, and thus the boundary conditions in the dual BCFT, are different, and so configurations with just one annulus brane cannot describe BCC operators in the open-string spectrum [40]. This problem is remedied by allowing two annulus branes with parameters  $(T_1, \phi_1)$  and  $(T_2, \phi_2)$ to intersect non-smoothly. Assuming that

$$0 \le \phi_1 < \phi_2 < 2\pi, \ \alpha \le 1,$$
 (3.38)

the branes intersect non-trivially since the second brane has been rotated counter-clockwise with respect to the first. We may then construct a single, non-smooth brane by keeping particular "legs" of the two initial annulus branes that meet at an intersection point — see figure 8. The resulting configuration is an annulus of the form figure 9.

If the circumference  $\tau_0$  of the dual cylinder is (3.37), then the intersecting configuration will correspond to a different modulus than those of either of the individual branes. Specifically, the width  $\Delta \phi$  of this new boundary cylinder is a function of  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  depending on which legs and which side of the bulk we keep. Furthermore, the choice of legs determines

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Observe that a T = 0 brane will always have a kink unless  $\alpha = 1$ , and so we cannot have a conical defect for a smooth T = 0 annulus brane.



Figure 9. The configuration obtained by making two annular branes intersect at a finite radius  $r = r_*$  (shown in blue). We also show the conical defect (in green). Both the corner and the conical are  $\tau$ -cycles.

the relative sign of the two brane tensions, and the absolute signs are set by which side of the bulk we then keep.

For example, assume that we keep the leg of  $Q_1$  that intersects the boundary at  $\phi = \phi_1$ . If we also keep the leg of  $Q_2$  that intersects the conformal boundary at  $\phi = \phi_2$  (e.g. figure 8b), then the two brane tensions will have opposite signs — this is the "positive-negative" case. We may then either keep the side of the bulk with the interval  $\phi \in (\phi_1, \phi_2)$  or its complement. In the former case, we have that  $T_1 < 0, T_2 > 0$ , and  $\Delta \phi = \phi_2 - \phi_1$ . In the latter case, the tensions have the opposite signs, and  $\Delta \phi = 2\pi - (\phi_2 - \phi_1)$ .

In contrast, if we keep the  $\phi = \phi_1$  leg of  $\mathcal{Q}_1$  and the  $\phi = \phi_2 + \frac{\pi}{\alpha}$  (modulo  $2\pi$ ) leg of  $\mathcal{Q}_2$ , then the two brane tensions will have the same sign. In figure 8d for example, we may then keep the side of the bulk containing either the interval  $\phi \in (\phi_1, \phi_2 - 2\pi + \frac{\pi}{\alpha})$  or its complement. In the former case, we have  $T_{1,2} < 0$  (the "negative-negative" case) and  $\Delta \phi = \phi_2 - \phi_1 - 2\pi + \frac{\pi}{\alpha}$ . In the latter, we have  $T_{1,2} > 0$  (the "positive-positive" case) and  $\Delta \phi = 4\pi - (\phi_2 - \phi_1 + \frac{\pi}{\alpha})$ .

To summarize, it is possible to use these intersecting-annulus-brane configurations with any combination of two brane tensions to realize BCFT on a cylinder of width  $\Delta\phi$ . To achieve a modulus  $\frac{W}{\beta}$ , we must identify  $\tau$  such that

$$\tau_0 = \frac{\beta}{W} \Delta \phi. \tag{3.39}$$

For simplicity, from here on out we focus on the positive-negative case; we will see that this is sufficient to show that intersecting-annulus configurations realize BCC operators of any sub-threshold scaling dimension.

So far, for fixed tensions, we have a two-parameter family of intersecting brane configurations  $(\alpha, \Theta)$  which are dual to states on a cylinder with fixed modulus  $\frac{W}{\beta}$ . However, observe that the intersection angle  $\Theta$  of the branes is

$$\cos\Theta = \frac{1}{r_*^2} \left( T_1 T_2 f_\alpha(r_*) + \sqrt{r_*^2 - T_1^2 f_\alpha(r_*)} \sqrt{r_*^2 - T_2^2 f_\alpha(r_*)} \right), \tag{3.40}$$

where the intersection depth  $r_*$  may be found by writing the branes in the form (3.22):<sup>17</sup>

$$r_*^2 = \alpha^2 \csc^2\left(\alpha \Delta \phi\right) \left(\frac{T_1^2}{1 - T_1^2} + \frac{T_2^2}{1 - T_2^2} + \frac{2 T_1 T_2 \cos\left(\alpha \Delta \phi\right)}{\sqrt{1 - T_1^2} \sqrt{1 - T_2^2}}\right).$$
 (3.41)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Note that we may take  $\phi_1 = 0$  and  $\phi_2 = \Delta \phi$  without loss of generality. Only the difference in the anchoring points of the legs on the conformal boundary is important here.



Figure 10. A cross-section of an intersecting annulus brane configuration involving three branes. The red shaded region is taken to be the bulk region dual to the BCFT. There are two corners, both of which involve a brane not directly attached to the conformal boundary.

By plugging (3.41) into (3.40), we can see that the individual factors of  $\alpha$  cancel and  $\Theta = \Theta(\alpha \Delta \phi)$ . Thus,  $\Theta$  may be traded for  $\alpha \Delta \phi$ . Recalling the equations of motion (3.13), we then note that the intersection mass M picks out a particular value for  $\alpha \Delta \phi$ .

At this stage, it is convenient to restrict ourselves to a particular interval size. When doing so, we are also restricting to a one-parameter family of intersecting-annulus-brane configurations labeled by  $\alpha$ . The natural value to consider is  $\Delta \phi = \pi$ , because then the boundary cylinder's width then does not depend on which side of the bulk we keep. In this case, the modulus is

$$\frac{\beta}{W} = \frac{\tau_0}{\pi},\tag{3.42}$$

and the intersection depth is

$$r_*^2 = \alpha^2 \csc^2(\pi\alpha) \left( \frac{T_1^2}{1 - T_1^2} + \frac{T_2^2}{1 - T_2^2} + \frac{2 T_1 T_2 \cos(\pi\alpha)}{\sqrt{1 - T_1^2} \sqrt{1 - T_2^2}} \right).$$
(3.43)

Furthermore, because M picks out some value for  $\alpha$ , we have a constraint on the point particle mass m (when the conical line defect is included in the geometry):

$$m = 4\pi \left[ 1 - \alpha(M) \right]. \tag{3.44}$$

One can understand this as a type of stability condition for the interaction between the point particle and the intersection. Indeed, without a point particle (i.e. if m = 0), we cannot have a non-smooth intersection of two different-tension branes because  $\alpha = 1$  implies that the intersection point (3.43) runs to the conformal boundary  $r_* = \infty$ .<sup>18</sup>

Note that this construction from two strips does not exhaustively lead to all possible configurations with a cylindrical boundary. In principle, we may also consider geometries comprised of multiple EOW branes, with only two being anchored to the conformal boundary and the rest "floating" in the bulk — see figure 10. This would require multiple corner terms and could accommodate multiple independent intersection masses. We speculate on these configurations in section 6, but we leave further analysis to future work.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>The exception is when  $T_1 = T_2$ , but for  $\Delta \phi = \pi$  this configuration is really just that of a single brane with no conical defect.

## 4 Scalar exchanges in the closed-string limit

As a proof of concept, we first explore the long-range interaction between two highly separated disk branes. By considering the branes to be far apart, the interaction is mediated by a light bulk field, which we model as being a probe scalar field with mass  $m_{\Phi}$  propagating on the disk brane background. We will work in the closed-string limit of the dual BCFT,

$$\frac{W}{\beta} \to \infty,$$
 (4.1)

which ensures that the disk branes are far apart and in the disconnected phase. Furthermore, we turn off sources at the conformal boundary.

Let us be clear about what exactly we are computing here. Schematically, we will consider a total action  $I = I_G + I_S$ , where

$$I_{\rm G} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{g} \left[ R + \frac{d(d-1)}{\ell^2} \right] - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left( K - T \right), \tag{4.2}$$

$$I_{\rm S} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{g} \left( \nabla^a \Phi \nabla_a \Phi + m_{\Phi}^2 \Phi^2 \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} V(\Phi), \tag{4.3}$$

as a minimal toy model for interactions between AdS branes.  $\kappa^{-1}$  measures the number of dual CFT degrees of freedom and in d = 2 is related to the dual CFT central charge c by the Brown-Henneaux formula (3.1). Meanwhile,  $\kappa_{\Phi}^{-1}$  measures the number of bulk scalar degrees of freedom.

As there is no conical deficit angle in the space, the bulk geometry will be smooth. Additionally, we will work in a probe limit  $\kappa/\kappa_{\Phi} \ll 1$ . It turns out that  $I_{\rm S} \ll I_{\rm G}$  in our regime of interest, and so we will approximate the semiclassical partition function of the Einstein + scalar theory as

$$Z \approx e^{-I_{\rm G}^{\rm on-shell}} \left(1 - I_{\rm S}^{\rm on-shell}\right),\tag{4.4}$$

where we have taken precisely the minimal saddles in the saddle-point approximation and kept the first subleading term in small  $I_S$ . We will split this subleading term into "selfenergy" and "exchange" terms. Focusing on the latter, we will then find that it reproduces an  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  character corresponding to a scalar primary operator exchange in the closedstring channel expansion (2.20) of the BCFT. In other words, we will deduce that the exchange of a scalar between the bulk branes is accounted for by a dual scalar operator and its  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  descendants in the closed-string sector of the BCFT.

## 4.1 Equations of motion and convenient limits

While  $\Phi$  is a Klein-Gordon field in the bulk, in principle it may have any potential V on the brane.<sup>19</sup> For now, we will keep V generic. The classical dynamics are then governed

 $<sup>^{19}</sup>$ Without loss of generality, we may assume that V does not have a constant term. This is because any such term may be absorbed into the RS tension term.

by the following four equations of motion (defining  $\Box = -\nabla_a \nabla^a$ ):

$$G_{ab} - \frac{d(d-1)}{2\ell^2} g_{ab} = \frac{\kappa}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \left[ \nabla_a \Phi \nabla_b \Phi - \frac{g_{ab}}{2} \left( \nabla_c \Phi \nabla^c \Phi + m_{\Phi}^2 \Phi^2 \right) \right], \quad (4.5)$$

$$K_{ab} - \left[K - T + \frac{\kappa}{\kappa_{\Phi}}V(\Phi)\right]h_{ab} = 0, \qquad (4.6)$$

$$\left(\Box + m_{\Phi}^2\right)\Phi = 0,\tag{4.7}$$

$$\left[n^a \partial_a \Phi - V'(\Phi)\right]|_{\mathcal{Q}} = 0. \tag{4.8}$$

Eq. (4.5) and (4.6) are respectively the Einstein equation with scalar matter and the boundary condition dictating the dynamics of the brane, all obtained from varying the action with respect to the metric. Eq. (4.7) and (4.8) are the Klein-Gordon equations and the boundary conditions on  $\Phi$ , all from varying the action with respect to  $\Phi$ . Note that  $n^a$ denotes the outward-pointing unit normal vector at the brane Q.

Equations (4.5)-(4.8) are necessary to fully analyze backreaction on the metric due to the presence of the scalar field. However, we aim to use the scalar field as a toy model for long-range "light" interactions between two infinitely-separated branes. To this end, it is convenient to work in particular limits of the theory in which the physics simplifies.

One limit that we will make extensive use of is the *probe limit*. This is described by the following double scaling limit (in units of  $\ell = 1$ ):

$$\kappa^{-1}, \kappa_{\Phi}^{-1} \to \infty, \quad \frac{\kappa}{\kappa_{\Phi}} = \text{fixed} \ll 1.$$
(4.9)

Physically, the limit  $\kappa_{\Phi}^{-1} \to \infty$  corresponds to taking the total number of scalar fields to be large. The probe limit (4.9) is the statement that the number  $\kappa^{-1} \to \infty$  of D-branes sourcing the AdS geometry is much larger so that the gravitational backreaction of the scalars is negligible. In a top-down context where scalar-field actions can be uplifted to flavor-brane actions [60], the limit (4.9) is dual to the quenched approximation of the CFT [61].

In the probe limit, (4.5)-(4.6) reduce to the vacuum equations. Thus, the metric and branes are solutions to pure gravity, and solving (4.7)-(4.8) becomes a matter of doing field theory on a curved background and with a field-independent embedding of the boundary. In this regime, obtaining analytic results becomes more feasible.<sup>20</sup>

Another simple regime is the *large-mass limit*,  $m_{\Phi}\ell \to \infty$ . Recall that the bulk scalar field is dual to a boundary scalar operator  $\mathcal{O}_{\Phi}$  with conformal dimension  $\Delta_{\Phi}$  such that [62]

$$(m_{\Phi}\ell)^2 = \Delta_{\Phi}(\Delta_{\Phi} - d). \tag{4.10}$$

Working in standard quantization  $\Delta_{\Phi} > \frac{d}{2}$ , the large  $m_{\Phi}\ell$  corresponds to large  $\Delta_{\Phi}$ , so the mass-dimension relation (4.10) simplifies to

$$m_{\Phi}\ell \approx \Delta_{\Phi}.$$
 (4.11)

It is in this regime that correlation functions of  $\mathcal{O}_{\Phi}$  in the BCFT are encoded by geodesics probing classical geometry in the bulk [41, 63, 64]. Furthermore, the classical bulk fields are easier to compute analytically in this limit, as we will see later in this section.

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$ It would still be interesting to consider backreaction effects which are neglected in the probe limit. This would likely require numerics. We leave such an analysis to future work.

### 4.2 Computing scalar actions with branes

To solve the boundary condition for the scalar field, we split it as

$$\Phi = \varphi_{\rm B} + \varphi. \tag{4.12}$$

 $\varphi_{\rm B}$  is the *background field*, which we take as always on-shell. By expanding the brane potential around  $\varphi = 0$ ,

$$V(\Phi) = V(\varphi_{\rm B}) + V'(\varphi_{\rm B})\varphi + \frac{V''(\varphi_{\rm B})}{2}\varphi^2 + O(\varphi^3), \qquad (4.13)$$

the boundary condition (4.8) becomes

$$\left[n^{a}\partial_{a}\varphi_{\rm B} + n^{a}\partial_{a}\varphi - \left(V'(\varphi_{\rm B}) + V''(\varphi_{\rm B})\varphi + O(\varphi^{2})\right)\right]\Big|_{\mathcal{Q}} = 0.$$
(4.14)

Imposing separate boundary conditions on  $\varphi_{\rm B}$  and  $\varphi$ ,

$$\left[n^{a}\partial_{a}\varphi_{\rm B} - V'(\varphi_{\rm B})\right]\Big|_{\mathcal{Q}} = 0, \quad \left[n^{a}\partial_{a}\varphi - \left(V''(\varphi_{\rm B})\varphi + O(\varphi^{2})\right)\right]\Big|_{\mathcal{Q}} = 0, \quad (4.15)$$

is consistent with (4.14), and so the variational principle for  $\Phi$  is well defined.

The purpose of the on-shell background field is to absorb the linear source term V'(0) of the brane-localized potential. Furthermore, near the conformal boundary we require  $\varphi_{\rm B}$  to contain the nonnormalizable mode determining the source J in the dual field theory. In that case,  $\varphi$  is a normalizable fluctuation with a Neumann-type boundary condition (4.15) at the brane, and this fluctuation is integrated over in the bulk path integral.

After integration by parts, the scalar action (4.3) can be written as (defining  $\Box = -\nabla_a \nabla^a$ )

$$I_{\rm S} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{g} \left[ \varphi_{\rm B} \left( \Box + m_{\Phi}^2 \right) \varphi_{\rm B} + 2\varphi \left( \Box + m_{\Phi}^2 \right) \varphi_{\rm B} + \varphi \left( \Box + m_{\Phi}^2 \right) \varphi \right] - \frac{1}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left[ \left( V(\varphi_{\rm B}) - \frac{1}{2} \varphi_{\rm B} n^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} \right) - \left( n^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} - V'(\varphi_{\rm B}) \right) \varphi \right] + \frac{1}{2\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left[ n^a \partial_a \varphi - \left( V''(\varphi_{\rm B}) \varphi + O(\varphi^2) \right) \right] \varphi + \frac{1}{2\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \sqrt{\gamma} \left( \varphi_{\rm B} r^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} + 2\varphi r^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} + \varphi r^a \partial_a \varphi \right).$$

$$(4.16)$$

We have two boundary terms — one supported on  $\mathcal{Q}$  (whose outward-directed unit normal vector is  $n^a$ ) and another on an asymptotic cutoff surface  $\mathcal{B}$  (whose outward-directed unit normal vector is  $r^a$ ). With  $\varphi_{\rm B}$  on-shell, the only remaining bulk term is the quadratic term  $\varphi(\Box + m_{\Phi}^2)\varphi$  which can be integrated over in the bulk path integral in the usual way (with appropriate boundary conditions at the brane). However, in approximating such a path integral by a saddle-point approximation, we also put  $\varphi$  on-shell in the bulk. The resulting action consists purely of boundary terms,

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm on-shell} = -\frac{1}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left[ \left( V(\varphi_{\rm B}) - \frac{1}{2} \varphi_{\rm B} n^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} \right) - \left( n^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} - V'(\varphi_{\rm B}) \right) \varphi \right] + \frac{1}{2\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left[ n^a \partial_a \varphi - \left( V''(\varphi_{\rm B}) \varphi + O(\varphi^2) \right) \right] \varphi + \frac{1}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \sqrt{\gamma} \left( \frac{1}{2} \varphi_{\rm B} r^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} + \varphi r^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} + \frac{1}{2} \varphi r^a \partial_a \varphi \right).$$
(4.17)

We will now take the source to be turned off in the CFT. The  $\mathcal{B}$  term in (4.17) then vanishes both because  $\varphi_{\rm B}$  and  $\varphi$  are normalizable and we are in the standard quantization scheme  $\Delta_{\Phi} > \frac{d}{2}$ . Thus,

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm on-shell}\Big|_{J=0} = -\frac{1}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left[ \left( V(\varphi_{\rm B}) - \frac{1}{2} \varphi_{\rm B} n^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} \right) - \left( n^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} - V'(\varphi_{\rm B}) \right) \varphi \right] + \frac{1}{2\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left[ n^a \partial_a \varphi - \left( V''(\varphi_{\rm B}) \varphi + O(\varphi^2) \right) \right] \varphi,$$

$$(4.18)$$

which after imposing the boundary conditions (4.15) takes the form

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm on-shell} = -\frac{1}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left[ V(\varphi_{\rm B}) - \frac{1}{2} \varphi_{\rm B} V'(\varphi_{\rm B}) + O(\varphi^3) \right].$$
(4.19)

The  $O(\varphi^3)$  terms remain because the boundary condition for  $\varphi$  does not generally cancel the  $O(\varphi^2)$  term in (4.18). However, the coefficients of these terms are all proportional to three-point or higher-point couplings of the scalar to the brane,<sup>21</sup> so in the discussion that follows they identically vanish.

In the following subsection, we will focus on the minimal case of a linear potential

$$V(\Phi) = \lambda \Phi. \tag{4.21}$$

For this potential, the boundary condition (4.15) is

$$(n^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} - \lambda)|_{\mathcal{Q}} = 0, \quad n^a \partial_a \varphi|_{\mathcal{Q}} = 0, \tag{4.22}$$

and we can solve for the background field with this boundary condition in terms of a bulkto-bulk propagator satisfying a Neumann condition at the brane. Furthermore, the on-shell action (4.19) is simply

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm on-shell} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \,\lambda\varphi_{\rm B},\tag{4.23}$$

and so can be evaluated once we solve for  $\varphi_{\rm B}$ .

This procedure can also be applied to the case when  $V(\Phi)$  contains higher-order polynomial interactions, but we reiterate that such terms generally modify both the boundary conditions (4.15) and the on-shell action (4.19). In fact, the on-shell action with higherorder couplings generally depends on the fluctuation  $\varphi$ . However, there is one unusual exception — when the potential is quadratic. In this case, just as for the linear potential the action (4.19) only depends on the background field, but we get Robin boundary conditions on  $\varphi_{\rm B}$  and  $\varphi$ :

$$V(\Phi) = \lambda \Phi + \frac{1}{2} \eta \Phi^2 \implies \begin{cases} (n^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} - \lambda - \eta \varphi_{\rm B})|_{\mathcal{Q}} = 0, \\ (n^a \partial_a \varphi - \eta \varphi)|_{\mathcal{Q}} = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.24)

Hence the bulk-to-bulk propagator must satisfy a Robin condition instead of a Neumann one, even though the on-shell action is independent of the fluctuation.

 $^{21}$ By keeping careful track of the higher-order terms, we find that they contribute to the action (4.19) as

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm on-shell}\Big|_{O(\varphi^3)} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \sum_{k=3}^{\infty} \frac{(2-k)}{k!} V^{(k)}(\varphi_{\rm B}) \varphi^k.$$
(4.20)

## 4.3 Scalar exchange between two branes

The discussion thus far has been schematic, with Q representing some configuration of EOW branes. We are now ready to consider the case where we have two disconnected branes, i.e.  $Q = Q_1 \cup Q_2$ . We respectively furnish these branes with distinct linear potentials:

$$V_{\mathcal{Q}_1}(\Phi) = \lambda_1 \Phi, \quad V_{\mathcal{Q}_2}(\Phi) = \lambda_2 \Phi. \tag{4.25}$$

Thus, from (4.23), the on-shell action is

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm on-shell} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa_{\Phi}} \left( \lambda_1 \int_{\mathcal{Q}_1} \sqrt{h_1} \,\varphi_{\rm B} + \lambda_2 \int_{\mathcal{Q}_2} \sqrt{h_2} \,\varphi_{\rm B} \right). \tag{4.26}$$

To compute this, we have to solve the boundary value problem,

$$(\Box + m_{\Phi}^2)\varphi_{\rm B} = 0, \quad (n_i^a \partial_a \varphi_{\rm B} - \lambda_i)|_{\mathcal{Q}_i} = 0, \quad (i = 1, 2).$$

$$(4.27)$$

To do so, we will use an approach involving the propagator that yields a controlled expansion when the branes are far away from each other.

First, note that the boundary value problem (4.27) can be solved using the bulk-tobulk propagator  $G_N(X, X')$   $(X, X' \in \mathcal{M})$  that obeys Neumann boundary conditions at the two branes,

$$\left(\Box + m_{\Phi}^{2}\right)G_{\mathrm{N}}(X, X') = \delta_{\mathcal{M}}(X, X'), \quad n_{i}^{a}\partial_{a}G_{\mathrm{N}}(X, X')\big|_{X \to \mathcal{Q}_{i}} = 0, \quad (i = 1, 2), \quad (4.28)$$

where the derivative in the boundary condition is on X. In terms of this propagator, the solution of (4.27) is given by [65, 66]

$$\varphi_{\rm B}(X) = \lambda_1 \int_{\mathcal{Q}_1} d^d \hat{x}_1 \sqrt{h_1} \, G_{\rm N}(X, \hat{x}_1) + \lambda_2 \int_{\mathcal{Q}_2} d^d \hat{x}_2 \sqrt{h_2} \, G_{\rm N}(X, \hat{x}_2), \tag{4.29}$$

where  $\hat{x}_i$  denotes worldvolume coordinates of  $\mathcal{Q}_i$  and we have used the short-hand  $G_{\mathrm{N}}(X,\hat{x}) \equiv G_{\mathrm{N}}(X,E_i(\hat{x}))$ , with  $E_i(\hat{x}) \in \mathcal{M}$  being the embedding of the point  $\hat{x} \in \mathcal{Q}_i$  into the bulk. This expression satisfies the required boundary condition (4.27) due to the identity [65]<sup>22</sup>

$$n_i^a \partial_a G_{\rm N}(X, \hat{x}') \big|_{X \to E(\hat{x})} = \delta_{\mathcal{Q}_i}(\hat{x}, \hat{x}'), \quad (i = 1, 2), \tag{4.30}$$

where the limit is taken from the interior and  $\delta_{Q_i}$  is the Dirac delta function on the worldvolume of the brane  $Q_i$ . Substituting (4.29) to (4.26) gives

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm on-shell} = I_{\rm S}^{\rm self} + I_{\rm S}^{\rm exchange}, \tag{4.31}$$

where the scalar self-interaction term is

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm self} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa_{\Phi}} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \lambda_i^2 \int_{\mathcal{Q}_i} d^d \hat{x}_i \sqrt{h_i} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_i} d^d \hat{x}'_i \sqrt{h'_i} G_{\rm N}(\hat{x}_i, \hat{x}'_i), \qquad (4.32)$$

and the scalar exchange term is

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm exchange} = -\frac{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_1} d^d \hat{x}_1 \sqrt{h_1} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_2} d^d \hat{x}_2 \sqrt{h_2} \, G_{\rm N}(\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2). \tag{4.33}$$

<sup>22</sup>Compared to [65], our  $n^a$  is outward-pointing so there is no minus sign on the right-hand side of (4.30).

For our purposes, we focus on the exchange contribution (4.33). The self-interaction term corresponds to a Feynman diagram with a line whose both points end on the same brane, while the exchange term corresponds to a diagram with a line running between the two branes.

For general brane configurations, solving for the Neumann propagator  $G_N$  is very difficult. However, it can be written formally as an infinite series expansion of nested integrals of the pure  $\operatorname{AdS}_{d+1}$  bulk-to-bulk propagator G(X, X'), which satisfies Green's equation without any boundary conditions,

$$(\Box + m_{\Phi}^2) G(X, X') = \delta_{\mathcal{M}}(X, X').$$
(4.34)

The first two terms in the expansion are given by [67-69] as

$$G_{\rm N}(X,X') = G(X,X') - 2\sum_{i=1}^{2} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_i} d^d \hat{x}_i \sqrt{h_i} \, G(X,\hat{x}_i) \, n_i^a \partial_a G(\hat{x}_i,X') + \cdots \,.$$
(4.35)

In the literature, this is called the *multiple-reflection expansion* for the Neumann propagator, and it also exists for the Dirichlet propagator.

The multiple-reflection expansion truncates at the first term when the proper distance between the two branes is very large. Thus in this limit, we can replace  $G_N(X, X')$  in (4.33) by G(X, X'),

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm exchange} = -\frac{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_1} d^d \hat{x}_1 \sqrt{h_1} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_2} d^d \hat{x}_2 \sqrt{h_2} \, G(\hat{x}_1, \hat{x}_2) + \cdots \,. \tag{4.36}$$

In the following discussion, we compute this term explicitly for d = 2 and show that it produces the  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  character of a scalar operator in the closed-string channel.

### 4.4 Reproducing the scalar character

We now focus on the case of a scalar field propagating between two disconnected disk branes in AdS<sub>3</sub>. The region bounded by the two branes is given in equation (3.27) in global AdS<sub>3</sub> coordinates and we set the conical defect parameter  $\alpha = 1$ . Equivalently, we can work in Poincaré AdS coordinates in which the disk branes are hemispheres bounding an annulus with radii  $\mathcal{R}_1 < \mathcal{R}_2$  on the conformal boundary (see figure 11). The ratio  $\mathcal{R}_2/\mathcal{R}_1 = e^{2\pi W/\beta}$  is related to the modular parameter  $\frac{W}{\beta}$  of the cylinder of the CFT. Without loss of generality, we set  $\mathcal{R}_1 = 1$  and  $\mathcal{R}_2 = \tilde{q}^{-1/2}$  where  $\tilde{q} = e^{-4\pi W/\beta}$  is defined in (2.17).

In Poincaré coordinates, the metric of  $AdS_3$  is (setting  $\ell = 1$ )

$$ds^{2} = \frac{dz^{2} + dy^{2} + dx^{2}}{z^{2}}, \quad z > 0, \quad (y, x) \in \mathbb{R}^{2}.$$
(4.37)

In these coordinates, the embeddings (3.25) of the two disk branes  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  are explicitly (see also appendix B)

Brane 1: 
$$(z - \cot \theta_1)^2 + y^2 + x^2 = \csc^2 \theta_1,$$
 (4.38)

Brane 2: 
$$(z + \tilde{q}^{-1/2} \cot \theta_2)^2 + y^2 + x^2 = \tilde{q}^{-1} \csc^2 \theta_2,$$
 (4.39)



Figure 11. On the left, we show the region  $\mathcal{M}$  bounded by two spherical branes  $\mathcal{Q}_1$  and  $\mathcal{Q}_2$ . On the right, we take a transverse slice to better depict the angles  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  that  $\mathcal{Q}_1$  and  $\mathcal{Q}_2$  respectively make with the conformal boundary. The minimal geodesic between the two branes, which is ultimately the main object of interest in this section, is shown in black.

and they intersect the conformal boundary at angles  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$ , respectively (see figure 11).<sup>23</sup> The tensions of the branes are given by

$$T_1 = -\cos\theta_1, \quad T_2 = -\cos\theta_2.$$
 (4.40)

We parametrize the embeddings in terms of the Cartesian coordinates (y, x) so that  $z = z_1(y, x)$  solves (4.38) and  $z = z_2(y, x)$  solves (4.39). In terms of the embedding maps, we write that  $E_i(y, x) = (z_i(y, x), y, x) \in \mathcal{M}$  (where i = 1, 2) and the worldvolume coordinates of both branes are  $\hat{x} = (y, x)$ .

Lastly, we may write the  $AdS_3$  bulk-to-bulk propagator in these coordinates. Generally the  $AdS_3$  propagator is given by (see for example [70])

$$G(X, X') = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{e^{-\Delta_{\Phi}L}}{1 - e^{-2L}},$$
(4.41)

where L = L(X, X') is the geodesic distance between two bulk points and  $\Delta_{\Phi} > \frac{d}{2}$  is given by the mass  $m_{\Phi}$  through (4.10). In Poincaré coordinates with X = (z, y, x) and X' = (z', y', x'), this distance is

$$L = \log\left(\frac{1+\sqrt{1-\xi^2}}{\xi}\right), \quad \xi = \frac{2zz'}{z^2 + z'^2 + (y-y')^2 + (x-x')^2}.$$
 (4.42)

Thus, to leading order in the multiple-reflection expansion, the scalar exchange term (4.36) becomes

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm exchange} = -\frac{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}{2\pi \kappa_{\Phi}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_1} d^2 \hat{x}_1 \int_{\mathcal{Q}_2} d^2 \hat{x}_2 \sqrt{h_1} \sqrt{h_2} \, \frac{e^{-\Delta_{\Phi} L}}{1 - e^{-2L}},\tag{4.43}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>Note that the way in which the angle for  $Q_1$  is defined here is the opposite from how the angles are defined in appendix B. Thus, we must plug  $\pi - \theta_1$  into the expression (B.10), which is why we have a minus sign below.

where the geodesics being integrated over are restricted to those connecting  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ .<sup>24</sup> The product of induced metric determinants for disk branes (4.38)–(4.39) is

$$\sqrt{h_1}\sqrt{h_2} = \frac{\tilde{q}^{-1/2}\csc\theta_1\csc\theta_2}{z_1(y_1,x_1)^2 z_2(y_2,x_2)^2 \sqrt{(\csc^2\theta_1 - y_1^2 - x_2^2)(\tilde{q}^{-1}\csc^2\theta_2 - y_2^2 - x_2^2)}}.$$
 (4.44)

Analytically performing this integral for general  $\Delta_{\Phi}$  is unfeasible. Hence we consider the large-mass limit  $\Delta_{\Phi} \to \infty$  where the integral can be computed using the saddle-point approximation. To this end, we introduce the vector  $\vec{v} = (x_1, y_1, x_2, y_2)$  so that the integral is computed in  $\mathbb{R}^4$ , and we denote the bulk geodesic anchored to the branes at  $E_1(y_1, x_1)$  and  $E_2(y_2, x_2)$  as  $L(\vec{v})$ . For a general integral over any open subset  $\Omega$  of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,<sup>25</sup> the saddle-point approximation states that

$$\int_{\Omega} \prod_{i=1}^{n} dv_i \, g(\vec{v}) e^{-\Delta_{\Phi} L(\vec{v})} = \left(\frac{2\pi}{\Delta_{\Phi}}\right)^{n/2} \frac{g(\vec{v}_*) \, e^{-\Delta_{\Phi} L(\vec{v}_*)}}{\sqrt{\det\left(L_{ij}\right)}} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\Phi}^{-1})\right],\tag{4.45}$$

where  $\vec{v}_* \in \Omega$  is a minimum of  $L(\vec{v})$  and  $L_{ij}$  is the Hessian of  $L(\vec{v})$  at the saddle-point,

$$L_{ij} = \left(\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial v_i \partial v_j}\right)\Big|_{\vec{v}=\vec{v}_*}.$$
(4.46)

The minimal geodesic runs between the inner-most points, i.e. the turning points, of the two branes which are located at the origin of the transverse plane  $\vec{v} = 0$ . The radial depths  $z_{1*}, z_{2*}$  of these two points are

$$z_{1*} = \cot \frac{\theta_1}{2}, \quad z_{2*} = \tilde{q}^{-1/2} \tan \frac{\theta_2}{2},$$
(4.47)

such that  $z_{2*} > z_{1*}$ . Thus this geodesic has length

$$L_* = \log \frac{z_{2*}}{z_{1*}} = \log \left( \tilde{q}^{-1/2} \tan \frac{\theta_1}{2} \tan \frac{\theta_2}{2} \right).$$
(4.48)

Applying (4.45) with n = 4 to our integral (4.43), we get

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm exchange} = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \frac{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}{\Delta_{\Phi}^2} \frac{1}{z_{1*}^2 z_{2*}^2 \sqrt{\det\left(L_{ij}\right)}} \frac{e^{-\Delta_{\Phi} L_*}}{1 - e^{-2L_*}}, \quad \Delta_{\Phi} \to \infty.$$
(4.49)

which is valid up to  $\mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\Phi}^{-3})$  corrections. Furthermore, we may compute the saddle-point values of the components of the Hessian explicitly.<sup>26</sup> Because the Hessian is symmetric, we

 $<sup>^{24}</sup>$ Note that L in this integral should be read as a function of two points with one on each brane, i.e. as a function of four free variables, rather than as a function of two bulk points consisting of six free variables.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>The shape of the integration region is not relevant in the saddle-point approximation due to the rapid exponential damping of the integral away from the saddle-point.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>We do so by differentiating (4.38) and (4.39) to solve for the first and second derivatives of  $z_i(y_i, x_i)$ , then setting  $y_i = x_i = 0$  and using (4.47).

only need to evaluate 10 of its components:

$$L_{11} = L_{22} = \frac{z_{1*}^2 + z_{2*}^2 + (z_{2*}^2 - z_{1*}^2)\cos\theta_1}{z_{1*}^2(z_{2*}^2 - z_{1*}^2)},$$
(4.50)

$$L_{33} = L_{44} = \frac{z_{1*}^2 + z_{2*}^2 + (z_{2*}^2 - z_{1*}^2)\cos\theta_2}{z_{2*}^2(z_{2*}^2 - z_{1*}^2)},$$
(4.51)

$$L_{13} = L_{24} = \frac{2}{z_{1*}^2 - z_{2*}^2},\tag{4.52}$$

$$L_{12} = L_{14} = L_{23} = L_{34} = 0. (4.53)$$

We then find that

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\det(L_{ij})}} = \frac{(z_{2*}^2 - z_{1*}^2)z_{1*}^2 z_{2*}^2}{(1 + \cos\theta_1)(1 + \cos\theta_2)z_{2*}^2 - (1 - \cos\theta_1)(1 - \cos\theta_2)z_{1*}^2}.$$
 (4.54)

Using (4.47) and (4.48), we can write (4.54) as

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\det(L_{ij})}} = \frac{\csc\theta_1 \csc\theta_2}{1 - \tilde{q}} \frac{1 - e^{-2L_*}}{\cot\frac{\theta_1}{2}\cot\frac{\theta_2}{2}} z_{1*}^2 z_{2*}^2.$$
(4.55)

Substituting into (4.49), we get

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm exchange} = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \frac{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}{\Delta_{\Phi}^2} \frac{\csc \theta_1 \csc \theta_2}{\cot \frac{\theta_1}{2} \cot \frac{\theta_2}{2}} \frac{e^{-\Delta_{\Phi} L_*}}{1 - \tilde{q}}, \quad \Delta_{\Phi} \to \infty.$$
(4.56)

Since  $e^{-\Delta_{\Phi}L_*} = \tilde{q}^{\Delta_{\Phi}/2} \left(\cot \frac{\theta_1}{2} \cot \frac{\theta_2}{2}\right)^{\Delta_{\Phi}}$ , we finally write the scalar exchange term explicitly as

$$I_{\rm S}^{\rm exchange} = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \left(\frac{\lambda_1 \csc \theta_1}{\Delta_{\Phi}}\right) \left(\frac{\lambda_2 \csc \theta_2}{\Delta_{\Phi}}\right) \left(\cot \frac{\theta_1}{2} \cot \frac{\theta_2}{2}\right)^{\Delta_{\Phi} - 1} \frac{\tilde{q}^{\Delta_{\Phi}/2}}{1 - \tilde{q}}, \quad \Delta_{\Phi} \to \infty.$$
(4.57)

Lastly, recall that the integrand of the path integral also incorporates the pure gravitational action with two disconnected branes. We will compute its on-shell value  $I_{\rm G}^{\rm on-shell}$  with a defect present in section 5.3. For now, we take the result (5.22) and set  $\alpha = 1$  to write

$$I_{\rm G}^{\rm on-shell} = -\frac{c}{6} \left( \frac{\pi W}{\beta} + {\rm Tanh}^{-1} T_1 + {\rm Tanh}^{-1} T_2 \right)$$
  
$$\implies e^{-I_{\rm G}^{\rm on-shell}} = \tilde{q}^{-\frac{c}{24}} \left( \frac{1+T_1}{1-T_1} \right)^{\frac{c}{12}} \left( \frac{1+T_2}{1-T_2} \right)^{\frac{c}{12}}.$$
(4.58)

We note that  $I_{\rm S}^{\rm on-shell} \ll I_{\rm G}^{\rm on-shell}$ <sup>27</sup> and so we may use the approximation (4.4) to write the contribution of the exchange term to the partition function as

$$Z_{\text{exchange}} = -e^{-I_{\text{G}}^{\text{on-shell}}} I_{\text{S}}^{\text{exchange}}, \qquad (4.59)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>It is reasonable to think that the  $\lambda$  couplings may compensate for the fact that  $\kappa/\kappa_{\Phi} \ll 1$ . However, as we are working in the closed-string limit,  $I_{\rm S}^{\rm on-shell}$  will still be subleading to  $I_{\rm G}^{\rm on-shell}$  with respect to  $\tilde{q}$ .

Putting everything together, we get

$$Z_{\text{exchange}} = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa_{\Phi}} \prod_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\lambda_{i}}{\Delta_{\Phi}(1-T_{i})} \left(\frac{1+T_{i}}{1-T_{i}}\right)^{\frac{c}{12}-h_{\Phi}} \chi_{h_{\Phi}}^{\text{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})}(\tilde{q}), \tag{4.60}$$

where  $h_{\Phi} = \frac{\Delta_{\Phi}}{2}$  is the weight of the dual scalar operator (which is spinless). Additionally, we have used (4.40) and defined

$$\chi_h^{\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})} = \frac{\tilde{q}^{h-\frac{c}{24}}}{1-\tilde{q}}.$$
(4.61)

This is the character of an  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  irreducible representation of weight  $h^{28}$  We can see that  $Z_{\text{exchange}}$  gives exactly the contribution of a scalar primary state  $|\Delta_{\Phi}\rangle$  and its  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  descendants to the closed-string limit (2.26) of the Euclidean path integral of the BCFT. From (4.60) we can then identify the overlaps

$$\langle T_i | \Delta_{\Phi} \rangle = \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\kappa_{\Phi}}} \frac{\lambda_i}{\Delta_{\Phi} (1 - T_i)} \left(\frac{1 + T_i}{1 - T_i}\right)^{\frac{c}{12} - h_{\Phi}}.$$
(4.63)

which are valid at leading order in the large- $\Delta_{\Phi}$  limit. Subleading corrections to the geodesic approximation (4.45) only modify the coefficient of the character by terms of order  $\mathcal{O}(\Delta_{\Phi}^{-3})$ . Hence the  $\tilde{q}$ -dependence remains the same at finite  $\Delta_{\Phi}$ , which is expected from the CFT side.

We conclude that a scalar field in the disk-brane background describes a light closedstring state whose dimension is fixed by the scalar mass and whose overlaps with boundary states are given by (4.63). The reason why we obtained contributions from global descendants is that we took into account fluctuations around the minimal geodesic running between the tips of two the branes; the 1-loop correction (4.55) to the geodesic approximation contains the factor  $(1 - \tilde{q})^{-1}$  encoding the descendants. These fluctuations in the geodesic position can be equivalently described as small fluctuations of the classical background metric that correspond to tree level graviton-scalar interactions. The appearance of the full Virasoro character would require taking into account 1-loop interactions between gravitons and the scalar field which goes beyond our large-*c* classical bulk computation above. We leave exploration of such subleading effects to future work.

## 5 Conical defect exchanges at finite modulus

We now depart from the  $\frac{W}{\beta} \to \infty$  regime dominated by light brane interactions in the bulk and focus on finite moduli. Geometrically, this corresponds to the branes being close so that merging configurations become possible.

$$\chi_{h}^{\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})}(\tilde{q}) = \mathrm{Tr}_{\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})}\left(\tilde{q}^{\mathcal{L}_{0}-c/24}\right) = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \tilde{q}^{h+N-c/24} = \frac{\tilde{q}^{h-c/24}}{1-\tilde{q}}.$$
(4.62)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Recall that this character is computed as the trace of  $\tilde{q}^{\mathcal{L}_0-c/24}$  over the SL(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ ) subalgebra (generated by  $\{\mathcal{L}_{-1}, \mathcal{L}_0, \mathcal{L}_1\}$ ) of the Virasoro algebra,

In the bulk, we schematically have three possible EOW brane configurations corresponding to a cylinder of fixed modulus on the boundary (as shown in section 3.3): two disconnected "disk" branes (figure 1a), one smooth and connected "annular" brane (figure 1b), and one non-smooth and connected brane (figure 1c). In addition to branes and their intersections, each configuration also contains a conical line defect.

In this section, we compute Euclidean on-shell actions of these brane configurations and extract dual BCFT data. We compute the actions by writing them as boundary integrals consisting of the ADM mass and the Wald entropy. We find that disconnected-disk-brane configurations are dual to heavy closed-string states whose dimensions are of order O(c)and below the black hole threshold, i.e.  $\Delta^{cl} < \frac{c}{12}$ . Similarly, intersecting annulus brane configurations are dual to heavy open-string states whose dimensions are also below the threshold. We identify these open-string states with BCC operators, and we demonstrate that the gap  $\Delta_{bcc} \in (0, \frac{c}{12})$  can be filled.

### 5.1 Euclidean on-shell action and the ADM mass

We first discuss how to compute Euclidean on-shell actions of our bulk brane configurations as boundary integrals. We can do so because all of our bulk geometries have a global Killing vector that can be used to foliate the spacetime. As a result, the gravitational on-shell action reduces to a difference between the Arnowitt-Deser-Misner (ADM) mass and the Wald entropy, each of which are codimension-2 integrals.

Consider a Euclidean manifold that has a Killing vector field  $\xi^a$  obeying  $\nabla^{(a}\xi^{b)} = 0$ . The vector  $\xi^a$  generates a flow, and we foliate the space by Cauchy slices  $\Sigma_u$  labeled by a parameter  $u \in (0, u_0)$  (which we will suppress for convenience) — see figure 12 for a pair of examples in conical AdS<sub>3</sub>. These Cauchy slices are orthogonal to the flow lines of  $\xi^a$ . This is essentially a general Euclidean version of the ADM decomposition [71] in which the metric takes the form

$$ds^2 = N^2 du^2 + ds_{\Sigma}^2. (5.1)$$

The Killing vector satisfies  $\xi_a \xi^a = N^2$ , and so the unit normal vector field associated with it is  $u^a = N^{-1} \xi^a$  such that  $u_a u^a = 1$ . Since  $\xi^a$  is a Killing vector, the lapse does not depend on u, i.e.  $\partial_u N = 0$ . We will assume that the *u*-direction is also periodic with period  $u_0$  so that there are no future or past boundaries in the *u*-direction. This turns out to be the case for our brane configurations.

We start by considering the BCFT Hamiltonian which is an integral of the stress tensor. On the gravity side, it corresponds to the on-shell value of the gravitational Hamiltonian. This is a pure boundary term in the presence of a Killing vector, and it is identified as the ADM mass [72, 73],<sup>29</sup>

$$M_{\rm ADM} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}\cap\Sigma} \sqrt{\hat{\gamma}} \left( u_a r_b \,\nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} + N\mathcal{K} \right),\tag{5.2}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>There is a choice of orientation for the surface  $\mathcal{B}$  which shows up as a sign in the first term of (5.2). We have chosen the orientation such that  $r^a$  is outward pointing and  $u^a$  points towards the direction of increasing u. If we were foliating a Lorentzian spacetime with  $u^a$  being timelike and future directed, then we would get an additional minus sign in the first term of (5.2).



Figure 12. Two ADM foliations of conical  $AdS_3$  (3.14). In (a), we take the foliation coordinate u to be  $\phi$ , which is periodic. Additionally, the *u*-cycle shrinks to 0 at r = 0, which is a horizon that acts as a boundary for each Cauchy slice  $\Sigma$ . In (b), we take the foliation coordinate to be  $\tau$  and we may make it periodic (resulting in a decomposition of the torus into disks). For this foliation, the slices do not contain horizons acting as boundaries in the bulk, and the conical line defect runs orthogonally to the slices. These are the decompositions relevant to our particular configurations.

where  $\mathcal{B} \cap \Sigma$  is a slice of the cutoff surface  $\mathcal{B}$  near infinity,  $r^a$  is its the outward-pointing unit normal vector (which is orthogonal to  $u^a$ ), and

$$\gamma_{ab} = g_{ab} - r_a r_b, \quad \hat{\gamma}_{ab} = g_{ab} - r_a r_b - u_a u_b, \quad \mathcal{K}_{ab} = \gamma_a^c \gamma_b^d \, \nabla_c r_d. \tag{5.3}$$

The projector  $\gamma$  gives the induced metric on  $\mathcal{B}$ , and the projector  $\hat{\gamma}$  gives the induced metric on  $\mathcal{B} \cap \Sigma$ . The first term in (5.2) is proportional to the Komar mass, which is the Noether charge of the Killing symmetry at infinity, and the second term arises from the Gibbons-Hawking-York boundary term of the gravitational action [72, 73].

In asymptotically locally  $\operatorname{AdS}_{d+1}$  spaces, the expression (5.2) for the ADM mass is divergent. It can be renormalized by adding a counterterm  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}}$  that only depends on the induced metric  $\gamma$  of the cutoff surface  $\mathcal{B}$ :

$$M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}\cap\Sigma} \sqrt{\hat{\gamma}} \left( u_a r_b \,\nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} + N \left( \mathcal{K} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}} \right) \right). \tag{5.4}$$

This (renormalized) ADM mass satisfies the equation [72]

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = u_0 \left( M_{\text{ADM}}^{\text{ren}} - \frac{\kappa_s}{2\pi} S_{\text{W}} \right), \quad S_{\text{W}} = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa} A_{\mathcal{H}}, \tag{5.5}$$

where  $I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}}$  is the renormalized Euclidean on-shell action,  $A_{\mathcal{H}}$  is the area of a horizon acting as a boundary in the Cauchy slice (with  $S_{\text{W}}$  being the associated *Wald entropy* functional [72] in Einstein gravity), and  $\kappa_{\text{s}}$  is the surface gravity of the horizon. In Euclidean signature, a horizon corresponds to a surface where the *u*-circle shrinks to zero size.<sup>30</sup> For a given a gravitational theory on the left-hand side, we emphasize this equation can be seen as the *definition* of the ADM mass (and Wald entropy) in that theory.

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$ If the *u*-direction is non-compact, there are no horizons and the temperature is zero.

The punchline is that we can calculate the Euclidean on-shell action from the ADM mass and Wald entropy, and so this is how we perform our later calculations. Prior to doing so, let us discuss how the expression for the ADM mass (5.4) can be simplified. We define

$$\hat{g}_{ab} = g_{ab} - u_a u_b, \quad \hat{\mathcal{K}}_{ab} = \hat{g}_a^c \, \hat{g}_b^d \, \mathcal{K}_{cd} \tag{5.6}$$

which are respectively the projector onto the slice  $\Sigma$  and the extrinsic curvature of the cutoff surface  $\mathcal{B} \cap \Sigma$  as embedded in the slice. We can then write the trace of the extrinsic curvature as

$$\mathcal{K} = \widehat{\mathcal{K}} + u^a u^b \mathcal{K}_{ab} = \widehat{\mathcal{K}} - N^{-1} u_a r_b \nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]}, \qquad (5.7)$$

where we have used  $r_a u^a = 0$ ,  $u^a = N^{-1} \xi^a$ , and  $\nabla^{(a} \xi^{b)} = 0$ . Substituting to the formula (5.4) for the ADM mass, we get<sup>31</sup>

$$M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}\cap\Sigma} N\sqrt{\hat{\gamma}} \, (\widehat{\mathcal{K}} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}}), \tag{5.9}$$

where the contribution from the Noether charge has cancelled. This form of the mass allows for easier computation.

The formula (5.4) (and (5.9)) is valid when there are no additional boundaries such as EOW branes present in the geometry. In the presence of intersecting branes with matter content  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}$  and  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}}$ , we claim that the formula (5.4) is modified to

$$M_{\text{ADM}}^{\text{ren}} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}\cap\Sigma} \sqrt{\hat{\gamma}} \left( u_a r_b \nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} + N \left( \mathcal{K} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}} \right) \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}\cap\Sigma} \sqrt{\hat{h}} \left( u_a n_b \nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} + N \left( \mathcal{K} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right) \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C}\cap\Sigma} N \sqrt{\hat{\sigma}} \left( \Theta - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}} \right), \quad (5.10)$$

where we now have extra terms localized on the branes and on their intersections.<sup>32</sup> This new formula for the ADM mass is proven in appendix D by showing that it reproduces the defining equation (5.5). In addition, the result of the calculation in appendix D shows that an action  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}} \propto \delta_{\mathcal{D}}$  of a codimension-2 conical defect  $\mathcal{D}$  does not directly contribute to the on-shell action appearing (5.5) when the worldsheet of  $\mathcal{D}$  is tangent to the Killing vector  $\xi^a$ .

Applying the identity (5.7) to the extrinsic curvatures in (5.10), we can write it as

$$M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}\cap\Sigma} N\sqrt{\hat{\gamma}} \, (\widehat{\mathcal{K}} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}}) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}\cap\Sigma} N\sqrt{\hat{h}} \, (\widehat{K} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C}\cap\Sigma} N\sqrt{\hat{\sigma}} \, (\Theta - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}}).$$
(5.11)

with extra terms compared to (5.9). With this machinery, we can compute Euclidean on-shell actions of our bulk brane configurations simply by computing the ADM mass

$$M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm rel} \equiv M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren} - M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren}|_{(0)} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}\cap\Sigma} N\sqrt{\hat{\gamma}} \left(\widehat{\mathcal{K}} - \widehat{\mathcal{K}}|_{(0)}\right), \tag{5.8}$$

and is the formula originally presented in [74] in asymptotically flat spaces.

 $<sup>^{31}\</sup>mathrm{This}$  can be seen as the "absolute" ADM mass. The "relative" ADM mass is the difference

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>There are also Hayward terms and counterterms at the corners  $\mathcal{Q} \cap \mathcal{B}$  shared by the branes and the conformal boundary. However, they are both purely divergent and will cancel each other without leaving any finite contributions as shown in our explicit disk-brane action calculation in appendix E. Hence, we will neglect such divergences in the formula (5.10) and later computations.

and areas of horizons. Both of these quantities are simple surface integrals that allow us to sidestep the volume integration appearing in the Euclidean action. This is rather convenient because such volume integrals can be complicated for multi-intersecting brane configurations.

With three bulk dimensions d = 2, only the area counterterm is needed to renormalize the ADM mass (and the on-shell action — see appendix E), and the coefficient is unity —  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}} = 1$ . For constant tension branes with  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}} = T$ , the boundary Einstein equation implies that  $K_{ab}|_{\mathcal{Q}} = T h_{ab}|_{\mathcal{Q}}$ , and when projected onto  $\mathcal{Q} \cap \Sigma$  this further implies  $\widehat{K}_{ab}|_{\mathcal{Q} \cap \Sigma} = T \widehat{h}_{ab}|_{\mathcal{Q} \cap \Sigma}$ . Taking the trace gives

$$\widehat{K} - T = 0. \tag{5.12}$$

Similarly, for a corner mass term  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}} = M$ , the corner Einstein equation states that

$$\Theta - M = 0. \tag{5.13}$$

Hence the last two terms in the formula (5.11) for the ADM mass vanish and we simply get

$$M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}\cap\Sigma} N\sqrt{\hat{\gamma}} \, (\hat{\mathcal{K}} - 1).$$
 (5.14)

Combining this with the defining expression (5.5) we can compute Euclidean on-shell actions with ease. As a result in three bulk dimensions, brane matter content does not directly contribute to the on-shell action, but they can contribute indirectly by determining locations of the branes: the Wald entropy term in (5.5) can be sensitive to how the branes are embedded deep in the bulk. The same holds true for the point particle action  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}} = m\delta_{\mathcal{D}}$ , which does not directly contribute to the on-shell action either (when the worldline  $\mathcal{D}$  is tangent to  $\xi^a$ ). However, the presence of the particle can show up indirectly through the deficit angle created by its backreaction.<sup>33</sup>

#### 5.2 On-shell actions of disk-brane configurations

We first compute on-shell actions of disk-brane configurations presented in section 3.3. These configurations enjoy translation symmetry in the  $\phi$ -direction. Hence we foliate the conical global AdS<sub>3</sub> geometry (3.14) by constant- $\phi$  slices so that

$$N = r, \quad u^a = \frac{1}{r} \delta^a_{\phi}, \quad \xi^a = \delta^a_{\phi}. \tag{5.15}$$

See figure 13 for visual representations of this foliation. Note that the central r = 0 line acts as a horizon in these Cauchy slices, and so the Euclidean on-shell actions of the disk-brane configurations may see contributions from Wald entropy terms.

Non-intersecting disk branes. Consider now two disconnected disk branes in the defect  $AdS_3$  geometry such that there is a line defect exposed running between the two tips

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>Including the point particle action  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}} = m\delta_{\mathcal{D}}$  to the on-shell action would show up as an extra bulk contribution to the ADM mass (5.14). This is unphysical from the CFT perspective, because the ADM mass is dual to an integral of the CFT stress tensor expectation value which is a boundary object. Indeed, it can be shown [59] (which we also see below) that the mass (5.14) without the point particle action computes correctly the scaling dimension of a heavy sub-threshold operator.



Figure 13. Slicings of disk brane configurations used in the computation of their Euclidean onshell actions. We identify u with the angular ( $\phi$ ) direction in (3.14). Note that the central r = 0line (which is the position of the conical defect) is a horizon in this slicing.

of the branes. As shown in figure 13a, we slice the geometry by constant- $\phi$  slices so that the representative Cauchy slice is

$$\Sigma = \{ \phi = 0, \quad 0 < r < \Lambda, \quad -F_1(r) < \tau < F_2(r) \}$$
(5.16)

with  $F_i(r) \equiv F(r; T_i, \tau_i)$ . The foliation is parameterized by  $\phi \in (0, 2\pi)$ , so  $u_0 = 2\pi$ . The Cauchy slice has three boundary components —  $Q_1 \cap \Sigma$ ,  $Q_2 \cap \Sigma$ , and  $\mathcal{D}$  — with the conical line defect at r = 0 being a horizon where the  $\phi$ -circle shrinks to zero. The Euclidean on-shell action is thus given by,

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = 2\pi \left( M_{\text{ADM}}^{\text{ren}} - \frac{\kappa_{\text{s}}}{2\pi} S_{\text{W}} \right), \tag{5.17}$$

where the ADM mass is

$$M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren} = -\lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{-F_1(\Lambda)}^{F_2(\Lambda)} d\tau \,\Lambda \sqrt{f_\alpha(\Lambda)} \left[ \frac{f'_\alpha(\Lambda)}{2\sqrt{f_\alpha(\Lambda)}} - 1 \right] = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \,\alpha^2 \,(\tau_1 + \tau_2), \tag{5.18}$$

and the Wald entropy term is proportional to the proper length of the conical line defect,

$$\frac{\kappa_{\rm s}}{2\pi} S_{\rm W} = \frac{\kappa_{\rm s}}{\kappa} \int_{-F_1(0)}^{F_2(0)} d\tau \,\alpha = \frac{1}{\kappa} \,\alpha^2 \left(\tau_1 + \tau_2\right) + \frac{1}{\kappa} \,\alpha \left(\operatorname{Tanh}^{-1} T_1 + \operatorname{Tanh}^{-1} T_2\right). \tag{5.19}$$

Note that we have used  $F_i(0) = \tau_i + \frac{1}{\alpha} \operatorname{Tanh}^{-1} T_i$  and that the surface gravity in is given by  $\kappa_s = \alpha$ .<sup>34</sup> By plugging these expressions into the Euclidean on-shell action (5.17), we find that

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \left[ \frac{1}{2} \alpha^2 \left( \tau_1 + \tau_2 \right) + \alpha \left( \text{Tanh}^{-1} T_1 + \text{Tanh}^{-1} T_2 \right) \right],$$
(5.20)

which we have reproduced by an explicit calculation of the renormalized action in appendix **E**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>One can compute Wald entropy explicitly (see (D.4)) using  $\phi_a n_b^{\mathcal{D}} \nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]}|_{r=0} = -\sqrt{f_\alpha(r)}|_{r=0} = -\alpha$ , where  $n_a^{\mathcal{D}} = -r_a$  is the outward-pointing unit normal of  $\mathcal{D}$ . The minus sign is cancelled, because the integration direction over  $\mathcal{D}$  is in the negative  $\tau$ -direction (opposite to the integration direction of  $\mathcal{B} \cap \Sigma$ which is in the positive  $\tau$ -direction) leading to (5.19).

Now, we write this in terms of boundary data. Recall that the modulus of the boundary cylinder is given by

$$\frac{\tau_1 + \tau_2}{2\pi} = \frac{W}{\beta},\tag{5.21}$$

which gives  $\tau_1 + \tau_2 = \frac{2\pi W}{\beta}$ . By plugging this into (5.20), we write

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \left[ \alpha^2 \, \frac{\pi W}{\beta} + \alpha \, \left( \text{Tanh}^{-1} \, T_1 + \text{Tanh}^{-1} \, T_2 \right) \right]. \tag{5.22}$$

The corresponding contribution to the BCFT partition function is

$$e^{-I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}}} = \left(\frac{1+T_1}{1-T_1}\right)^{\frac{c}{12}\alpha} \left(\frac{1+T_2}{1-T_2}\right)^{\frac{c}{12}\alpha} \tilde{q}^{-\frac{c}{24}\alpha^2}$$
(5.23)

where we have used  $\frac{2\pi}{\kappa} = \frac{c}{6}$  and  $\tilde{q} = e^{-4\pi W/\beta}$ . From the dependence on  $\tilde{q}$ , it follows that this geometry is dual to an eigenstate  $|\Delta^{cl}\rangle$  of the closed-string Hamiltonian  $H^{cl}$  with dimension (noting that the spin vanishes)

$$\Delta^{\rm cl} = \frac{c}{12} \left( 1 - \alpha^2 \right) \tag{5.24}$$

and with overlaps

$$\langle T_i | \Delta^{\rm cl} \rangle = \left( \frac{1+T_i}{1-T_i} \right)^{\frac{c}{12}\alpha}.$$
 (5.25)

For  $\alpha = 1$ , the dual state is the closed-string vacuum as in [11]. Meanwhile, for  $\alpha < 1$ , the dual states are excited and comprise a heavy but sub-threshold spectrum, since  $\Delta^{cl} = O(c)$  and  $\Delta^{cl} < \frac{c}{12}$ .

**Intersecting disk branes.** We now consider two intersecting disk branes. Recall that there are two ways in which such branes may intersect:

$$T_1 + T_2 > 0 \implies \text{cutting and gluing,}$$
  
 $T_1 + T_2 \le 0 \implies \text{decreasing the modulus.}$ 

$$(5.26)$$

Let us start with the action of the first type of configuration for which the conical line defect is contained in the bulk. We assume that the branes are cut and glued at radial depth  $r = r_*$ , which is a free parameter. Any representative Cauchy slice consists of two pieces (3.32). The outer  $r \in (r_*, \Lambda)$  part of the  $\phi = 0$  Cauchy slice is

$$\Sigma_{r>r_*} = \{ \phi = 0, \ r_* < r < \Lambda, \ -F_1(r) < \tau < F_2(r) \},$$
(5.27)

and the inner  $r \in [0, r_*]$  part is

$$\Sigma_{r < r_*} = \{ \phi = 0, \quad 0 \le r \le r_*, \quad -F_1(r_*) < \tau < F_2(r_*) \}, \tag{5.28}$$

As an example, the configuration with two positive-tension branes is shown in figure 13b.

Just as before, the on-shell action is given by (5.17). The ADM mass is the same as in the non-intersecting case (5.18). The only difference this time is the calculation of the Wald entropy. Specifically, by integrating over the conical line defect in the domain (5.28), we have that

$$\frac{\kappa_{\rm s}}{2\pi} S_{\rm W} = \frac{\kappa_{\rm s}}{\kappa} \int_{-F_1(r_*)}^{F_2(r_*)} d\tau \,\alpha = \frac{1}{\kappa} \alpha^2 \left[ F_1(r_*) + F_2(r_*) \right]. \tag{5.29}$$

Because  $r_* > 0$ , this term takes the form

$$\frac{\kappa_{\rm s}}{2\pi} S_{\rm W} = \frac{1}{\kappa} \alpha^2 (\tau_1 + \tau_2) + \frac{1}{\kappa} \alpha \left[ \operatorname{Tanh}^{-1} T_1^{\rm eff}(r_*) + \operatorname{Tanh}^{-1} T_2^{\rm eff}(r_*) \right], \qquad (5.30)$$

where we have defined "effective" tensions which depend on  $r_*$ ,

$$T_i^{\text{eff}}(r_*) = \frac{T_i \alpha}{\sqrt{f_\alpha(r_*) - T_i^2 r_*^2}}.$$
(5.31)

Note that we may also use the corner Einstein equation  $\Theta(r_*) = M$ , where the intersection angle is given in terms of  $r_*$  in (3.33), to write the effective tensions as functions of M:

$$T_i^{\text{eff}}(M) = T_i \sqrt{1 - \frac{(1 - T_i^2)\sin^2 M}{(T_j - T_i \cos M)^2}}, \quad j \neq i.$$
(5.32)

In terms of the effective tensions, the Wald entropy term is the same as in the disconnected case. So, the remainder of the calculation is the same as above, and we have that the contribution to the BCFT partition function from the cut-and-glued configuration is

$$e^{-I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}}} = \left(\frac{1+T_1^{\text{eff}}}{1-T_1^{\text{eff}}}\right)^{\frac{c}{12}\alpha} \left(\frac{1+T_2^{\text{eff}}}{1-T_2^{\text{eff}}}\right)^{\frac{c}{12}\alpha} \tilde{q}^{-\frac{c}{24}\alpha^2}.$$
 (5.33)

Naively, we may think this is dual to a closed-string state  $|\Delta^{cl}\rangle$  with the same dimension as the disconnected configuration (5.24). However, the product of overlaps,

$$\langle T_i | \Delta^{\rm cl} \rangle = \left( \frac{1 + T_i^{\rm eff}(M)}{1 - T_i^{\rm eff}(M)} \right)^{\frac{c}{12}\alpha},\tag{5.34}$$

does not factorize in general for any value of the intersection mass strictly between 0 and  $\pi$ , and so the existence of these cut-and-glued configurations presents a factorization puzzle [75]. We thus posit that they compute ensemble-averaged overlaps, as we discuss in section 6.

Now we consider the second case in (5.26). In this case, the conical line defect is hidden behind the EOW branes. As a result, there is no Wald entropy term because the Cauchy slice does not have a extra boundary in the interior (see figure 13c). Thus, the on-shell action is simply proportional to the ADM mass,

$$I_{\rm on-shell}^{\rm ren} = 2\pi \, M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren}. \tag{5.35}$$

The ADM mass is again (5.18), and after again fixing the modulus (5.21), we find that

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \,\alpha^2 \,\frac{\pi W}{\beta},\tag{5.36}$$

and the corresponding contribution to the BCFT partition function is

$$e^{-I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}}} = \tilde{q}^{\frac{c}{24}\alpha^2}.$$
(5.37)

The action (5.36) has the opposite sign compared to (5.22), so it gives the dimension

$$\Delta^{\rm cl} = \frac{c}{12} \left( 1 + \alpha^2 \right) > \frac{c}{12},\tag{5.38}$$

which is a heavy state above the black hole threshold. The overlaps are simply  $\langle T_i | \Delta^{cl} \rangle = 1$ .

We conclude that the result (5.38) is actually unphysical for the merging disk branes. Specifically, for fixed tensions  $T_{1,2}$  and fixed defect masses m, M, we may use the condition that the branes intersect at  $r = r_*$  to write  $\alpha$  as a function of  $r_*$  and the modulus  $\frac{W}{\beta}$ . We then use (3.33) to say that  $\alpha$  depends only on the modulus. It follows from (5.38) that the state dual to an intersecting-disk-brane configuration and supported by particular bulk parameters has *modulus-dependent* dimension. This contradicts the fact that such data is supposed to be input for the BCFT.

While this seems problematic, we are able to avoid a puzzle surrounding these states. First, note that these intersecting-disk-brane configurations represent states above the black hole threshold, and so they are exponentially suppressed in the closed-string expansion of the BCFT partition function. We may ask if they are actually describing open-string contributions. Indeed, we find that an analytic continuation  $\alpha \to i\alpha$  flips the sign of the on-shell action (5.36), and if we then S-transform  $\tilde{q} \to q$ , it matches with the action of an annulus brane configuration computed in the next section. This mapping is related to the analytic continuation of disk branes to strip branes (3.24), as we further discuss in section 6.

#### 5.3 On-shell actions of annulus-brane configurations

Now we now compute Euclidean on-shell actions of the annulus brane configurations presented in section 3.3. These configurations enjoy translation symmetry in the periodic  $\tau$ direction. Hence this time, we foliate the conical global AdS<sub>3</sub> geometry (3.14) by constant- $\tau$ slices so that

$$N = \sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r)}, \quad u^a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r)}} \delta^a_{\phi}, \quad \xi^a = \delta^a_{\tau}.$$
(5.39)

This foliation is shown in figure 14. Note that there is no horizon in this foliation, so the Wald entropy will always be zero. Furthermore, the conical defect, when present in the bulk, entirely runs along the foliation direction  $\tau$  and so does not contribute — see appendix D for details on this point. Thus, the Euclidean on-shell action of the annulus-brane configurations is entirely accounted for by the ADM mass.

Single smooth annulus brane. We first consider a single smooth annulus brane of tension T with the conical line defect being either behind or in front of the brane (depending on the sign of the brane tension). For positive and negative tensions, respectively, the representative Cauchy slices which we consider are

$$\Sigma_{T>0} = \left\{ \tau = 0, \quad \phi_0 < \phi < \phi_0 + \frac{\pi}{\alpha}, \quad r > p(\phi; -T, \phi_0) \right\}^c,$$
  

$$\Sigma_{T<0} = \left\{ \tau = 0, \quad \phi_0 < \phi < \phi_0 + \frac{\pi}{\alpha}, \quad r > p(\phi; T, \phi_0) \right\},$$
(5.40)



Figure 14. Slicings of annulus brane configurations used in the computation of their Euclidean on-shell actions. We identify u with the angular ( $\tau$ ) direction in (3.14). In (b), the conical defect is integrated over in the slice, but it does not actually contribute to the on-shell action because it is orthogonal to each Cauchy slice.

where the brane embedding is (3.21). The <sup>c</sup> on the set defining  $\Sigma_{T>0}$  indicates that the positive-tension Cauchy slice is the complement of a bulk region bounded by a negative-tension brane.

In both cases, the on-shell action is entirely determined by the ADM mass and, recalling (3.39), takes the form

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = \tau_0 M_{\text{ADM}}^{\text{ren}} = \Delta \phi \frac{\beta}{W} M_{\text{ADM}}^{\text{ren}}, \qquad (5.41)$$

where  $\Delta \phi$  is a function of  $\alpha$  that depends on the sign of the tension (3.36). For now, however, we keep  $\Delta \phi$  generic. By employing the cutoff surface  $r = \Lambda$  and plugging into (5.14), we find that

$$M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren} = -\lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\phi_0}^{\phi_0 + \Delta\phi} d\phi \,\Lambda \sqrt{f_\alpha(\Lambda)} \left(\frac{\sqrt{f_\alpha(\Lambda)}}{\Lambda} - 1\right) = -\Delta\phi \frac{\alpha^2}{2\kappa}.$$
 (5.42)

The Euclidean on-shell action and, consequently, the contribution to the partition function are

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = -\frac{(\alpha \Delta \phi)^2}{2\kappa} \frac{\beta}{W} \implies e^{-I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}}} = q^{-\frac{c}{24} \left(\frac{\alpha \Delta \phi}{\pi}\right)^2}, \tag{5.43}$$

Thus, this configuration is dual to an open-string eigenstate  $|\Delta^{op}\rangle$  with dimension

$$\Delta^{\rm op} = \frac{c}{12} \left[ 1 - \left( \frac{\alpha \Delta \phi}{\pi} \right)^2 \right] = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } T < 0, \\ \frac{c}{3} \alpha (1 - \alpha), & \text{if } T > 0, \end{cases}$$
(5.44)

where we have utilized the equations (3.36) for the angular width in both cases. As a sanity check, observe that the configurations for all tensions corresponding to  $\alpha = 1$ , which are the original connected configurations in [11], simply describe open-string vacuum states  $\Delta^{\text{op}} = 0$ . Additionally, the ADM mass above for the positive-tension case is

$$M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren}|_{T>0} = -\frac{c}{24}\alpha \,(2\alpha - 1),$$
 (5.45)

which is consistent with the literature [76-79].<sup>35</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>Note that matching the ADM mass across different coordinate systems is subtle because it does not transform as a scalar, but rather as a 1-form. We have checked that we match with [79] by performing the appropriate coordinate transformation.



Figure 15. The intersection depth in terms of (a) the Poincaré disk radial coordinate (3.23) and (b) the intersection angle of two annulus branes with tensions  $T \equiv T_1 = -T_2$  as a function of the conical defect parameter  $\alpha$ .

For  $\alpha < 1$ , the negative-tension configurations, for which the bulk geometries do not contain the conical defect, correspond to vacuum states. However, the positive-tension configurations, for which the bulk geometries include the conical defect, describe excited states in the open-string channel. Furthermore, because of the requirement that the brane does not self-intersect, these states have a maximal dimension,

$$\Delta^{\rm op}|_{T>0} < \frac{c}{12},\tag{5.46}$$

which notably coincides with the black hole threshold. Thus, the open-string excited states constructed here fill the subthreshold window  $(0, \frac{c}{12})$ .

**Intersecting annulus branes.** Consider now intersecting annulus branes in the defect  $AdS_3$  geometry. Having the defect outside of the bulk (and not "hidden" by the EOW branes) requires at least one of the brane tensions to be negative (figure 14a). Meanwhile for two positive tension branes, the defect will be visible (corresponding to the complement of the shaded region in figure 14b).

The Cauchy slice in this case is the part of a constant- $\tau$  surface bounded by two annulus branes. However, recall that we are taking  $\Delta \phi = \pi$  for these configurations, which implies that  $\tau_0 = \pi \beta / W$ . The ADM mass and resulting on-shell action are the same as in the smooth brane case (5.42), and after setting  $\Delta \phi = \pi$  we get<sup>36</sup>

$$M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren} = -\frac{\pi}{2\kappa} \,\alpha^2. \tag{5.47}$$

To reiterate, this is the only contribution to the Euclidean on-shell action, even if the defect is present in the bulk. Thus, we plug into (5.41) to write

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = \tau_0 M_{\text{ADM}}^{\text{ren}} = -\frac{\pi^2}{2\kappa} \alpha^2 \frac{\beta}{W}$$
(5.48)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>If we do not fix the interval length at  $\pi$ , then the on-shell action would still only depend on the product  $\alpha \Delta \phi$ , which itself is fixed by the intersection mass M.

The corresponding contribution to the BCFT partition function is

$$e^{-I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}}} = q^{-\frac{c}{24}\alpha^2}.$$
(5.49)

From the dependence on q, it follows that this geometry is dual to an eigenstate  $|\Delta^{\text{op}}\rangle$  of the open-string Hamiltonian  $H^{\text{op}}$  with dimension (noting that the spin vanishes)

$$\Delta^{\rm op} = \frac{c}{12} \, (1 - \alpha^2). \tag{5.50}$$

The conical defect parameter  $\alpha = \alpha(M)$  and hence  $\Delta^{\text{op}}$  are fixed by the brane intersection mass M through the corner Einstein equation  $\Theta(\alpha) = M.^{37}$ 

We now analyze the possible range of dimensions obtained from this model. For simplicity, we consider the special states for which the branes have opposite but equal tensions  $T \equiv T_1 = -T_2$ , as in the configuration of figure 8b. In this case, the intersection depth (3.43) is simply

$$r_* = \frac{|T|\,\alpha}{\sqrt{1-T^2}}\,\sec\left(\frac{\pi\alpha}{2}\right),\tag{5.51}$$

and the intersection angle (3.40) becomes

$$\cos \Theta = -T^2 - (1 - T^2) \cos(\pi \alpha).$$
(5.52)

These have been plotted as a function of  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$  in figure 15 for different values of the tension T. We find that for the range  $\cos \Theta \in (-1, 1 - 2T^2)$ , we have that  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ . Thus by tuning M, we can engineer the range

$$\Delta_{\rm bcc} \in \left(0, \frac{c}{12}\right). \tag{5.53}$$

Observe that the intersection point runs to the conformal boundary  $r_* \to \infty$  when  $\alpha \to 1$ . This means that the configuration dual to a BCC operator of dimension  $\Delta_{bcc} \to 0$  is arbitrarily close to a single smooth strip brane (see figure 16a). In the opposite limit  $r_* \to 0$ , the dimension  $\Delta_{bcc} \to \frac{c}{12}$  and the configuration is a spiral (see figure 16b). We also find that the irreducible representation corresponding to the BCC operator (5.50) has degeneracy  $\log \mathcal{N}_{AB}^{bcc} = O(c^0)$ .

## 6 Conclusions and discussion

In this work, we consider the holographic model of Euclidean BCFTs in terms of EOW branes and extended it by the addition of scalar fields, point particles, and non-smooth brane intersections. The extended model allows for the description of primary operator exchanges in the closed-string channel (through scalar fields and point particles) and boundary-condition-changing operators in the open-string channel (through brane intersections). We also find novel wormhole configurations in our analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>This is still true even if we do not fix  $\Delta \phi$ , since we would ultimately get that the action is a function of the product  $\alpha \Delta \phi$  which can then be traded for the intersection angle  $\Theta$  as discussed in section 3.3.



Figure 16. Two examples of intersecting annulus brane configurations. In (a)  $\alpha = 0.95$ , so the intersection is close to the conformal boundary and the configuration is almost like a single smooth brane. In (b)  $\alpha = 0.2$ , so the intersection point is close to the center. The configuration (a) is dual to a BCC operator with dimension  $\Delta_{\rm bcc} \approx 0$ , and the configuration (b) is dual to  $\Delta_{\rm bcc} \approx \frac{c}{12}$ .

To obtain dimensions of the dual operators, we compute Euclidean on-shell actions of the corresponding brane configurations. This requires taking into account Gibbons-Hawking-York terms on boundaries and Hayward terms on corners, and one also needs matter content at corners to support intersections. In 3-dimensional gravity however, there is no backreaction and the only effect of the Einstein equations is to fix the branes' extrinsic curvatures, their intersection angles, and deficit angles of conical defects. To simplify the computations, we derive a general formula that reduces the on-shell action to a boundary integral involving the Wald entropy and the ADM mass along the lines of [72, 73]. In doing so, we provide a generalization of the ADM mass formula for geometries with intersecting branes. In this process, we also see explicitly that actions of point particles that source conical line defects do not contribute directly to the on-shell actions of our bulk configurations. Lastly, we show that, in 3-dimensional gravity, the brane and braneintersection matter content do not contribute to the ADM mass.

The general theme with heavy states in 3-dimensional gravity is that they are always dual to geometries containing a line defect supported by a point particle. For example, excited states are specifically dual to geometries containing a conical line defect of strength  $\alpha$  supported by a point particle of mass m, with the relationship (3.16) between  $\alpha$  and mbeing determined from the equations of motion. Furthermore, the strength  $\alpha$  of the conical defect is related to the scaling dimension of the dual state via,

$$\Delta^{\rm cl} = \frac{c}{12}(1 - \alpha^2), \quad \Delta^{\rm op} = \frac{c}{3}\alpha(1 - \alpha), \tag{6.1}$$

with excited closed-string states being well-defined for  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$  and excited open-string states being well-defined for  $\alpha \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1)$ . Both equations follows from the computations of on-shell actions. In both channels, one is able to engineer the full range of  $\alpha$  by tuning msuch that the unitarity window  $\Delta^{cl,op} \in (0, \frac{c}{12})$  below the black hole threshold is filled.

Additionally, we consider geometries for which the line defect is a corner shared between the branes and is supported by a point particle of mass M. In the open-string channel, these are the only configurations compatible with BCFT on a cylinder and with two boundary conditions of different boundary entropies, and so we identify them as BCC operators. We specifically consider a one-parameter family of configurations subject to a stability condition (3.44) relating M the point particle mass on the conical line defect  $m.^{38}$  These masses may be tuned together to control  $\alpha$ , which in turn controls the dimension of the dual operator,

$$\Delta_{\rm bcc} = \frac{c}{12} (1 - \alpha^2). \tag{6.2}$$

Here we may also engineer the full range  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$  such that the unitarity window below the black hole threshold is filled.

The wormhole configuration. We construct a family of intersecting disk-brane configurations obtained by cutting and gluing two disk branes whose tensions satisfy  $T_1 + T_2 > 0$ and which are supported by a matter stress tensor at the brane intersection. The resulting geometry is a type of a Euclidean wormhole where the "future" and "past" boundary states of the CFT are connected by the wormhole throat (see figure 7). In other words, cutting the geometry along the BCFT circle does not produce two disconnected components. Hence, the bulk geometry does not prepare a pure state in the closed-string Hilbert space (which would always be expected from the CFT side), but instead an entangled state similar to a thermofield double state. These types of wormholes are known as bra-ket wormholes [42], but our wormhole is different in the sense that its throat is bounded by two non-smoothly intersecting EOW branes.

We find that, for  $\alpha = 1$ , the configuration is dual to a closed-string state with the same scaling dimension as the vacuum state and whose boundary entropies depend on both tensions of the intersecting branes and the intersection mass.<sup>39</sup> This is different from the usual geometry dual to the vacuum state — corresponding to two disconnected branes — where each boundary entropy is fixed by a single brane tension. Nonetheless, we find that the  $\alpha = 1$  wormhole term in the partition function is still always subleading to that of the disconnected configuration. This is most readily seen by noting that the two configurations have the same ADM mass, and so the ratio of their partition functions is a function of the difference of their Wald entropies:

$$\frac{Z_{\text{wormhole}}}{Z_{\text{disconnected}}} = \exp\left(S_{\text{W}}^{\text{wormhole}} - S_{\text{W}}^{\text{disconnected}}\right).$$
(6.3)

The identification used to construct the wormhole geometry also ensures that the horizon used to compute Wald entropy is "shorter" than in the disconnected case, and so the ratio (6.3) must be less than unity (and can in fact be small, depending on the brane tensions).

In line with the notion that gravity can compute ensemble averages of field-theoretic observables [80], we propose that this  $\alpha = 1$  wormhole configuration can be understood using ensemble averaging. The main reason for this is that the wormhole turns a pure state

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>This stability condition is only relevant for intersecting configurations in which we have a point particle in the bulk geometry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>The discussion readily generalizes to excited states corresponding to bulk configurations with a conical line defect  $\alpha < 1$  running through the wormhole throat.

to an entangled state. That the wormhole configuration computes an ensemble-averaged quantity would be in spite of these states being below the black hole threshold [81], with the reason being that our theory includes defects. Note that analogous wormholes are also found in [82].

Specifically, the wormhole should give a connected contribution to the averaged product of two overlaps which does not factorize:

$$\overline{\langle A|0\rangle\langle 0|B\rangle} = \overline{\langle A|0\rangle} \overline{\langle 0|B\rangle} + (\text{wormhole}) + \dots, \tag{6.4}$$

where the leading factorized contribution is the standard disconnected disk-brane configuration. Such averaged products arise in the averaged partition function  $\overline{Z_{AB}}$  when expanded in the closed-string channel. This equation indicates a factorization puzzle for partition functions because a vacuum overlap  $\langle A|0\rangle$  is equal to the disk partition function  $Z_A^{\text{disk}}$  with the boundary condition A at the boundary of the disk.

We propose that the averaging in (6.4) is performed over all boundary states  $|A\rangle$  and  $|B\rangle$  that respectively correspond to branes of fixed tensions  $T_A$  and  $T_B$ , a position also taken by [78]. This ensures that  $\overline{\langle A|0\rangle} = \langle T_A|0\rangle$  and  $\overline{\langle 0|B\rangle} = \langle 0|T_B\rangle$ , i.e. that these "averaged" boundary-theory overlaps are computed by specific bulk configurations. Another way to make sense of the connected contributions in (6.4) would be to employ the Coleman-Giddings-Strominger mechanism [83–85] of integrating out the wormhole configuration and interpreting the effective action as a theory with random couplings, an approach which has recently been used to understand semiclassical 3-dimensional gravity without branes [82]. We leave further, more refined exploration of our bra-ket wormholes to future work.

Analytic continuation of brane configurations. We show that two disk branes whose tensions satisfy  $T_1 + T_2 \leq 0$ , will always intersect inevitably in the open-string limit  $\frac{W}{\beta} \to 0$ . However, to support such intersections for all moduli  $\frac{W}{\beta}$  requires the intersection mass term to depend on the modulus  $M = M\left(\frac{W}{\beta}\right)$ . This contradicts the lore that all bulk parameters are fixed by BCFT data (scaling dimensions and OPE coefficients) and are hence independent of the modulus. Fortunately, we also find that these configurations are dual to closed-string states that are above the black hole threshold  $\Delta^{cl} = \frac{c}{12} (1 + \alpha^2) \geq \frac{c}{12}$ , so they would be exponentially suppressed in the closed-string limit  $\frac{W}{\beta} \to \infty$ . However, in the open-string limit  $\frac{W}{\beta} \to 0$ , their contributions may be parametrically large.

We observe that the on-shell action of this configuration is related to the on-shell action of an intersecting annulus brane configuration by simultaneous analytic continuation  $\alpha \to i\alpha$  and S-transformation  $\tilde{q} \to q$ . The actions are related by

$$e^{-I_{\rm disks}} = \tilde{q}^{\frac{c}{24}(1+\alpha^2) - \frac{c}{24}} \to q^{\frac{c}{24}(1-\alpha^2) - \frac{c}{24}} = e^{-I_{\rm annuli}}$$
(6.5)

The transformed configuration thus has the interpretation as a sub-threshold open-string state of dimension  $\Delta^{\text{op}} = \frac{c}{12} (1 - \alpha^2)$ . This relation between the actions might be explained by the relation between disk and strip brane embeddings themselves; they are related by the analytic continuation  $\alpha \to i\alpha$  and subsequent coordinate transformation described in (3.24).

In a more realistic holographic model, it is reasonable to expect that disk branes start to repel each other in the open-string limit  $\frac{W}{\beta} \rightarrow 0$ . This would mean that there will always be a non-zero geodesic distance between them, and so the problematic saddles would not even constitute mathematically consistent solutions in the first place.

**Multi-intersecting configurations.** We focus on brane configurations that contain two branes intersecting non-smoothly at a single corner. In principle, one could also have multi-intersecting configurations consisting of multiple EOW brane components: two of the brane components are anchored to the conformal boundary while rest of the components are anchored between intersections (figure 10). Multi-intersecting configurations require different corner terms at each intersection to support the configuration.

The methods of section 5.1 can be used to compute on-shell actions of such annulusbrane configurations easily. In such cases, the action is only sensitive to the ADM mass, which is an integral at the conformal boundary. Thus, any  $\Delta \phi = \pi$  configuration involving multi-intersecting annulus branes has the same on-shell action as that of two intersecting annulus branes (5.49) and hence is dual to an open-string state whose dimension has the same dependence on  $\alpha$ . The difference, however, lies in how the intersection masses determine the BCC scaling dimensions, since we would have that  $\Delta^{\text{op}} = \Delta^{\text{op}}(M_1, M_2, \ldots)$ . These configurations may describe a different possible range of BCC scaling dimensions than the configurations consisting of only two branes.

**Future directions.** In this paper, we focus only on 2-dimensional BCFTs that are dual to 3-dimensional Einstein gravity. This means that branes and intersections do not backreact on the geometry and that their actions do not directly contribute to the on-shell actions. A natural extension is to consider higher-dimensional setups where such backreaction effects becomes relevant. It would be interesting to construct intersecting EOW branes configurations in higher dimensions.

In our scalar model, we only study a probe limit of the full theory in which gravitational backreaction is suppressed. It would thus be interesting to study scalar-field interactions in backreacted backgrounds. Additionally, we only consider the classical saddle-point contribution to the bulk path integral without any quantum corrections. Hence, we do not produce the full Virasoro character containing contributions of all the descendants of the corresponding dual eigenstate  $|\Delta_{\Phi}\rangle$ . The full character of the brane configurations would be reproduced by a 1-loop bulk computation along the lines of [86, 87].

One could also try to reproduce a unitary BCFT partition function by summing over all intersecting brane geometries with point particles, similarly to how [88] addresses the non-unitarity of pure 3-dimensional gravity [89–91]. It is an interesting question to understand if 3-dimensional gravity with EOW branes has a CFT dual.

We would like to understand how this bottom-up model is related to more refined top-down realizations of BCFT. A setup similar to our model is the tensionless limit of string theory on  $AdS_3 \times S^3 \times \mathbb{T}^4$  studied in [92]. They also consider branes of disk and strip topology to which open strings can attach. These are D-branes, and they correspond to boundary conditions in a symmetric product orbifold theory (also studied by [93]). Concretely, our model of a scalar-field exchange between disk branes might be possible to understand as a point-particle limit of the closed-string exchange in [92].

## Acknowledgments

We thank Elena Cáceres, Andreas Karch, Andrew Svesko, Manus Visser, David Wakeham, Chris Waddell, and Petar Simidzija for useful discussions during the completion of this work. JK was supported by the Osk. Huttunen Foundation. SS was supported by National Science Foundation (NSF) Grants PHY-1914679 and PHY-2112725.

## A Derivation of the corner Einstein equation

Consider the Einstein-Hilbert action with Gibbons-Hawking-York terms on all EOW branes Q and Hayward terms on all corners C. In addition, we allow matter degrees of freedom in the bulk, on the branes, and on the corners. Schematically, the action is

$$I = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{g} \left( R - 2\Lambda - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}} \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h} \left( K - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \sqrt{\sigma} \left( \Theta - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}} \right).$$
(A.1)

The variational problem consists of keeping the coordinates and embeddings of the boundaries fixed while varying the inverse metric. The extremum of the action then fixes the metric  $\mathcal{M}$ . Defining the bulk, boundary, and corner stress tensors as

$$T_{ab}^{\mathcal{M}} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\partial(\sqrt{g} \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}})}{\partial g^{ab}}, \quad T_{ab}^{\mathcal{Q}} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{h}} \frac{\partial(\sqrt{h} \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}})}{\partial h^{ab}}, \quad T_{ab}^{\mathcal{C}} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{\sigma}} \frac{\partial(\sqrt{\sigma} \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}})}{\partial \sigma^{ab}}, \quad (A.2)$$

the variation of (A.1) with two intersecting branes  $Q_s$  (s = 1, 2) sharing a corner  $C \equiv Q_1 \cap Q_2$  becomes

$$\delta I = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{g} \left( G_{ab} + \Lambda g_{ab} + \frac{1}{2} T_{ab}^{\mathcal{M}} \right) \delta g^{ab} - \sum_{s=1}^{2} \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{s}} \sqrt{h_{s}} \left( K_{sab} - K_{s} h_{sab} + T_{ab}^{\mathcal{Q}_{s}} \right) \delta h_{s}^{ab} - \sum_{s=1}^{2} \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{s}} \sqrt{h_{s}} D_{sa} \delta U_{s}^{a}$$
(A.3)
$$+ \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \sqrt{\sigma} \left( \Theta \sigma_{ab} - T_{ab}^{\mathcal{C}} \right) \delta \sigma^{ab} - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \sqrt{\sigma} \delta \Theta,$$

where  $D_s^a$  is the covariant derivative compatible the induced metric of  $\mathcal{Q}_s$  and

$$\delta U_s^a = n_{sb} \, \delta g^{ab} + 2g^{ab} \, \delta n_{sb}. \tag{A.4}$$

Here  $n_s^a$  is the outward-pointing unit normal vector of  $\mathcal{Q}_s$ . Note that the *s* is *not* a spatial index but rather a label corresponding to the brane.

The first two lines of (A.3) come from the variation of the Einstein-Hilbert and Gibbons-Hawking-York terms [94, 95]. Additionally, the total derivative term  $D_a \delta U^a$  sums with the variation of the Hayward term. We deduce that the bulk, boundary, and corner



Figure 17. The normal and tangent vectors for two branes  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  located at their shared corner C. Note that for either brane, the corresponding normal and tangent vectors are orthogonal. The normal vectors of the two branes form an angle  $\Theta$ .

Einstein equations are

$$G_{ab} + \Lambda g_{ab} + \frac{1}{2} T_{ab}^{\mathcal{M}} = 0, \qquad (A.5)$$

$$K_{sab} - K_s h_{sab} + T_{ab}^{\mathcal{Q}_s} = 0, \tag{A.6}$$

$$\Theta \,\sigma_{ab} - T^{\mathcal{C}}_{ab} = 0. \tag{A.7}$$

Upon imposing these, the variation (A.3) should vanish. However, when we do so, we are left with

$$\delta I = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \sqrt{\sigma} \left( 2\delta\Theta + t_{1a}\delta U_1^a + t_{2a}\delta U_2^a \right).$$
(A.8)

where  $t_s^a$  a unit tangent vector of  $\mathcal{Q}_s$  positioned as an outward-pointing unit normal vector of  $\partial \mathcal{Q}_s = \mathcal{C}$  — see figure 17.

So, for the variational principle to be consistent with (A.5)-(A.7), the remaining corner term (A.8) has to vanish. This is indeed the case without imposing extra conditions on the variation. When the embeddings of the boundaries are kept fixed by (A.6), we have the identity (see [95])

$$\delta n_{sa} = \delta \omega_s \, n_{sa}, \quad \delta \omega_s = -\frac{1}{2} n_{sa} n_{sb} \, \delta g^{ab}. \tag{A.9}$$

It follows that

$$t_{sa}\,\delta U_s^a = t_{sa}n_{sb}\,\delta g^{ab} \tag{A.10}$$

where we have used  $t_{sa}n_s^a = 0$ . Meanwhile, the two sets of orthonormal unit vectors are related as

$$n_2^a = n_1^a \cos \Theta + t_1^a \sin \Theta,$$
  

$$t_2^a = n_1^a \sin \Theta - t_1^a \cos \Theta.$$
(A.11)

so that  $\cos \Theta = n_1 \cdot n_2$ . We may write the variation of  $\Theta$  as

$$\delta\Theta = -\delta(g^{ab}n_{1a}n_{2b})\csc\Theta = (\delta\omega_1 - \delta\omega_2)\cot\Theta - t_{1a}n_{1b}\,\delta g^{ab}.$$
 (A.12)

where we have used (A.9) and (A.11) to perform various simplifications. Note that the definition of  $\Theta$  is symmetric under the exchange 1  $\leftrightarrow$  2, and adding the exchanged equation to (A.12) yields

$$2\,\delta\Theta = -(t_{1a}n_{1b} + t_{2a}n_{2b})\,\delta g^{ab}.\tag{A.13}$$

By combining this with (A.10), we see that the variation (A.8) indeed vanishes.

## B Foliating $AdS_{d+1}$ into $AdS_d$

As discussed in [96], families of Karch-Randall branes may be viewed as foliations of bulk  $AdS_{d+1}$  space into  $AdS_d$  slices of constant extrinsic curvature.<sup>40</sup> In this appendix, we will describe the foliations which realize a variety of topologies in the boundary field theory — namely half-spaces, disks, strips, and annuli.

Foliations yielding the first two topologies are standard in the AdS/BCFT literature [11, 12] and can be done rather easily in Euclidean pure AdS obtained from Wick rotation of Lorentzian pure AdS. The strip, while less standard, can also be done in pure AdS by compactifying the half-space foliation. However, to obtain a manifestly annular boundary topology in general dimension, it is more natural foliate Euclidean AdS-Schwarzschild [97] obtained from Wick rotation of Lorentzian AdS-Schwarzschild.

While the solutions constructed from the foliations described in this section are those of pure Euclidean gravity with an RS term,<sup>41</sup>

$$I = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^{d+1} X \sqrt{g} \left[ R + \frac{d(d-1)}{\ell^2} \right] - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} d^d \hat{x} \sqrt{h} \left( K - T \right), \tag{B.1}$$

they are also be relevant in the probe limit of the Einstein + scalar theory considered in the main text.

We note that much of the discussion below is in general d, but specification to d = 2— the case of interest in this paper — is readily apparent. Interestingly, there is something special which happens precisely when d = 2; the annular foliation of the Euclidean BTZ metric is actually an identification of the strip foliation of the pure AdS<sub>3</sub> metric. This is because the pure AdS<sub>3</sub> and Euclidean BTZ metrics are locally equivalent up to a coordinate transformation.

### B.1 Half-spaces and disks in pure AdS

We first review the standard foliations which provide either half-space or a disk on the conformal boundary. We start with the following Euclidean metric ansatz for the full equations of motion,

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{f(\vartheta)^{2}} \left( d\vartheta^{2} + ds^{2}_{\mathrm{AdS}_{d}} \right), \quad \vartheta \in (0, \pi).$$
(B.2)

The coordinate  $\vartheta$  labels a particular Euclidean  $\operatorname{AdS}_d$  slice, and backreaction manifests through the freedom of  $f(\vartheta)$ .<sup>42</sup> For pure  $\operatorname{AdS}_{d+1}$ , the warp factor is

$$f(\vartheta) = \sin \vartheta. \tag{B.3}$$

A simple foliation is one where we slice the bulk into planes,

$$ds_{\text{AdS}_d}^2 = \frac{1}{w^2} (dw^2 + d\vec{x}^2), \quad w \in (0, \infty).$$
(B.4)

 $<sup>^{40}</sup>$ Implicit in the definition of a "foliation" is that the individual  $AdS_d$  "leaves" are smooth and topologically connected. We will not explicitly discuss non-smoothness or disconnectedness in this appendix, but note that foliations are still relevant to realizing such characteristics.

 $<sup>^{41}\</sup>text{Note that we will set the bulk AdS radius <math display="inline">\ell=1$  for convenience.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup>Keeping  $f(\vartheta)$  generic would be interesting to study effects subleading to the probe limit of matter.



Figure 18. Transverse slices of (a) the planar foliation and (b) the disk foliation (labeled by  $\mathcal{R}$  which represents the radius of the (d-1)-sphere on the boundary) of  $\operatorname{AdS}_{d+1}$ .  $\vartheta$  labels different  $\operatorname{AdS}_d$  slices, starting at 0 and ending at  $\pi$ . In the planar foliation, w = 0 is the conformal boundary of each individual slice, while  $w = \infty$  is the Poincaré horizon of each slice. In the disk foliation, w = 0 is still the conformal boundary of each slice, but it reaches a finite maximum value of  $w = 2\mathcal{R}$  at the "middle".

Here,  $\vec{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  parameterizes the transverse flat directions. Each constant- $\vartheta$  slice is a Poincaré patch of Euclidean  $\operatorname{AdS}_d$  on an upper half-plane. They share a conformal boundary at  $w \to 0$ . We depict the planar foliation of  $\operatorname{AdS}_{d+1}$  in figure 18a.

An alternate foliation is the one for which each constant- $\vartheta$  slice is Euclidean  $AdS_d$  in a disk,

$$ds_{\text{AdS}_{d}}^{2} = \frac{1}{w^{2}} \left[ dw^{2} + \left( 1 - \frac{w^{2}}{4\mathcal{R}^{2}} \right)^{2} \mathcal{R}^{2} d\Omega_{d-1}^{2} \right], \quad w \in (0, 2\mathcal{R}],$$
(B.5)

Here,  $\mathcal{R} > 0$  is a free parameter<sup>43</sup> labeling the particular foliation we choose, while  $d\Omega_{d-1}$  is the line element of the transverse (d-1)-sphere. Geometrically,  $\mathcal{R}$  is the radius of the (d-1)-sphere on the boundary (up to the  $w^{-1}$  boundary divergence) at which the constant- $\vartheta$  slices intersect. We depict this disk foliation in figure 18b.

Each individual leaf of each of these foliations is a valid KR brane which solves the embedding equation

$$K_{ab} - (K - T) h_{ab} = 0, (B.6)$$

with the tension T of the leaf  $\vartheta = \theta$  being

$$T = -(d-1)\cos\theta. \tag{B.7}$$

Thus, the induced  $\operatorname{AdS}_d$  curvature radius  $\overline{\ell}$  is related to the tension by

$$\bar{\ell}^2 = \frac{1}{\sin^2 \vartheta} = \frac{1}{1 - T^2/(d-1)^2}.$$
(B.8)

So, we restrict the bulk coordinates to  $\vartheta \in (0, \theta]$  to obtain  $\operatorname{AdS}_{d+1}$  space with an EOW KR brane. This "excision" of the subspace  $\vartheta > \theta$  yields a holographic BCFT state on either

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>Technically  $\mathcal{R}$  has length-dimension 1, so the appropriate *dimensionless* free parameter is  $\mathcal{R}/\ell$ .



**Figure 19.** The bulk configuration obtained when selecting a leaf of (a) the planar foliation or (b) the disk foliation as an end-of-the-world KR brane (in red). For the half-space configuration, we excise the part of the bulk "behind" the brane. For the disk configuration, we excise the part of the bulk "outside" of the brane.

half-space (for the planar foliation — see figure 19a) or a disk of radius  $\mathcal{R}$  (for the disk foliation — see figure 19b). Note that  $\theta > \frac{\pi}{2}$  characterizes positive tension branes,  $\theta < \frac{\pi}{2}$  describes negative tension branes, and  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$  is the zero tension brane.

As an aside, observe that by taking  $\mathcal{R} \to \infty$  in (B.5), we obtain (B.4). Thus, the planar foliation is actually a limit of disk foliations. So for now, we will focus on providing details about the disk.

Disk branes in Poincaré coordinates. Now consider pure AdS in Poincaré coordinates,

$$ds^{2} = \frac{dz^{2} + dy^{2} + d\vec{x}^{2}}{z^{2}}.$$
 (B.9)

where z > 0 and  $(y, \vec{x}) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . We find this coordinate system to be more convenient in the main text for studying a scalar field between two disconnected disk EOW branes. To use it, we require the disk foliation of Poincaré space which yields a disk of radius  $\mathcal{R}$  on the boundary. We may apply a conformal mapping to the disk brane  $\vartheta = \theta$  in the foliation coordinates (B.2) to write [12, 98]

$$(z + \mathcal{R}\cot\theta)^2 + y^2 + \vec{x}^2 = \mathcal{R}^2\csc^2\theta.$$
(B.10)

It is useful to write this in terms of brane tension T, instead. By doing so, we get

$$\left[z - \frac{\mathcal{R}T}{(d-1)\sqrt{1 - T^2/(d-1)^2}}\right]^2 + y^2 + \vec{x}^2 = \frac{\mathcal{R}^2}{1 - T^2/(d-1)^2}.$$
 (B.11)

The symmetry of these branes suggest working in an alternate set of spherical coordinates in the subspace  $(y, \vec{x}) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,

$$(y, \vec{x}) \rightarrow (\varrho, \psi_1, \dots, \psi_{d-2}, \phi),$$
 (B.12)

where  $\rho$  is a radial coordinate and  $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_{d-2}, \phi$  parameterize a (d-1)-sphere; we take  $\phi$  to be the  $2\pi$ -periodic angle. The Poincaré metric takes the form

$$ds^{2} = \frac{dz^{2} + d\varrho^{2} + \varrho^{2} d\Omega_{d-1}^{2}}{z^{2}}.$$
 (B.13)

Thus the disk branes are rotation-invariant,

$$\left[z - \frac{\mathcal{R}T}{(d-1)\sqrt{1 - T^2/(d-1)^2}}\right]^2 + \varrho^2 = \frac{\mathcal{R}^2}{1 - T^2/(d-1)^2}.$$
 (B.14)

**Disk branes in global coordinates.** Another embedding we use in the main text is that of the disk branes in global coordinates. This coordinate chart is how one explicitly realizes Euclidean BCFT states on the cylinder. The embedding is described in [97]; we review their construction here.

We start with a generic spherically symmetric metric which fills the  $\mathbb{R} \times S^{d-1}$  cylinder, so the bulk is topologically  $\mathbb{R} \times D^d$  (where  $D^d$  denotes a *d*-dimensional disk). Schematically, the metric in  $(\tau, r, \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_{d-2}, \phi)$  coordinates is

$$ds^{2} = f(r)d\tau^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{f(r)} + r^{2}d\Omega_{d-1}^{2}.$$
 (B.15)

where  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  and r > 0, with  $r = \infty$  being the conformal boundary. Pure AdS corresponds to

$$f(r) = r^2 + 1. (B.16)$$

To get the disk branes in these coordinates, we want a foliation into  $\operatorname{AdS}_d$  slices in balls anchored to the boundary at some  $\tau = \tau_0$ . From the embedding equation (B.6), we may find that the spherically symmetric branes are described by the equation of motion [97]<sup>44</sup>

$$\frac{d\tau}{dr} = -\frac{Tr}{(d-1)f(r)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{f(r) - T^2 r^2 / (d-1)^2}}.$$
(B.17)

By integrating (noting that  $\tau(\infty) = \tau_0$ ), we have that the branes (for any d) are

$$\tau(r) - \tau_0 = \int_r^\infty d\hat{r} \, \frac{T\hat{r}}{(d-1)f(\hat{r})} \frac{1}{\sqrt{f(\hat{r}) - T^2\hat{r}^2/(d-1)^2}}$$
$$= \operatorname{Tanh}^{-1} \left[ \frac{T}{\sqrt{(d-1)^2(r^2+1) - r^2T^2}} \right],$$
(B.18)

where T is the tension.<sup>45</sup> As before, these KR branes have an induced  $AdS_d$  geometry with the radius given by (B.8). The foliation is depicted in figure 20a, and the bulk geometry with one of these leaves as an EOW brane is depicted in figure 20b.

The above foliation is obtained independently of the previous constructions. So, as a sanity check, we should ensure that these disk branes are equivalent to those of the Poincaré patch. Specifically, we first note that there exists a coordinate transformation from (B.13) to (B.15) with  $f(r) = r^2 + 1$ ,

$$\tau = \frac{1}{2} \log \left( z^2 + \varrho^2 \right), \quad r = \frac{\varrho}{z}.$$
 (B.19)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>This is technically only one branch describing the leaves of the foliation, and we may also consider the same expression but without a minus sign. The induced geometry would still be  $AdS_d$ , but the embedding equation (B.6) would imply that such a brane has tension -T.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>Note that [97] does not have the factors of (d-1). This is because they incorporate it into the RS action.



**Figure 20.** (a) A transverse slice of the disk foliation of Euclidean pure  $\operatorname{AdS}_{d+1}$  in global coordinates.  $\tau$  increases upward while r increases outward from the central axis. (b) The bulk configuration obtained by selecting a leaf of the disk foliation as an end-of-the-world KR brane (in red), with all transverse spherical coordinates fixed except for the periodic angle  $\phi$ . We excise the part of the bulk "above" the brane.

Applying this coordinate transformation to (B.18) produces (B.14) so long as the free parameters  $\tau_0$  and  $\mathcal{R}$  are related by

$$\mathcal{R} = e^{\tau_0}.\tag{B.20}$$

## **B.2** Strips in pure AdS

We now discuss the foliation of pure AdS into *d*-dimensional strips, by which we mean  $\mathbb{R} \times D^{d-1}$ . As it turns out, this topology comes about when mapping the half-space foliation in Poincaré coordinates to the global AdS cylinder. In other words, we may think about the strip foliation as a compactification of the planar foliation on each  $D^{d-1}$  slice.

First, note that the half-space foliation in Poincaré coordinates (B.9) is described by

$$\frac{y}{z} = \cot \theta = -\frac{T}{(d-1)\sqrt{1 - T^2/(d-1)^2}},$$
(B.21)

In order to transform into global coordinates, we use (B.12). Concretely, without loss of generality we may specify the transformation such that

$$y = \rho \sin \phi \prod_{i=1}^{d-2} \sin \psi_i, \tag{B.22}$$

where we take  $\{\psi_i\}$  to be angles such that  $\psi_i \in [0, \pi]$  for i < d - 2 and  $\phi \sim \phi + 2\pi$ . By then using (B.19), we rewrite (B.21) as

$$r\sin\phi \prod_{i=1}^{d-2}\sin\psi_i = -\frac{T}{(d-1)\sqrt{1-T^2/(d-1)^2}}.$$
(B.23)

Within the pure AdS cylinder (B.15), we note that this foliation is  $\tau$ -independent and, on each  $\tau$ -slice, has the topology of a (d-1)-disk. Thus a single leaf indeed has topology  $\mathbb{R} \times D^{d-1}$ —that of the *d*-dimensional strip.



Figure 21. (a) The strip foliation of Euclidean pure  $\operatorname{AdS}_{d+1}$  in global coordinates, projected onto the  $(r, \phi)$  disk. The leaves anchor to antipodal points on the conformal boundary. (b) The bulk configuration obtained by selecting a leaf of the strip foliation as an end-of-the-world KR brane (in red), with the transverse  $(\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_{d-2})$  coordinates fixed. We excise the part of the bulk to the "left" the brane.

To get a clearer idea of how this foliation looks and why we refer to its leaves as strips, we restrict to the  $(r, \phi)$  subspace. On this disk, note that the  $r \to \infty$  limit only makes sense in (B.23) if  $\psi_i = 0$  or  $\pi$ . As such, each leaf of the foliation projects onto a curve which anchors to the conformal boundary at antipodal points (figure 21a). By taking one of these leaves as an EOW brane, we are left with a configuration of the sort depicted in figure 21b.

### B.3 Annuli in Euclidean AdS-Schwarzschild

We now describe how to construct the smooth, connected branes which yield annular boundary topologies (equivalent to a finite cylinder). These branes arise as a natural foliation of the Euclidean AdS-Schwarzschild geometry.

The boundary topology of Euclidean AdS-Schwarzschild is a toroid of the form  $S^1 \times S^{d-1}$ , but it may also be treated as a finite cylinder with (d-1)-spherical cross-sections and the ends identified. The bulk metric filling this toroid is spherically symmetric and thus of the form (B.15), which we now decorate with tildes to avoid confusion with the previous metric:

$$ds^2 = \tilde{f}(\tilde{r})d\tilde{\tau}^2 + \frac{d\tilde{r}^2}{\tilde{f}(\tilde{r})} + \tilde{r}^2 d\tilde{\Omega}_{d-1}^2.$$
(B.24)

However, this time we have that

$$\tilde{f}(\tilde{r}) = \tilde{r}^2 + 1 - \frac{r_h^{d-2}}{\tilde{r}^{d-2}} \left( r_h^2 + 1 \right).$$
(B.25)

This metric with range  $\tilde{r} > r_h$  covers the whole Euclidean manifold. Furthermore, in this geometry,  $2\pi$ -periodic angle  $\tilde{\phi}$  parameterizes the non-contractible circle of the solid toroid. Meanwhile,  $\tilde{\tau}$  parameterizes a contractible circle direction. We usually relate this



(a) Annular foliation of AdS-Schwarzschild.

(b) Annular brane in AdS-Schwarzschild.

Figure 22. (a) A slice of the annular foliation of Euclidean AdS-Schwarzschild with the spherical directions fixed and the center point of the  $\tilde{\tau}$ -cycle blown-up to a vertical line.  $\tilde{\tau}$  increases upward while  $\tilde{r}$  increases outward. The ends  $\tilde{\tau} = \pm \beta_h/2$  are identified. (b) The bulk configuration obtained by selecting a leaf of the annular foliation as an end-of-the-world brane, with the transverse  $(\tilde{\psi}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\psi}_{d-2})$  coordinates fixed. The central green line is the non-contractible horizon. Each given leaf partitions the bulk into a piece containing the horizon and a piece not containing the horizon. Keeping the horizon corresponds to T > 0, and excising the horizon corresponds to T < 0.

periodicity in  $\tilde{\tau}$  to the inverse temperature,

$$\beta_h = \frac{4\pi r_h}{(d-2) + dr_h^2},\tag{B.26}$$

so we may take the domain of  $\tilde{\tau}$  to be  $\left[-\frac{\beta_h}{2}, \frac{\beta_h}{2}\right]$ .<sup>46</sup>

Topologically, we want a smooth "annular" foliation of the AdS-Schwarzschild geometry; such a foliation is depicted in figure 22a. To do this, without loss of generality we may consider solutions that are symmetric about  $\tilde{\tau} = 0$  and so have  $\frac{d\tilde{r}}{d\tilde{\tau}}\Big|_{\tilde{\tau}=0} = 0$ .

The equation of motion (B.17) is branched at this throat. Instead of just taking one branch as we did before, we must use both branches to write the full solution, with the signs such that  $\frac{d\tilde{\tau}}{d\tilde{r}} > 0$  in the  $\tilde{\tau} > 0$  branch and  $\frac{d\tilde{\tau}}{d\tilde{r}} < 0$  in the  $\tilde{\tau} < 0$  branch.

$$\frac{d\tilde{\tau}}{d\tilde{r}} = \operatorname{sgn}(\tilde{\tau}) \frac{|T|\tilde{r}}{(d-1)\tilde{f}(\tilde{r})} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\tilde{f}(\tilde{r}) - T^2 \tilde{r}^2 / (d-1)^2}}.$$
(B.27)

Each solution is labeled by the radius of the throat  $\tilde{r}(\tilde{\tau} = 0) = r_0$  which is constrained by the equation of motion

$$\tilde{f}(r_0) = \left(\frac{Tr_0}{d-1}\right)^2. \tag{B.28}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup>Note that this  $\beta_h$  is unrelated to the  $\beta$  defined in our review of BCFT in section 2. Instead, it will be related to W — i.e. the width of the boundary cylinder.

By integrating each branch of (B.27) from the throat, we may obtain the two halves of the embedding. For example, the  $\tilde{\tau} > 0$  branch follows

$$\tilde{\tau}(\tilde{r}) = \int_{r_0}^{\tilde{r}} d\hat{r} \frac{|T|\hat{r}}{\tilde{f}(\hat{r})\sqrt{\tilde{f}(\hat{r}) - T^2 \hat{r}^2/(d-1)^2}},$$
(B.29)

while the  $\tilde{\tau} < 0$  branch is the same expression times a minus sign.

Given some embedding of this form, we may treat it as an EOW KR brane satisfying (B.6) and excise part of the bulk to get a state on an annulus. Since the topology is toroidal, there is a choice in which part of the bulk we excise (see figure 22b). This ambiguity manifests in the sign of the tension [97].

For the branes to have positive tension, we keep the part of the bulk which includes the horizon  $\tilde{r} = r_h$  — geometrically represented as the central axis of the cylinder or the central cycle of the torus. The resulting half-length of the boundary interval  $\tau_0^+$  is then

$$\tau_0^+ = \frac{2\pi r_h}{(d-2) + dr_h^2} - \int_{r_0}^{\infty} d\tilde{r} \frac{T\tilde{r}}{\tilde{f}(\tilde{r})\sqrt{\tilde{f}(\tilde{r}) - T^2\tilde{r}^2/(d-1)^2}}.$$
(B.30)

For the branes to have negative tension however, we excise the part of the bulk which includes the horizon, in which case the half-length of the boundary interval  $\tau_0^-$  is

$$\tau_0^- = -\int_{r_0}^\infty d\tilde{r} \frac{T\tilde{r}}{\tilde{f}(\tilde{r})\sqrt{\tilde{f}(\tilde{r}) - T^2\tilde{r}^2/(d-1)^2}}.$$
 (B.31)

Unlike the strip foliation in pure AdS, the annular foliation is not generically antipodal on the  $(\tilde{r}, \tilde{\tau})$  disk. However, there is an exception — the case of d = 2. This is not a coincidence; when d = 2, the annular foliations is precisely a quotient of the strip foliation.

**Euclidean BTZ.** Much of the above expressions become simpler in the Euclidean BTZ metric obtained by setting d = 2 — the case of primary interest in this paper. Here, the function  $\tilde{f}(\tilde{r})$  is simply quadratic while  $\beta_h$  has a simple relationship with  $r_h$ ,

$$\tilde{f}(\tilde{r}) = \tilde{r}^2 - r_h^2, \quad \beta_h = \frac{2\pi}{r_h}.$$
 (B.32)

Additionally, the constraint (B.28) which determines the throat radius significantly simplifies to

$$\frac{r_0}{r_h} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - T^2}}.$$
(B.33)

As such, we may solve the integrals expressions in the embeddings above in closed form. Doing so leads us to the following expression for the embedding (covering both the  $\tilde{\tau} > 0$  and  $\tilde{\tau} < 0$  branches):

$$\tan^2(r_h\tilde{\tau}) = \frac{\tilde{r}^2(1-T^2) - r_h^2}{T^2 r_h^2}.$$
(B.34)

This allows us to see that the half-length of the boundary interval is completely tensionindependent, simply being a quarter of a full  $\tilde{\tau}$ -cycle.

$$\tau_0^+ = \tau_0^- = \frac{\pi}{2r_h} = \frac{\beta_h}{4}.$$
 (B.35)

When viewing the projection of these annular branes onto the  $(\tau, r)$  disk, this condition means that they intersect the conformal boundary at antipodal points. Put another way, the width of the boundary cylinder is

$$W = \frac{\pi}{r_h} = \frac{\beta_h}{2}.\tag{B.36}$$

## B.4 Equivalence of strip and annular foliations in d = 2

We now demonstrate that, in d = 2, the strip foliation of pure AdS is in truth the same as the annular foliation in Euclidean BTZ up to a global topological identification. We exploit this fact in the main text to perform all of our calculations using the pure AdS metric.

We start with pure  $AdS_3$  and its associated strip brane (B.23),

$$ds^{2} = (r^{2} + 1)d\tau^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2} + 1} + r^{2}d\phi^{2}, \quad r(\phi) = -\frac{T}{\sqrt{1 - T^{2}}}\csc\phi.$$
(B.37)

This matches with our conventions in the main text (3.21) (taking  $\alpha = 1$  and  $\phi_0 = 0$ ). Furthermore, we take this opportunity to perform the identification

$$\tau \sim \tau + 2\pi r_h,\tag{B.38}$$

for some  $r_h > 0$ . We then apply the coordinate transformation

$$\tau = r_h \tilde{\phi}, \quad r = \frac{1}{r_h} \sqrt{\tilde{r}^2 - r_h^2}, \quad \phi = r_h \left( \tilde{\tau} + \frac{\pi}{2r_h} \right). \tag{B.39}$$

The metric then becomes

$$ds^{2} = (\tilde{r}^{2} - r_{h}^{2})d\tilde{\tau}^{2} + \frac{d\tilde{r}^{2}}{\tilde{r}^{2} - r_{h}^{2}} + \tilde{r}^{2}d\tilde{\phi}^{2}, \qquad (B.40)$$

with  $\tilde{r} > r_h$ ,  $\tilde{\tau} \sim \tilde{\tau} + \frac{2\pi}{r_h}$ , and  $\tilde{\phi} \sim \tilde{\phi} + 2\pi$ . This is precisely the Euclidean BTZ metric filling the torus and with inverse temperature  $\beta_h = \frac{2\pi}{r_h}$ . Furthermore, by applying this very coordinate transformation to the strip brane, we have that

$$\sec^2(r_h\tilde{\tau}) = \frac{(\tilde{r}^2 - r_h^2)(1 - T^2)}{T^2 r_h^2},$$
(B.41)

By applying trigonometric identities, we may rewrite this as

$$\tan^2(r_h\tilde{\tau}) = \sec^2(r_h\tilde{\tau}) - 1 = \frac{\tilde{r}^2(1-T^2) - r_h^2}{T^2r_h^2}.$$
 (B.42)

This precisely matches with (B.34), so we indeed have that the strip and annular foliations in d = 2 are the same up to a global identification of the former. Thus in the main text, we may restrict ourselves to studying the disk and strip branes in pure AdS.

## C Well-definedness of cutting and gluing disk branes

In this appendix, we show that the cutting-and-gluing procedure for creating an intersecting-disk-brane configuration in the bulk is only valid when

$$T_1 + T_2 > 0.$$
 (C.1)

Recall that the disk branes are embedded in the bulk (3.14) as  $\tau = -F_1(r)$  and  $\tau = F_2(r)$ , where

$$F_i(r) \equiv F(r; T_i, \tau_i) = \tau_i + \frac{1}{\alpha} \operatorname{Tanh}^{-1} \left( \frac{T_i \alpha}{\sqrt{f_\alpha(r) - T_i^2 r^2}} \right).$$
(C.2)

We cut the first brane at  $\tau = -\tau_{1*}$  and the second at  $\tau = \tau_{2*}$ , with both defined such that

$$\tau_{i*} = F_i(r_*),\tag{C.3}$$

for the same  $r_* > 0$ . Thus we may glue both branes along the circle  $r = r_*$ . As discussed in section 3.3, this is only a consistent procedure if

$$\tau_{1*} + \tau_{2*} > \tau_1 + \tau_2. \tag{C.4}$$

We show that this implies (C.1). In doing so, we first use (C.3) to write

$$\tau_{1*} + \tau_{2*} = \tau_1 + \tau_2 + \frac{1}{2\alpha} \log \left[ \left( \frac{\sqrt{f_\alpha(r_*) - T_1^2 r_*^2} + T_1 r_*}{\sqrt{f_\alpha(r_*) - T_1^2 r_*^2} - T_1 r_*} \right) \left( \frac{\sqrt{f_\alpha(r_*) - T_2^2 r_*^2} + T_2 r_*}{\sqrt{f_\alpha(r_*) - T_2^2 r_*^2} - T_2 r_*} \right) \right].$$
(C.5)

Now, we consider just the product inside of the log which we denote as  $\Pi$ . Note that

$$\Pi|_{T_1+T_2=0} = 1. \tag{C.6}$$

By keeping  $T_1$  fixed, we may write

$$\frac{\partial \Pi}{\partial T_2} = \frac{2f_{\alpha}(r_*)r_*}{\sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r_*) - T_2^2 r_*^2} \left(f_{\alpha}(r_*) - 2T_2 r_* \sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r_*) - T_2^2 r_*^2}\right)} \left(\frac{\sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r_*) - T_1^2 r_*^2 + T_1 r_*}}{\sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r_*) - T_1^2 r_*^2} - T_1 r_*}\right).$$
(C.7)

The first factor can be shown to be positive by noting that  $[f_{\alpha}(r_*) - 2T_2^2 r_*^2]^2 > 0$ . The second factor is equal to  $e^{2\alpha(\tau_{1*}-\tau_1)}$  and so is also positive. We thus deduce that

$$\Pi|_{T_1+T_2>0} > 1, \qquad \Pi|_{T_1+T_2 \le 0} \le 1.$$
(C.8)

It follows that the log term in (C.5) is positive precisely when (C.1) is satisfied. Thus, (C.4) holds when  $T_1 + T_2 > 0$  but is broken otherwise, and so we can only cut and glue disk branes when (C.1) is satisfied.

#### D Euclidean on-shell action as a boundary integral

In this appendix, we prove the boundary version of the ADM mass formula (5.10), which takes into account branes and their intersections in the bulk and serves as a more tractable formula for the on-shell action via (5.5). All of our notation is defined in section 5.1. To start, we recall the formula here for convenience:

$$M_{\text{ADM}}^{\text{ren}} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}\cap\Sigma} \sqrt{\hat{\gamma}} \left( u_a r_b \,\nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} + N \left( \mathcal{K} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}} \right) \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}\cap\Sigma} \sqrt{\hat{h}} \left( u_a n_b \,\nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} + N \left( \mathcal{K} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right) \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C}\cap\Sigma} N \sqrt{\hat{\sigma}} \left( \Theta - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}} \right).$$
(D.1)

We prove (D.1) by showing that it satisfies the equation (5.5). This amounts to an explicit version of the calculation done in covariant phase space formalism [72] but with intersecting EOW branes present. Notably, we explicitly show that conical defects that orthogonally run through the Cauchy slices  $\Sigma$  are not included in the computation of the Euclidean on-shell action when the ADM mass has the expression (D.1).

We can rewrite the first term as

$$-\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}\cap\Sigma} \sqrt{\hat{\gamma}} \, u_a r_b \, \nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\Sigma} \sqrt{\hat{g}} \, u_a \nabla_b \, \nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} + \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}\cap\Sigma} \sqrt{\hat{h}} \, u_a n_b \, \nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} + \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{H}} \sqrt{\hat{\sigma}_{\mathcal{H}}} \, u_a n_b^{\mathcal{H}} \, \nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]},$$
(D.2)

because the boundary  $\partial \Sigma$  of the Cauchy slice consists of the branes  $\mathcal{Q} \cap \Sigma$  and the horizon  $\mathcal{H}$ .<sup>47</sup> Here,  $n_a^{\mathcal{H}}$  is the outward-pointing unit normal vector of the horizon. Now note that, from the Killing vector identity  $\nabla_a \nabla_b \xi_c = R_{cba}^{\ \ d} \xi_d$ , it follows that<sup>48</sup>

$$\nabla_b \nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} = -\nabla_b \nabla^b \xi^a = R^a{}_b \xi^b, \tag{D.3}$$

where the first equality is due to  $\nabla^{(a}\xi^{b)} = 0$ , and then we use  $R_{ab} = g^{cd}R_{acbd}$ . Furthermore, the last term in (D.2) is

$$\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{H}} \sqrt{\hat{\sigma}_{\mathcal{H}}} \, u_a n_b^{\mathcal{H}} \, \nabla^{[a} \xi^{b]} = \frac{\kappa_{\rm s}}{2\pi} \, S_{\rm W}, \tag{D.4}$$

where  $S_{\rm W}$  is the Wald entropy (5.5) and  $\kappa_{\rm s} > 0$  is the surface gravity of  $\mathcal{H}$ . This comes from the fact that Killing vectors satisfy the general identity  $\nabla_{[a}\xi_{b]}|_{\mathcal{H}} = \pm 2\kappa_{\rm s}u_{[a}n_{b]}^{\mathcal{H}}|_{\mathcal{H}}$ . In other words,  $\nabla_{[a}\xi_{b]}$  reduces to the binormal of the horizon times surface gravity. By applying (D.3)–(D.4) to (D.2) and recalling that  $\xi^{a} = Nu^{a}$ , we get

$$-\frac{1}{\kappa}\int_{\mathcal{B}\cap\Sigma}\sqrt{\hat{\gamma}}\,u_a r_b\,\nabla^{[a}\xi^{b]} = -\frac{1}{\kappa}\int_{\Sigma}N\sqrt{\hat{g}}\,R_{ab}\,u^a u^b + \frac{1}{\kappa}\int_{\mathcal{Q}\cap\Sigma}\sqrt{\hat{h}}\,u_a n_b\,\nabla^{[a}\xi^{b]} + \frac{\kappa_s}{2\pi}S_{W}.$$
 (D.5)

Substituting the above expression to (D.1), the Noether charge terms on the branes cancel and we are left with

$$M_{\rm ADM}^{\rm ren} - \frac{\kappa_{\rm s}}{2\pi} S_{\rm W} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\Sigma} N \sqrt{\hat{g}} R_{ab} u^a u^b - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q} \cap \Sigma} N \sqrt{\hat{h}} \left( K - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C} \cap \Sigma} N \sqrt{\hat{\sigma}} \left( \Theta - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}} \right) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B} \cap \Sigma} N \sqrt{\hat{\gamma}} \left( \mathcal{K} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}} \right).$$
(D.6)

 $^{47}\text{Stokes'}$  theorem does not involve contributions from corners in  $\partial\Sigma.$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>In our conventions, the Riemann tensor is defined as  $[\nabla_a, \nabla_b]v_c = R_{abc}^{\ \ d}v_d$  for any vector field  $v^a$ .

Now, we consider the bulk term over  $\Sigma$ . The possible contribution to the Ricci tensor of a codimension-2 conical defect  $\mathcal{D}$  that non-trivially intersects with  $\Sigma$  is given by [58]

$$\int_{\Sigma} N\sqrt{\hat{g}} R_{ab} = \int_{\Sigma \setminus (\mathcal{D} \cap \Sigma)} N\sqrt{\hat{g}} R_{ab} + 2\pi \left(1 - \alpha\right) \int_{\mathcal{D} \cap \Sigma} N\sqrt{\hat{g}} \left(n_{1a}^{\mathcal{D}} n_{1b}^{\mathcal{D}} + n_{2a}^{\mathcal{D}} n_{2b}^{\mathcal{D}}\right), \quad (D.7)$$

where  $n_{ia}^{\mathcal{D}}$  are two mutually orthogonal unit vectors spanning the 2-dimensional subspace of  $\Sigma$  transverse to  $\mathcal{D} \cap \Sigma$ . Since we only consider such conical defects tangent to the Killing symmetry,<sup>49</sup> we have that  $u^a n_{ia}^{\mathcal{D}} = 0$  and thus get (on-shell)

$$\frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\Sigma} N \sqrt{g} R_{ab} u^a u^b = \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\Sigma \setminus (\mathcal{D} \cap \Sigma)} \sqrt{g} R_{ab} u^a u^b = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\Sigma \setminus (\mathcal{D} \cap \Sigma)} \sqrt{g} (R - 2\Lambda), \qquad (D.8)$$

where we have used the identity<sup>50</sup>

$$R_{ab}u^{a}u^{b} = (G_{ab} + \Lambda g_{ab})u^{a}u^{b} + \frac{1}{2}(R - 2\Lambda)$$
(D.9)

and the fact that  $G_{ab} + \Lambda g_{ab} = 0$  on-shell and away from the defect.

Lastly, since  $\xi^a$  is a Killing vector for all  $u \in [0, u_0]$  labeling the Cauchy slices (5.1), we can use

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{g} = \int_0^{u_0} du \, N \int_{\Sigma} \sqrt{\hat{g}} = u_0 \int_{\Sigma} N \sqrt{\hat{g}} \tag{D.10}$$

to replace integrals over  $\Sigma$  and its subspaces by full-space integrals divided by  $u_0$ . Upon doing so, (D.6) becomes

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = u_0 \left( M_{\text{ADM}}^{\text{ren}} - \frac{\kappa_{\text{s}}}{2\pi} S_{\text{W}} \right), \tag{D.11}$$

where

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{M}\setminus\mathcal{D}} \sqrt{g}(R - 2\Lambda) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \sqrt{h}(K - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \sqrt{\sigma}(\Theta - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}}) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}} \sqrt{\gamma}(\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{B}})$$
(D.12)

is the (renormalized) Euclidean on-shell action which *does not* contain any contribution from the conical defects but does contain Gibbons-Hawking-York and Hayward terms.

## E On-shell action of non-intersecting disk branes

In this appendix, we compute the Euclidean on-shell action of two non-intersecting disk branes embedded in the conical geometry (3.14) (figure 23). The calculation is also done in section 5.2, but here we do it explicitly rather than by employing the ADM mass.

First, note that the regulated region bounded by the branes is  $-F_1(r) < \tau < F_2(r)$ with  $0 < r < \Lambda$  and  $F_i(r) = F(r; T_i, \tau_i)$  (see (3.17)). The outward-pointing unit normal vectors of the branes are

$$n_{1a} = -\Omega^{-1} \partial_a (\tau + F_1(r)), \quad n_{2a} = \Omega^{-1} \partial_a (\tau - F_2(r)),$$
 (E.1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup>Specifically, this covers the conical defect for the case of strip branes. In the case of disk branes, the defect does not intersect each slice  $(\mathcal{D} \cap \Sigma = \emptyset)$  and is actually described by the horizon  $\mathcal{H}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>Recall that the Einstein tensor is  $G_{ab} = R_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}Rg_{ab}$ .



**Figure 23.** Two non-intersecting disk branes with tensions  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  embedded in conical AdS<sub>3</sub> (3.14). They respectively have outward-pointing unit normal vectors  $n_1^a$  and  $n_2^a$ .

where  $\Omega$  is a normalization factor. Explicitly,

$$n_{1a} = \left(-\sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r) - T_1^2 r^2}, \frac{T_1 r}{f_{\alpha}(r)}, 0\right), \quad n_{2a} = \left(\sqrt{f_{\alpha}(r) - T_2^2 r^2}, \frac{T_2 r}{f_{\alpha}(r)}, 0\right).$$
(E.2)

The regularized Einstein-Hilbert part of the total action is

$$I_{\mathcal{M}} = \frac{4\pi}{\kappa} \int_{0}^{\Lambda} r \left[ F_{1}(r) + F_{2}(r) \right]$$
  
=  $\frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \Lambda^{2} \left[ F_{1}(\Lambda) + F_{2}(\Lambda) \right] - \frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \int_{0}^{\Lambda} dr \, r^{2} \left[ F_{1}'(r) + F_{2}'(r) \right],$  (E.3)

where we have integrated by parts. The brane term in the action is

$$I_{Q_1} + I_{Q_2} = \frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \int_0^\Lambda dr \, (r^2 + \alpha^2) \, [F_1'(r) + F_2'(r)], \tag{E.4}$$

where we have used  $\sqrt{h_i} = -f_{\alpha}(r)F'_i(r)/T_i$  and  $K_i = 2T_i$ . Summing (E.3) and (E.4), we get

$$I_{\mathcal{M}} + I_{\mathcal{Q}_{1}} + I_{\mathcal{Q}_{2}}$$

$$= \frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \Lambda^{2} \left[ F_{1}(\Lambda) + F_{2}(\Lambda) \right] + \frac{2\pi\alpha^{2}}{\kappa} \int_{0}^{\Lambda} dr \left[ F_{1}'(r) + F_{2}'(r) \right]$$

$$= \frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \left( \Lambda^{2} + \alpha^{2} \right) \left[ F_{1}(\Lambda) + F_{2}(\Lambda) \right] - \frac{2\pi\alpha^{2}}{\kappa} \left[ \tau_{1} + \tau_{2} + \frac{1}{\alpha} \left( \operatorname{Tanh}^{-1} T_{1} + \operatorname{Tanh}^{-1} T_{2} \right) \right], \quad (E.5)$$

where we have evaluated the integral explicitly. The last step is to add the Gibbons-Hawking-York and Hayward terms associated with the cutoff surface  $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}$  defined as  $r = \Lambda$ . To do so, note that the outward-pointing unit normal vector field of the cutoff surface is

$$r_a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{f_\alpha(\Lambda)}}(0, 1, 0), \tag{E.6}$$

and the trace of the extrinsic curvature is

$$\mathcal{K} = \frac{2f_{\alpha}(\Lambda) + \Lambda f_{\alpha}'(\Lambda)}{2\Lambda\sqrt{f_{\alpha}(\Lambda)}}.$$
(E.7)

Noting that  $\sqrt{\gamma} = \Lambda \sqrt{f_{\alpha}(\Lambda)}$ , the Gibbons-Hawking-York term at the conformal boundary becomes

$$I_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}} = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \left(2\Lambda^2 + \alpha^2\right) \left[F_1(\Lambda) + F_2(\Lambda)\right]$$
(E.8)

By computing the inner products of (E.2) and (E.6), we compute the intersection angles appearing in the Hayward terms as:

$$\Theta_1^{\Lambda} = \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{T_1\Lambda}{\sqrt{f_{\alpha}(\Lambda)}}\right), \quad \Theta_2^{\Lambda} = \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{T_2\Lambda}{\sqrt{f_{\alpha}(\Lambda)}}\right).$$
(E.9)

The corner terms are thus

$$I_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}\cap\mathcal{Q}_{1}} + I_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}\cap\mathcal{Q}_{2}} = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa}\Lambda\left[\operatorname{Cos}^{-1}\left(\frac{T_{1}\Lambda}{\sqrt{\Lambda^{2}+\alpha^{2}}}\right) + \operatorname{Cos}^{-1}\left(\frac{T_{2}\Lambda}{\sqrt{\Lambda^{2}+\alpha^{2}}}\right)\right].$$
 (E.10)

So, summing everything together and expanding around large  $\Lambda$ , the total regularized action is

$$I_{\mathcal{M}} + I_{\mathcal{Q}_{1}} + I_{\mathcal{Q}_{2}} + I_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} \cap \mathcal{Q}_{1}} + I_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} \cap \mathcal{Q}_{2}} + I_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}}$$

$$= -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \left[ (\tau_{1} + \tau_{2}) \Lambda^{2} + \left( \cos^{-1}T_{1} + \cos^{-1}T_{2} + \frac{T_{1}}{\sqrt{1 - T_{1}^{2}}} + \frac{T_{2}}{\sqrt{1 - T_{2}^{2}}} \right) \Lambda \quad (E.11)$$

$$+ \alpha^{2} (\tau_{1} + \tau_{2}) + \alpha (\operatorname{Tanh}^{-1}T_{1} + \operatorname{Tanh}^{-1}T_{2}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\Lambda}\right) \right]$$

To cancel the divergences, we add the following counterterms at the cutoff boundary and corners:

$$I_{\rm ct} = \frac{a_1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}} \sqrt{\gamma} + \frac{b_1}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} \cap \mathcal{Q}_1} \sqrt{\sigma_1} + \frac{b_2}{\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} \cap \mathcal{Q}_2} \sqrt{\sigma_2}$$
(E.12)  
=  $\frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \left[ a_1 \left( \tau_1 + \tau_2 \right) \Lambda^2 + \left( b_1 + b_2 + \frac{a_1 T_1}{\sqrt{1 - T_1^2}} + \frac{a_1 T_2}{\sqrt{1 - T_1^2}} \right) \Lambda + \frac{1}{2} a_1 \alpha^2 \left( \tau_1 + \tau_2 \right) + \mathcal{O} \left( \frac{1}{\Lambda} \right) \right],$ 

The divergences are cancelled by setting

$$a_1 = 1, \quad b_1 = \cos^{-1}T_1, \quad b_2 = \cos^{-1}T_2,$$
 (E.13)

and the renormalized on-shell action is

$$I_{\text{on-shell}}^{\text{ren}} = -\frac{2\pi}{\kappa} \bigg[ \frac{1}{2} \,\alpha^2 \,(\tau_1 + \tau_2) + \alpha \,(\text{Tanh}^{-1} \,T_1 + \text{Tanh}^{-1} \,T_2) \bigg], \tag{E.14}$$

which agrees with the result (5.20) of the computation in the main text.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP<sup>3</sup> supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

### References

- J.L. Cardy, Conformal invariance and surface critical behavior, Nucl. Phys. B 240 (1984) 514 [INSPIRE].
- [2] D.M. McAvity and H. Osborn, Conformal field theories near a boundary in general dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 455 (1995) 522 [cond-mat/9505127] [INSPIRE].
- [3] J.L. Cardy, Boundary conformal field theory, hep-th/0411189 [INSPIRE].
- [4] I. Affleck, Conformal field theory approach to the Kondo effect, Acta Phys. Polon. B 26 (1995) 1869 [cond-mat/9512099] [INSPIRE].
- [5] I. Affleck, Conformal field theory approach to quantum impurity problems, in Field theories for low-dimensional condensed matter systems, Springer (2000), p. 117.
- [6] A. Sagnotti, Open strings and their symmetry groups, in NATO advanced summer institute on nonperturbative quantum field theory (Cargese summer institute), (1987)
   [hep-th/0208020] [INSPIRE].
- J. Polchinski, Dirichlet branes and Ramond-Ramond charges, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995) 4724 [hep-th/9510017] [INSPIRE].
- [8] M.R. Gaberdiel, D-branes from conformal field theory, Fortsch. Phys. 50 (2002) 783 [hep-th/0201113] [INSPIRE].
- [9] A. Recknagel and V. Schomerus, *Boundary conformal field theory and the worldsheet approach to D-branes*, Cambridge University Press (2013) [INSPIRE].
- [10] A. Karch and L. Randall, Open and closed string interpretation of SUSY CFT's on branes with boundaries, JHEP 06 (2001) 063 [hep-th/0105132] [INSPIRE].
- [11] T. Takayanagi, Holographic dual of BCFT, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 101602
   [arXiv:1105.5165] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. Fujita, T. Takayanagi and E. Tonni, Aspects of AdS/BCFT, JHEP 11 (2011) 043
   [arXiv:1108.5152] [INSPIRE].
- [13] A. Karch, J. Sully, C.F. Uhlemann and D.G.E. Walker, Boundary kinematic space, JHEP 08 (2017) 039 [arXiv:1703.02990] [INSPIRE].
- [14] M. Rozali, J. Sully, M. Van Raamsdonk, C. Waddell and D. Wakeham, Information radiation in BCFT models of black holes, JHEP 05 (2020) 004 [arXiv:1910.12836] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A. Almheiri, R. Mahajan, J. Maldacena and Y. Zhao, The Page curve of Hawking radiation from semiclassical geometry, JHEP 03 (2020) 149 [arXiv:1908.10996] [INSPIRE].
- [16] H. Geng and A. Karch, Massive islands, JHEP 09 (2020) 121 [arXiv:2006.02438] [INSPIRE].
- [17] H.Z. Chen, R.C. Myers, D. Neuenfeld, I.A. Reyes and J. Sandor, *Quantum extremal islands made easy. Part I. Entanglement on the brane*, *JHEP* 10 (2020) 166 [arXiv:2006.04851]
   [INSPIRE].
- [18] J. Sully, M.V. Raamsdonk and D. Wakeham, BCFT entanglement entropy at large central charge and the black hole interior, JHEP 03 (2021) 167 [arXiv:2004.13088] [INSPIRE].
- [19] H.Z. Chen, R.C. Myers, D. Neuenfeld, I.A. Reyes and J. Sandor, *Quantum extremal islands made easy. Part II. Black holes on the brane*, *JHEP* 12 (2020) 025 [arXiv:2010.00018] [INSPIRE].

- [20] H. Geng, S. Lüst, R.K. Mishra and D. Wakeham, Holographic BCFTs and communicating black holes, jhep 08 (2021) 003 [arXiv:2104.07039] [INSPIRE].
- [21] D.S. Ageev, Shaping contours of entanglement islands in BCFT, JHEP 03 (2022) 033
   [arXiv:2107.09083] [INSPIRE].
- [22] T.J. Hollowood, S.P. Kumar, A. Legramandi and N. Talwar, Ephemeral islands, plunging quantum extremal surfaces and BCFT channels, JHEP 01 (2022) 078 [arXiv:2109.01895] [INSPIRE].
- [23] H. Geng et al., Entanglement phase structure of a holographic BCFT in a black hole background, JHEP 05 (2022) 153 [arXiv:2112.09132] [INSPIRE].
- [24] H. Geng, L. Randall and E. Swanson, BCFT in a black hole background: an analytical holographic model, arXiv:2209.02074 [INSPIRE].
- [25] E. D'Hoker, J. Estes and M. Gutperle, Exact half-BPS type IIB interface solutions. Part I. Local solution and supersymmetric Janus, JHEP 06 (2007) 021 [arXiv:0705.0022]
   [INSPIRE].
- [26] E. D'Hoker, J. Estes and M. Gutperle, Exact half-BPS type IIB interface solutions. Part II. Flux solutions and multi-Janus, JHEP 06 (2007) 022 [arXiv:0705.0024] [INSPIRE].
- [27] D. Gaiotto and E. Witten, Supersymmetric boundary conditions in N = 4 super Yang-Mills theory, J. Statist. Phys. 135 (2009) 789 [arXiv:0804.2902] [INSPIRE].
- [28] D. Gaiotto and E. Witten, S-duality of boundary conditions in N = 4 super Yang-Mills theory, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 13 (2009) 721 [arXiv:0807.3720] [INSPIRE].
- [29] O. Aharony, L. Berdichevsky, M. Berkooz and I. Shamir, Near-horizon solutions for D3-branes ending on 5-branes, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 126003 [arXiv:1106.1870] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M. Chiodaroli, E. D'Hoker and M. Gutperle, Simple holographic duals to boundary CFTs, JHEP 02 (2012) 005 [arXiv:1111.6912] [INSPIRE].
- [31] M. Chiodaroli, E. D'Hoker and M. Gutperle, Holographic duals of boundary CFTs, JHEP 07 (2012) 177 [arXiv:1205.5303] [INSPIRE].
- [32] L. Berdichevsky and B.-E. Dahan, Local gravitational solutions dual to M2-branes intersecting and/or ending on M5-branes, JHEP 08 (2013) 061 [arXiv:1304.4389]
   [INSPIRE].
- [33] C. Bachas, E. D'Hoker, J. Estes and D. Krym, *M*-theory solutions invariant under  $D(2,1;\gamma) \oplus D(2,1;\gamma)$ , Fortsch. Phys. **62** (2014) 207 [arXiv:1312.5477] [INSPIRE].
- [34] C.F. Uhlemann, Islands and Page curves in 4d from type IIB, JHEP 08 (2021) 104 [arXiv:2105.00008] [INSPIRE].
- [35] C.F. Uhlemann, Information transfer with a twist, JHEP **01** (2022) 126 [arXiv:2111.11443] [INSPIRE].
- [36] L. Coccia and C.F. Uhlemann, Mapping out the internal space in AdS/BCFT with Wilson loops, JHEP 03 (2022) 127 [arXiv:2112.14648] [INSPIRE].
- [37] E.J. Martinec, A defect in AdS<sub>3</sub>/CFT<sub>2</sub> duality, JHEP 06 (2022) 024 [arXiv:2201.04218] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Karch, H. Sun and C.F. Uhlemann, Double holography in string theory, JHEP 10 (2022) 012 [arXiv:2206.11292] [INSPIRE].

- [39] I. Affleck and A.W.W. Ludwig, The Fermi edge singularity and boundary condition changing operators, J. Phys. A 27 (1994) 5375 [cond-mat/9405057].
- [40] M. Miyaji, T. Takayanagi and T. Ugajin, Spectrum of end of the world branes in holographic BCFTs, JHEP 06 (2021) 023 [arXiv:2103.06893] [INSPIRE].
- [41] J. Kastikainen and S. Shashi, Structure of holographic BCFT correlators from geodesics, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 046007 [arXiv:2109.00079] [INSPIRE].
- [42] Y. Chen, V. Gorbenko and J. Maldacena, Bra-ket wormholes in gravitationally prepared states, JHEP 02 (2021) 009 [arXiv:2007.16091] [INSPIRE].
- [43] N. Ishibashi, The boundary and crosscap states in conformal field theories, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4 (1989) 251 [INSPIRE].
- [44] T. Onogi and N. Ishibashi, Conformal field theories on surfaces with boundaries and crosscaps, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4 (1989) 161 [Erratum ibid. 4 (1989) 885] [INSPIRE].
- [45] J.L. Cardy, Boundary conditions, fusion rules and the Verlinde formula, Nucl. Phys. B 324 (1989) 581 [INSPIRE].
- [46] G. Hayward, Gravitational action for space-times with nonsmooth boundaries, Phys. Rev. D 47 (1993) 3275 [INSPIRE].
- [47] M. Miyaji and C. Murdia, *Holographic BCFT with a defect on the end-of-the-world brane*, arXiv:2208.13783 [INSPIRE].
- [48] H. Kawai, D.C. Lewellen and S.H.H. Tye, A relation between tree amplitudes of closed and open strings, Nucl. Phys. B 269 (1986) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [49] R.E. Behrend, P.A. Pearce, V.B. Petkova and J.-B. Zuber, Boundary conditions in rational conformal field theories, Nucl. Phys. B 570 (2000) 525 [hep-th/9908036] [INSPIRE].
- [50] J. Lacki, M. Ruiz-Altaba and P. Zaugg, Modular transformations of  $c \ge 1$  Virasoro characters, Phys. Lett. B 247 (1990) 493 [INSPIRE].
- [51] I. Affleck and A.W.W. Ludwig, Universal noninteger 'ground state degeneracy' in critical quantum systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 67 (1991) 161 [INSPIRE].
- [52] D. Friedan and A. Konechny, On the boundary entropy of one-dimensional quantum systems at low temperature, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 030402 [hep-th/0312197] [INSPIRE].
- [53] J.D. Brown and M. Henneaux, Central charges in the canonical realization of asymptotic symmetries: an example from three-dimensional gravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 104 (1986) 207 [INSPIRE].
- [54] J.W. York, Jr., Role of conformal three geometry in the dynamics of gravitation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 28 (1972) 1082 [INSPIRE].
- [55] G.W. Gibbons and S.W. Hawking, Action integrals and partition functions in quantum gravity, Phys. Rev. D 15 (1977) 2752 [INSPIRE].
- [56] L. Randall and R. Sundrum, An alternative to compactification, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 (1999) 4690 [hep-th/9906064] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A. Karch and L. Randall, Locally localized gravity, JHEP 05 (2001) 008 [hep-th/0011156]
   [INSPIRE].
- [58] D.V. Fursaev and S.N. Solodukhin, On the description of the Riemannian geometry in the presence of conical defects, Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) 2133 [hep-th/9501127] [INSPIRE].

- [59] D. Sarkar and M. Visser, The first law of differential entropy and holographic complexity, JHEP 11 (2020) 004 [arXiv:2008.12673] [INSPIRE].
- [60] A. Karch and E. Katz, Adding flavor to AdS/CFT, JHEP 06 (2002) 043 [hep-th/0205236] [INSPIRE].
- [61] C. Núñez, A. Paredes and A.V. Ramallo, Unquenched flavor in the gauge/gravity correspondence, Adv. High Energy Phys. 2010 (2010) 196714 [arXiv:1002.1088] [INSPIRE].
- [62] O. Aharony, S.S. Gubser, J.M. Maldacena, H. Ooguri and Y. Oz, Large N field theories, string theory and gravity, Phys. Rept. 323 (2000) 183 [hep-th/9905111] [INSPIRE].
- [63] V. Balasubramanian and S.F. Ross, Holographic particle detection, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 044007 [hep-th/9906226] [INSPIRE].
- [64] V. Balasubramanian et al., Thermalization of the spectral function in strongly coupled two dimensional conformal field theories, JHEP 04 (2013) 069 [arXiv:1212.6066] [INSPIRE].
- [65] D.M. McAvity and H. Osborn, Heat kernels for manifolds with boundary: applications to charged membranes, J. Phys. A 25 (1992) 3287 [INSPIRE].
- [66] D.M. McAvity, Surface energy from heat content asymptotics, J. Phys. A 26 (1993) 823 [INSPIRE].
- [67] R. Balian and C. Bloch, Distribution of eigenfrequencies for the wave equation in a finite domain. I. Three-dimensional problem with smooth boundary surface, Annals Phys. 60 (1970) 401 [INSPIRE].
- [68] R. Balian and C. Bloch, Distribution of eigenfrequencies for the wave equation in a finite domain. II. Electromagnetic field. Riemannian spaces, Annals Phys. 64 (1971) 271.
- [69] B. Duplantier, Exact curvature energies of charged membranes of arbitrary shapes, Physica A 168 (1990) 179.
- [70] E. Hijano, P. Kraus, E. Perlmutter and R. Snively, Witten diagrams revisited: the AdS geometry of conformal blocks, JHEP 01 (2016) 146 [arXiv:1508.00501] [INSPIRE].
- [71] R.L. Arnowitt, S. Deser and C.W. Misner, Dynamical structure and definition of energy in general relativity, Phys. Rev. 116 (1959) 1322 [INSPIRE].
- [72] R.M. Wald, Black hole entropy is the Noether charge, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) R3427
   [gr-qc/9307038] [INSPIRE].
- [73] V. Iyer and R.M. Wald, Some properties of Noether charge and a proposal for dynamical black hole entropy, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 846 [gr-qc/9403028] [INSPIRE].
- [74] S.W. Hawking and G.T. Horowitz, The gravitational Hamiltonian, action, entropy and surface terms, Class. Quant. Grav. 13 (1996) 1487 [gr-qc/9501014] [INSPIRE].
- [75] J.M. Maldacena and L. Maoz, Wormholes in AdS, JHEP 02 (2004) 053 [hep-th/0401024]
   [INSPIRE].
- [76] T. Kawamoto, T. Mori, Y.-K. Suzuki, T. Takayanagi and T. Ugajin, *Holographic local operator quenches in BCFTs*, *JHEP* 05 (2022) 060 [arXiv:2203.03851] [INSPIRE].
- [77] L. Bianchi, S. De Angelis and M. Meineri, Radiation, entanglement and islands from a boundary local quench, arXiv:2203.10103 [INSPIRE].
- [78] Y. Kusuki, Semiclassical gravity from averaged boundaries in two-dimensional boundary conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 066020 [arXiv:2206.03035] [INSPIRE].

- [79] Y. Kusuki and Z. Wei, AdS/BCFT from conformal bootstrap: construction of gravity with branes and particles, arXiv:2210.03107 [INSPIRE].
- [80] P. Saad, S.H. Shenker and D. Stanford, *JT gravity as a matrix integral*, arXiv:1903.11115 [INSPIRE].
- [81] J.-M. Schlenker and E. Witten, No ensemble averaging below the black hole threshold, JHEP 07 (2022) 143 [arXiv:2202.01372] [INSPIRE].
- [82] J. Chandra, S. Collier, T. Hartman and A. Maloney, Semiclassical 3D gravity as an average of large-c CFTs, arXiv:2203.06511 [INSPIRE].
- [83] S.B. Giddings and A. Strominger, Axion induced topology change in quantum gravity and string theory, Nucl. Phys. B **306** (1988) 890 [INSPIRE].
- [84] S.R. Coleman, Black holes as red herrings: topological fluctuations and the loss of quantum coherence, Nucl. Phys. B 307 (1988) 867 [INSPIRE].
- [85] S.B. Giddings and A. Strominger, Loss of incoherence and determination of coupling constants in quantum gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 307 (1988) 854 [INSPIRE].
- [86] S. Giombi, A. Maloney and X. Yin, One-loop partition functions of 3D gravity, JHEP 08 (2008) 007 [arXiv:0804.1773] [INSPIRE].
- [87] Y.-K. Suzuki, One-loop correction to the AdS/BCFT partition function in three-dimensional pure gravity, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 026023 [arXiv:2106.00206] [INSPIRE].
- [88] N. Benjamin, S. Collier and A. Maloney, *Pure gravity and conical defects*, *JHEP* **09** (2020) 034 [arXiv:2004.14428] [INSPIRE].
- [89] A. Maloney and E. Witten, Quantum gravity partition functions in three dimensions, JHEP
   02 (2010) 029 [arXiv:0712.0155] [INSPIRE].
- [90] C.A. Keller and A. Maloney, Poincaré series, 3D gravity and CFT spectroscopy, JHEP 02 (2015) 080 [arXiv:1407.6008] [INSPIRE].
- [91] N. Benjamin, H. Ooguri, S.-H. Shao and Y. Wang, Light-cone modular bootstrap and pure gravity, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 066029 [arXiv:1906.04184] [INSPIRE].
- [92] M.R. Gaberdiel, B. Knighton and J. Vošmera, *D*-branes in  $AdS_3 \times S^3 \times T^4$  at k = 1 and their holographic duals, *JHEP* **12** (2021) 149 [arXiv:2110.05509] [INSPIRE].
- [93] A. Belin, S. Biswas and J. Sully, The spectrum of boundary states in symmetric orbifolds, JHEP 01 (2022) 123 [arXiv:2110.05491] [INSPIRE].
- [94] S. Chakraborty, K. Parattu and T. Padmanabhan, A novel derivation of the boundary term for the action in Lanczos-Lovelock gravity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 49 (2017) 121 [arXiv:1703.00624] [INSPIRE].
- [95] J. Jiang and H. Zhang, Surface term, corner term, and action growth in  $F(R_{abcd})$  gravity theory, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 086005 [arXiv:1806.10312] [INSPIRE].
- [96] O. Aharony, O. DeWolfe, D.Z. Freedman and A. Karch, Defect conformal field theory and locally localized gravity, JHEP 07 (2003) 030 [hep-th/0303249] [INSPIRE].
- [97] S. Cooper, M. Rozali, B. Swingle, M. Van Raamsdonk, C. Waddell and D. Wakeham, Black hole microstate cosmology, JHEP 07 (2019) 065 [arXiv:1810.10601] [INSPIRE].
- [98] D.E. Berenstein, R. Corrado, W. Fischler and J.M. Maldacena, The operator product expansion for Wilson loops and surfaces in the large N limit, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 105023 [hep-th/9809188] [INSPIRE].